Introduction
Timothy S. Huebner

This issue of the Journal follows soon
after the previous issue. Because of some
delays with our publisher, the July edition
appeared late, but we are now back on track.
This issue should be arriving right on sched-
ule, and we anticipate no further problems.

As my predecessor Mel Urofsky fre-
quently noted, Supreme Court history en-
compasses a wide variety of topics. Over
the past several years, we have learned a
great deal, for example, about those who
worked closely with the justices on a daily
basis—their clerks and messengers—and this
issue begins with another such story of an
unknown and unseen contributor to the work
of the institution. Arthur A. Thomas served
as messenger to Justices Stephen A. Field,
David J. Brewer, Rufus Peckham, Horace
Lurton, James C. McReynolds, and Oliver
Wendell Holmes Jr. Although records of
Thomas’ life and long service to the Court
are scarce, Todd C. Peppers, the Fowler Chair
in Public Affairs at Roanoke College and a
visiting professor of law at Washington and
Lee Law School, carefully pieces together
the sources to offer a poignant account of
Thomas’ service, especially his relationship
with Holmes.

Unearthing new records, of course, can
also shed light on well-worn topics. We
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have long known that the battle over the
confirmation of Louis D. Brandeis was one
of the most controversial in Supreme Court
history. Peter Scott Campbell has discovered
two letters, which show that the opposition
to Brandeis’ nomination from some in the
Boston legal community actually pertained
to the suicide of Samuel D. Warren, Bran-
deis’ first law partner. The letters, written
after Brandeis’ death in late 1941, offer
contrasting views of the Justice from the
perspective of two contemporaries, Boston
attorney Richard Walden Hale and Edward
F. McClennen, one of Brandeis’ partners.
Campbell provides background and context.
He serves as technical services librarian at
the University of Louisville and manages the
library’s collection of Brandeis’ papers.

The Warren Court continues to be one
of the most popular topics covered in these
pages, and this issue contains two essays on
Warren-era landmark cases. The first essay
on the Warren era pertains to Brown v. Board
of Education, particularly its status as a con-
stitutional icon. Jeffrey Hockett, Professor of
Political Science at the University of Tulsa,
explores how and why Brown became such
a universally revered opinion. According to
Hockett, a host of social and political factors
converged to elevate Brown from its “less



270

than iconic beginning” to its current status
as among the most famous and consequential
cases in Supreme Court history. Hockett’s
perceptive analysis challenges us to consider
that part of the reason for Brown’s place in
the constitutional canon is that the Court
eventually negated the decision’s potential for
far-reaching reform. Brown began to function
instead, he writes, “as a particularly powerful
element of our mythology of racial progress.”

The second essay, on Trop v. Dulles,
delves deeply into this important Eighth
Amendment case, best known for its famous
statement that the Amendment “must draw
its meaning from the evolving standards of
decency that mark the progress of a maturing
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society.” Courtney Christensen, who wrote
the article as a J.D. Candidate at George-
town University Law Center and is now an
associate at Shearman and Sterling, makes
extensive use of notes from the justices’
conference in order to demonstrate how the
arguments and draft opinions in the case
evolved over time. The piece offers an illumi-
nating inside look at the making of a majority
opinion.

Adding, finally, Grier Stephenson’s latest
installment of the “Judicial Bookshelf,” you
will see that this issue offers a range of topics
from a variety of contributors. As always, our
authors have given us much to read, mark,
and inwardly digest. Thanks for reading.



Arthur A. Thomas: A Hero of a Valet

Introduction

During his time on the Supreme Court,
Justice Oliver Wendell Holmes Ir. was the
beneficiary of adulation from his legal sec-
retaries (today we refer to them as law
clerks) and young legal scholars, like Felix
Frankfurter and Harold Laski. While the
Justice basked in the warm glow of their hero
worship, he was quick to point out to them
that “no man is a hero to his valet.” The
phrase was not original to Holmes, although
the expression sounds like it sprang from
his clever mind. The underlying meaning
is simple—the servant tending daily to his
employer sees flaws and human failings.

Assuming that Holmes was correct, how
would he have answered the related question
of whether a valet can be a hero to his em-
ployer? There were instances when Holmes
was greatly moved by the heroism of soldiers
under his command and impressed by the
hard work of his law clerks. But in this essay
we will examine the actions of a historically
obscure man who took it upon himself to
preserve Holmes” memory. His name was
Arthur A. Thomas, a one-time messenger to
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Holmes who publicly shared his affection for
his late employer.

Arthur A. Thomas

So who was this man whose ac-
tions reworked Holmes’ aphorism? Much of
Thomas’ personal history is unknown. A
native of Wheeling, West Virginia, federal
census data lists Thomas’ birth date as De-
cember 9, 1862, and his race as “mulatto.”
Despite these census records, Thomas once
told a reporter that he didn’t know his exact
age. “When I was born, they didn’t keep
records like they do nowadays...and nobody
ever told me my age.”!

Thomas moved to Washington, DC, in
about 1880, after a relative (perhaps his
brother, who worked for the federal gov-
ernment) convinced Supreme Court Justice
Stephen J. Field to hire Thomas as a per-
In an odd historical coinci-
dence, Thomas worked at Justice Field’s
home at 31 Ist Street NW-—the site of
the future Supreme Court building. There
Thomas worked alongside William H. Joice,
the Supreme Court messenger who spent

sonal wvalet.
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three decades in Field’s employ. As a per-
sonal valet, Thomas was not a government
employee and his salary was paid by Justice
Field.

Thomas married Aurelia A. Raife, a
Maryland native of mixed race, on December
11, 1884. The couple purchased a home at
1436 Q Street in Washington, DC, in 1909,
where they lived until 1943. According to
census records, for at least two decades they
supplemented their income by renting to
boarders. The couple had no children, and
Aurelia was an invalid during the final years
of her life.

A brief word about messengers. The
position of messenger dates to the mid-
nineteenth century. Supreme Court Associate
Curator Matthew Hofstedt writes that most
messengers were Black men who worked at
the Court for decades. Besides delivering
correspondence and handling the justices’
court papers, messengers performed all per-
sonal duties requested by the justices. In
a memorandum written In the late 1800s,
former Supreme Court Marshal John Wright
explains that a messenger was the “personal
attendant” of his justice. “He procures and
serves the judge’s luncheon at the 2 o’clock
recess, looks after his robe and his carriage
at proper times and performs any personal
service the judge desires.”?

The Supreme Court Marshal’s Office
assigned messengers to the justices, and
typically a messenger automatically worked
for their justice’s successor. “Not only would
this [arrangement] keep a trusted employee
on the payroll,” explains Hofstedt, “but it
also provided the new member of the Court
with a veteran messenger who could help
him adjust to his new routines.” Referring to
Supreme Court messengers as “perpetual,” a
local South Carolina paper added:

Every Justice of the Supreme Court
selects his own clerk, but he must
take the messenger bequeathed to
him by his predecessor. The other
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justices all feel that that it is due to
them that a new and untried messen-
ger should not be brought into their
confidential circle every time there
is a change upon the bench.*

In the instance of Justice Stanley
Matthews, the newly-appointed jurist was
forced to accept his new messenger even
though Matthews protested that he wanted to
keep his current valet.

Thomas’ time as a Supreme Court mes-
senger would be shaped by a series of deaths.
After Justice Field died in the spring of
1899, Thomas took a position as valet with
Justice David J. Brewer, the nephew of the
late Justice Field. Shortly thereafter, a mes-
senger position became available with Justice
Rufus Peckham. Both Justice Brewer and Sue
Field, widow of Justice Field, wrote letters
of recommendation to the Marshal’s Office
on Thomas’s behalf. “Arthur is an entirely
reliable man,” Mrs. Field wrote. “The Judge
found him an excellent valet, and 1 leave
the house in his care during the summer.
He knows, also, quite well, the duties of
a messenger to a Supreme Court Judge...l
would be greatly pleased if you could secure
the position mentioned for Arthur.”® Thomas
was immediately hired. By then the job of
messenger provided lifetime employment at
the Court at a decent government salary.

Thomas remained with Justice Peckham
from the fall of 1900 until the fall of 1909,
when Peckham’s death led to a messenger
position with Peckham’s successor, Justice
Horace Lurton. After Lurton’s death in 1914,
Thomas briefly worked for Justice James C.
McReynolds (who was nominated to replace
Lurton). Given Justice McReynolds’ grim
personality, racist attitudes, and endless de-
mands, Thomas could not have been pleased
with this new assignment.®

Arthur Thomas and Justice Holmes

It was the death of a Supreme Court
messenger, not a justice, that landed Thomas
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Arthur Thomas was briefly a personal valet to Justice Stephen J. Field (left) and worked alongside William H. Joice
(right), the Supreme Court messenger who spent three decades in Field’s employ. Neither men were government

employees; Field paid them directly.

a position with Justice Holmes. On June
22, 1915, George Marston—Justice Holmes’
messenger—suffered fatal burns while fight-
ing a fire in his home.” It is not known how
Thomas came to Justice Holmes’ attention,
but he was soon hired to replace Marston.
Thomas must have thanked his lucky stars

when he took his new position—undoubtedly
his short tenure with McReynolds was
enough to show Thomas that the Justice’s
difficult reputation was richly deserved. The
move from McReynolds to Holmes, how-
ever, violated the Court norms described
above. Perhaps it was McReynolds’ rare
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affection for Justice and Mrs. Holmes that ex-
plains why Thomas was permitted to change
assignments. Or perhaps McReynolds’ pen-
chant for firing his employees led to Thomas’
escape.®

Thomas worked for Holmes from 1915
to the Justices retirement in January of
1932, Because the current Supreme Court
building did not exist, Thomas worked out
of the Holmes’ residence on Eye Street.
Fanny Holmes supervised a full complement
of domestic servants, and, while the Court
was in session, Thomas was not given any
duties other than those related to Court
business. Thomas did, however, keep watch
over the Holmes’ residence when the Justice
and Fanny Holmes summered at their Beverly
Farms home.

Former Holmes law clerk Arthur E.
Sutherland (October Term 1927) recalls that
Holmes was mystified by Thomas’ efficiency:

By and by the Justice would come
in, slippered and wearing a mohair
house coat. He'd sit down at the big
desk. Thomas would bring his mail
immediately and he would begin to
open his letters with a miniature
saber. How did Thomas know when
he sat down, and so bring the mail?
The Justice used to speculate on the
mystery. He thought Thomas was
ready at the door, and he opened it
when Holmes’ chair creaked.’

Thomas also delivered the daily collec-
tion of cert. petitions. When it was time for
Holmes to leave for the Court, it was Thomas
who helped put on the Justice’s well-polished,
high black shoes and coat before handing the
Justice his leather-bound docket book. Later
in the day, Thomas would bring the Justice’s
lunch to the Court.

In an era in which messengers were seen
but not heard, what i1s remarkable 1s that
Thomas spoke to the press about Holmes;
while the Justice himself loathed reporters, he
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once trusted Thomas to give an interview for
a story about Holmes’ eighty-fifth birthday.
When asked about his employer’s health,
Thomas replied:

The judge seems to me just as young
as ever. There was a time when he
had what he called a rusty hinge in
his back, lumbago. I reckon it was,
but he’s got rid of that. Worked it
off, I reckon. My, how he can work.
As for eating, he’s certainly good at
that, too. He eats everything. Don’t
eat a big lot, but enough for any
man.'?

The article added that Holmes ate a
breakfast of coffee, fruit, cereal, and toast,
and at evening had a dinner “consisting of
about everything the ordinary American eats,
including meat, but all in moderation.” No
mention was made of the anchovy paste that
generations of law clerks recalled seeing the
Justice smear in copious amounts on his
morning toast.

[ have not found other examples of
messengers speaking publicly about their jus-
tices. The explanation, in part, must lie in the
relationship between Holmes and Thomas. A
few years after the Justice’s death, Thomas
remarked: “T always had the greatest affection
for Justice Holmes, and I think that he had the
same for me.”!! He elaborated: “Of course
he was a judge and | was a messenger,
but Justice Holmes and I were quite good
friends.”!?

In January of 1932, Holmes “bowed to
the inevitable” and retired from the Supreme
Court. His retirement came approximately
two months before his ninety-first birth-
day. His departure from government service
meant that Holmes would no longer have
the services of his long-time messenger. In
recognition of Thomas’ dedication, on June
1, 1932, Holmes wrote his former aide a
check for $1,010.00.
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In recognition of Thomas' dedicated service, on June 1, 1932, Justice Holmes wrote his former aide a check for

$1,010.00. Holmes had retired in February at age 91.

President Herbert Hoover nominated
Benjamin Cardozo to succeed Justice
Holmes, but Thomas did not transfer to
the chambers of the Court’s newest justice.
“I was supposed to work for Mr. Justice
Cardozo, but he said that he needed a young
messenger,” explained Thomas. “So the
Marshal put me in charge of the [courtroom]
door.”"* The Court made certain concessions
in recognition of Arthur’s age. “As custodian
of the heavy doors at the main entrance to
the chamber, Mr. Thomas was provided with
a comfortable chair and a strong silken rope
to pull open the portals.”'* Assigning older
messengers to serve as doormen or robing
room attendants was the closest the Court
could come to providing retirement income
for its employees as the government failed to
offer them pensions.

Even after Thomas was assigned new
duties at the Supreme Court, the Marshal’s
Office allowed him to pay twice-daily visits
to Holmes." This is further evidence of the
strong personal bonds between the Justice
and his messenger. Thomas recounted that af-
ter greeting him, the retiree would ask “[h]ow
are things at the court, and how are [you]
getting along.”'® Of the elderly Holmes,
Thomas later remarked: “Why, Mr. Justice
Holmes was smart as a whip right up to the
very last. And I think he would have stayed
that way no matter how old he became.”"”

The Marshal appointed Thomas (above) to be the
Courtroom doorkeeper, a position reserved for aging
messengers to provide them with retirement income,
as the government failed to offer them pensions. Before
Thomas, Richard Nugent was the doorkeeper, having
served for 57 years as a messenger to Ward Hunt,
Samuel Blatchford, and Morrison R. Waite, before his
death in 1929 at age 81.

Marking Anniversaries of Holmes’ Death

National and international newspapers
carried the news of Justice Holmes’ death
in March of 1935. Few papers, however, ran
stories on the first anniversary of Holmes’
death, until a small paid notice in the Evening
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Star caught the attention of journalists. It was
an “in memoriam” piece written by Thomas.

Holmes, Oliver Wendell. In sad
remembrance of the late associate
justice of the supreme court, Oliver
Wendell Holmes, who passed to his
reward one year ago today, March 6,
1935. Death is the gate to endless
joy, but we dread to enter there.

The memoriam was signed as follows:
“His Old Messenger, Arthur A. Thomas.”

Newspapers across the country reported
on Thomas’ act of devotion to Holmes.'® One
newspaper—the Montgomery Advertiser—
took the occasion to both honor Thomas and
lament the lost tradition of such “in memo-
riam” notices, which the paper speculated
was due to the fact that “modern man is more
occupied with the affairs of the living” and
possesses “a sophistication which frowns on
public displays of sentiment.”!?

When pressed to explain why he placed
the ad, Thomas said that the Justice had no
family in the area and “I thought that some-
one ought to do something.”?° Thomas added
that he “regretted that he couldn’t say more
[in the “in memoriam” notice], but ‘being a
colored man, I had to be careful not to say too
much.”?! In the social order of Washington,
DC, Thomas was rightfully concerned that a
White reader might take umbrage at a Black
servant thinking he was qualified to assess the
accomplishments of a White employer.

An enterprising reporter also asked
Thomas what Holmes would have thought
of the newly built Supreme Court building.
“The judge never did get to see it,” said
Thomas, “but [ guess ‘twas just as well—he
wouldn’t have liked it anyway.”?? It is likely
that Holmes would have agreed with Harlan
Fiske Stone, who referred to the new building
as “the temple of Karnak.”

For the rest of his life, Thomas ob-
served Holmes’ passing by placing flowers
on his grave site at Arlington National Ceme-
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tery. And additional tributes appeared in the
Evening Star. In March of 1937, Thomas
again placed an “in memoriam” notice in the
FEvening Star.

Clearness, repose and depth charac-
terized his intellect; purity, impar-
tiality, love of justice and respect
for public and private rights were
marked elements of his greatness.?*

As with the original notice, Thomas
personally composed the new one. He was
modest about his contribution. “They [the
lines] aren’t as nice as I'd like them to be,”
he told a reporter. “No words could do right
by Justice Holmes. I did the best that I know
how, though—well, it’s just a humble trib-
ute.” Thomas assured the nameless reporter,
however, that he would “make up an even
better one next year.”?*

Despite his promise for a grander tribute,
Thomas’ 1938 notice simply marked the
occasion of Holmes’ death and described him
as “an upright man, unpretentious gentleman
and an impartial judge.”?® Subsequent “in
memoriam” pieces were variations on this
theme. The 1940 ad referred to Holmes as
“[f]aithful and true in all his ways, [d]evoted
and honest to the end of his days, [a]n
upright man, unpretentious gentlemen and
an impartial judge.?® The same text was used
in the 1941 ad.?’ And, as with the original
ad, newspapers kept reporting on Thomas’
annual tribute.?®

It was not solely Thomas’ yearly acts
of devotion that placed him in the public
spotlight. In the spring of 1937, a reporter
asked Thomas what he thought of President
Franklin D. Roosevelt’s Court-packing plan.
In an article entitled “Elderly Doorman Cool
to Court Plan,” the Evening Star stated:

Because his own ability to perform
his duties is unimpaired by age,
Arthur A. Thomas is convinced that
the elderly members of the Supreme
Court must be equally capable of
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holding down their jobs. “After all,”
he said, “they’re much smarter than
me. And if I can do my work satis-
factorily, why can’t they?”?’

As evidence of his work ethic and
longevity, Thomas pointed to the fact that he
had only taken three sick days since starting
at the Court. Added the reporter: “Regardless
of his age, however, Thomas is ‘ready to
retire tomorrow’ if his salary would continue,
but no pensions have been provided by the
Government for attaches of the tribunal.”

Finally, Holmes was not the only justice
that Thomas celebrated on important anniver-
saries. On Justice Louis Brandeis® 80" birth-
day, the Washington Post reported that mes-
sages received at the Brandeis home included
a short note from Thomas. “Congratulations
of your birthday and may you live to enjoy
many more,” wrote the former messenger.>
Given Brandeis’ habit of regularly calling
on Justice Holmes, Brandeis and Thomas
undoubtedly knew each other.

Thomas® long career exemplifies the
behind-the-scenes lives at the Court—the
many unknown and unheralded people whose
careers supported the justices. Messengers
were servants to be seen and not heard—
and not given pensions. Even in the 1930s
and 1940s, the only public recognition of
messengers came in their obituaries—and the
reporters who crafted these announcements
seemed more impressed with the fact that the
justices themselves attended the funerals than
with the lengthy service of the messengers
themselves. And newspapers certainly did
not ordinarily interview messengers and in-
quire about their opinions on political issues
of the day, as they did with Thomas and
FDR’s Court-packing plan.

What is also striking is that Thomas
seems to have been more than a valet. The
affection in his “in memoriam™ notices as
well as his public comments about Holmes
suggests that a substantive relationship ex-
isted between the two men. Holmes would
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A year after Holmes' death, Thomas (pictured) placed
a newspaper announcement in the Evening Star in
memory of the late Justice. Thomas would memorialize
Holmes in this way until he retired from the Court due to
ill health in 1938. The former messenger also ohserved
Holmes' passing by placing flowers on his grave site at
Arlington National Cemetery.

have not considered Thomas to be his equal,
but one wonders if the Justice drew Thomas
into conversations about Holmes’ favorite
topic: man’s place in “the cosmos.”

Thomas retired from the Court in 1938.
Doubtless his retirement was due to his
wife’s poor health and his own advanced age.
Aurelia Thomas died at their home on March
26, 1940 after a long illness. She was buried
at the Columbian Harmony Cemetery, one
of the oldest and largest black cemeteries
in the District of Columbia. Thomas posted
a “card of thanks” in the Evening Star,
expressing gratitude to friends and family for
their “sympathy and kindness” to him as well
as their “beautiful floral expressions,” all of
which “lightened the burden he sustained by
the loss of his wife.”!
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The Death of Arthur Thomas

Thomas died at his home on April 23,
1943, after what was described as a short
illness. His funeral was held two days later at
the Metropolitan A.M.E. Church on M Street
in Washington, DC. Traditionally, the justices
themselves attended the funerals of former
messengers. We don’t know if this practice
was followed for Thomas’ service, but it was
reported that Thomas was “honored as jus-
tices of the Court are” and “many prominent
people in Washington attended his funeral.””3?
As with his wife, Thomas was buried at
the Columbian Harmony Cemetery. In a
fitting tribute, two years later his nephews
Raymond and Charles Thomas ran a short “in
memoriam” piece in honor of their “devoted
uncle.”3?

There is a sad postscript to the story
of Arthur A. Thomas. In 1960, Columbian
Harmony Cemetery was sold to a business
developer. As part of the sale, it was agreed
that 37,000 of the dead buried at the historical
cemetery would be exhumed and reinterred
at the National Harmony Memorial Park in
Maryland. The agreement did not include the
movement of markers and headstones, and
most of the dead were reinterred in mass
graves. Only recently was it discovered that
many of the original stone grave markers
were dumped into the Potomac to solidify the
shoreline.** So we cannot do what Arthur A.
Thomas did, namely, commemorate an hon-
orable man by placing flowers on his grave.

Conclusion

Of course, we can only guess what
Holmes would have thought of Thomas’
actions. The elderly Holmes did enjoy sun-
ning himself in the adulation of younger
lawyers and jurists, although one suspects
that Holmes was too clever to completely
ignore the poorly disguised self-interest of
silver-tongued flatters like Felix Frankfurter
and Harold Laski. Thomas, however, had no
personal agenda save celebrating the life of
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a man that he loved and respected. And for
Holmes, whose childhood was filled with
books about chivalrous knights and noble
quests, he likely would have been moved to
tears by the heroic and selfless deeds of his
former messenger.

Author’s Note: 1 would like to thank
Margaret Stein, Susan Stein, and Supreme
Court Associate Curator Matthew Hofstedt
for reading previous versions of this article.
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Louis D. Brandeis and the Death of

Samuel D. Warren

Louis D. Brandeis was not the first
Supreme Court nominee to have a difficult
time getting confirmed by the Senate, but
somehow his name has become emblematic
of how contentious the confirmation pro-
cess has become. Nominated to the Court
by Woodrow Wilson on January 28, 1916,
Brandeis was not confirmed by the Senate
until June 1—a wait of 125 days, which was
until recently the record for the longest period
of time the Senate has taken to consider a
nomination.'

Just what was it that made Brandeis’
nomination so controversial? Brandeis was
the first Jewish nominee to the Court, and it
is generally held that anti-Semitism played
a significant role in the debate (although
Brandeis was skeptical about that idea).? That
said, those opposed to him taking a seat on
the Court raised many other issues during the
Senate Judiciary Committee hearings, almost
all of which seemed to share a single theme:
that Brandeis was temperamentally unfit to
be a judge. Although many of these accusa-
tions unsurprisingly came from bankers and
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industrialists who were alarmed by Brandeis’
activism against trusts and big business, it
is surprising to note that these allegations
also emerged from Brandeis’ colleagues in
the Boston bar. While five lawyers testi-
fied on Brandeis’ behalf, six others testified
against him, and many more signed a peti-
tion denouncing his nomination.> Many of
the lawyers who testified complained that
Brandeis had a reputation for being “untrust-
worthy” without fully explaining what they
meant. However, a pair of recently unearthed
letters reveal a cause of many Boston’s
lawyers’ dislike of Brandeis that was never
spoken aloud during the confirmation hear-
ings: the suicide of Samuel D. Warren.*

The Warren Family

If Warren’s name is known at all today, it
is for being Brandeis’ first law partner and for
being the coauthor with Brandeis of the land-
mark article “The Right to Privacy.”> But in
late nineteenth-century Boston, Warren was
by far the more prominent figure. The son of
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HARVARD
LAW REVIEW.

DECEMBER 15, 150, No. 5.

THE RIGHT TO PRIVACY.

11 o o b 4y v primeiphon o
2o bl Convemionce, i, wion

H.

T in property is a principle 2 old 21 the common Jaw ; but
it has been found necessazy from time to time to define ancw the
exact nature and extent of such protection. Political, social, and
economic changes entail the recognition of mew rights, and the
common law, in its cternal youth, grows to meet the demands of
society. Thus, in very early times, the law gave o remody only
for physical interference with life and property, for trespasses o
et wrmis. Then the “right to lfe " served only to protect the
sobject from battery in its various forms ; liberty meant freedom
{rom actoal restraint ; and the right o peoperty secsred to the in.
dividesl his lands and his cattle.  Later,there came a recognition of
man's spiritual nature, of his feelings and his intellect. Gradually
the scope of these legal rights breadened ; and now the right to
life has come to mean the right to enjoy life,— the right to be ket
alone ; the right to liberty secures the exercire of extensive civil
privileges ; and the term “ property ™ has grown to comprise every
form of possession — intangible, as well as tangible

Thus, with the recogaition of the legal value of sensations, the
protection agaiest actual hodily Injury was extended 1o prohibic
mere attermpes to do such injury; that i, the putting another in

Louis D. Brandeis and Samuel D. Warren were class-
mates at Harvard Law School and ranked first and
second in their class, respectively, graduating in 1887.
They went on to start a law firm in Boston together, and
in 1890 they coauthored the groundbreaking article
“The Right to Privacy,” published in the law review
Brandeis had helped found.

a paper mill owner, Warren was a member of
one of Boston’s most prominent families.® He
attended Harvard Law School with Brandeis,
and while it is often claimed that Brandeis
had the highest-grade point average in the
history of the law school, Warren was ranked
right behind him as second in their class. The
two grew to be close friends while at school,
and it was Warren’s idea that they start a firm
together. Warren’s family connections gained
them some important clients early on, but
the sharp legal acumen of both men quickly
made Warren and Brandeis one of the most
prominent law firms in the city. (The firm
was so successful, it is still in business today
under the name Nutter McClennen & Fish.)
Brandeis also maintained close relations with
Warren’s family, and it was through their
connections that Brandeis made friends with
many of Boston’s top citizens.’

In 1888, Warren and Brandeis’ lives
were upended by the death of Warren's father.
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In order to keep S. D. Warren & Co., the
family’s mill, from being sold off, Warren
and Brandeis devised a complicated trust that
not only created a board to run the mill, but
also distributed its profits among Warren’s
family. One immediate consequence of this
arrangement was that Warren had to leave the
law firm so that he could manage the mill.

For a number of years, matters flowed
smoothly. Warren’s mother and siblings
agreed to the terms of the trust, and as long
as the firm continued to make a healthy
profit, nobody complained. However, the mill
eventually began to experience a downturn in
business, which led to smaller payouts to the
family members. Warren’s brother Ned, who
had paid little attention to the terms of the
trust when it was created, became incensed at
the loss of money and was convinced that the
trust was devised to unfairly benefit Samuel
at the expense of the rest of the family.
Negotiations between the brothers to resolve
the matter broke down, and in 1909, Ned sued
Sam.®

Brandeis and his firm rallied behind
Warren. A partner in Brandeis’ firm, Edward
McClennen, began preparing to defend him,
but the suit never came to trial. On February
18, 1910, shortly after being deposed, Warren
took his own life. His death shocked Boston’s
elite, and as the two letters reprinted below
show, it would have a profound impact on
Brandeis’ confirmation hearings.

Richard Hale's View of Brandeis

While researching his biography of
Brandeis,” Alpheus Mason came across a
letter written by Richard Walden Hale, a
Boston attorney who, like Brandeis, engaged
in public service work around Boston. Also
like Brandeis, Hale founded a prestigious law
firm that is still in business today (originally
Hale and Dorr, but now called WilmerHale).
The two men worked together on a number
of occasions, most notably in the creation of
savings bank life insurance in Massachusetts.
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Written a couple of weeks after Brandeis’
death in an apparent response to a friend’s
request, Hale’s letter looked back at his
association with Brandeis. While expressing
admiration for much of what Brandeis ac-
complished during his life, Hale pronounced
that he had been unfit to serve on the Supreme
Court.

Hales argument was that Brandeis’
high-minded ideals not only kept him from
being impartial, but also led him to actions
that he deemed were unethical and even
injurious to people around him. Hale gave
many small examples of what he calls Bran-
deis’s “shrewd” behavior, but he emphasizes
two in particular that had an impact on his
confirmation hearings.

The first matter is Brandeis’ denunci-
ation of the United Shoe Machinery trust.
This controversy was brought up repeatedly
during the hearings, and it is perhaps the one
issue that is hardest for Brandeis’ defenders
to explain away. The United Shoe Machinery
was the consolidation of a number of shoe
manufacturers who leased their equipment to
shoe companies under terms that kept those
companies from using other manufacturers’
equipment. Brandeis joined the United Shoe
Machinery’s board of directors for a time
to protect the interests of some clients who
owned shares in one of the companies that
had become incorporated during the merger.
While on the board, Brandeis gave advice
on various topics and helped defend its
business practices before the Massachusetts
legislature. Years after he left the board,
however, Brandeis became concerned by
the company’s monopolistic practices and
began publicly denouncing the company.
Many of Brandeis’ detractors accused him
of hypocrisy, and in his letter Hale uses the
incident as an illustration of how he felt
that Brandeis® principles led him to behave
unethically.'”

Hale states that Warren’s death was the
“matter for which Boston hated [Brandeis]
most.” While admitting he did not know
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Brandeis developed close relations with Warren's fam-
ily, and it was through their connections that the young
lawyer made friends with many of Boston's top citizens.
Many Boston lawyers turned against him after the
suicide of Samuel (pictured in 1875) in 1910, unfairly
blaming Brandeis for his death.

the facts of the matter, Hale nonetheless
relates the story he claimed was believed
by “all Boston.” In this version of events,
after having gotten Warren into the mess by
creating the trust, Brandeis refused to come
to Warren’s aid because he was too consumed
by the Ballinger—Pinchot affair."!

McClennen’s Retort

In the course of interviewing McClen-
nen for the biography, Mason sent him a
copy of Hale’s letter. McClennen had joined
Brandeis’ firm shortly after graduating from
Harvard Law School in 1895, and he re-
mained there until his death in 1948. (His
tenure is reflected in the firm’s current name
Nutter McClennen & Fish.) Over the years,
McClennen became recognized in the firm as
their top litigator, especially after Brandeis
began to devote most of his time to public
service work. Brandeis valued his abilities so
much, that he sent McClennen to Washington
to act on his behalf during his confirmation
hearings.

While McClennen was already preparing
materials for Mason, he immediately penned
a blistering reply to Hale’s letter. The two
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letters are a fascinating study in contrasts.
Hale’s letter, although ostensibly written by
a friend, is full of innuendo and snide
contempt. While professing admuiration for
Brandeis’ work in establishing savings bank
life insurance in Massachusetts, Hale derides
nearly everything else: from Brandeis’ ubig-
uitousness in Boston’s society, to his Supreme
Court opinions, and even to how large his
estate was at the time of his death. Hale’s
description of Brandeis as shrewd, coupled
with an indirect reference to Shylock from
The Merchant of Venice, gives his letter a
distinct anti-Semitic tone—a not uncommon
attitude among Boston’s patrician class of the
time.

McClennen’s letter, on the other hand, is
unstintingly complimentary toward Brandeis.
Written less than two months after Bran-
deis’ death, McClennen’s affection toward his
former mentor is evident, as is his anger
over Hale’s accusations. He devotes most of
his letter to the circumstances surrounding
the fight over the Warren family trust. The
misconception that Brandeis had ‘“refused
to defend” Warren seems to have stemmed
from the fact that Brandeis had assigned the
litigation of the case to McClennen. However,
as McClennen points out, local court rules
prohibited Brandeis from representing War-
ren since he had created the trust and was
therefore likely to be called to testify as a
witness. However, just because Brandeis was
not trying the case that does not mean that he
washed his hands of the affair. As McClennen
points out, Brandeis was heavily involved in
creating the response to the lawsuit, along
with McClennen and Warren himself.

Hale’s accusations seem to have struck at
McClennen’s professional pride, as he makes
a point to mention that his abilities were not
only appreciated by Brandeis and Warren,'?
but also generally by members of the Boston
bar. He even goes as far as to hint that his trial
skills may have been better than Brandeis’
at the time, since, as McClennen points out,
Brandeis had rarely set foot in a Boston
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courtroom during the previous fifteen years.
This long absence from the local courts may
have been another reason for the antipathy
shown to Brandeis by other Boston lawyers.

While Hale claims “all Boston” believed
Warren killed himself over Brandeis’ alleged
betrayal, it is unclear how widespread the
rumor actually was. Brandeis and McClen-
nen were apparently unaware of it at the
time of the hearings, but it was widespread
enough for McClennen’s son to have heard
it at a dinner party years later. Overall,
though, it seems to have remained a closely
guarded secret among Boston’s elites as there
is almost no reference to it in any writings
about Brandeis and Warren.

McClennen also deals briefly with the
United Shoe Machinery affair, minor accusa-
tions made by Hale, and others that had been
relayed by Mason. But the letter also revealed
some charming personal information about
Brandeis, such as his sense of humor and his
relations with his fellow justices.

McClennen’s letter is also interesting for
what it does not say. McClennen and Hale
both graduated from Harvard Law School in
1895, and they were both prominent Boston
lawyers at the same time. It is inconceivable
that they did not know each other. Yet Mc-
Clennen never once mentions Hale by name.
Instead, he only refers to him indirectly,
such as “the writer of the false assertion”
and someone who was not “conscious of
his obligation to his fellow men.” McClen-
nen’s dislike of Hale fairly oozes from the
page. Given that they worked for what were
Boston’s most prestigious firms—firms that
still bear their names-—could there have also
been some professional rivalry at play?

As informative as these two letters are,
Mason made little use of them in his book.
He does not mention McClennen’s explana-
tion of Brandeis’ legal inability to represent
Warren at all, and in regard to Warren’s death,
Mason instead quotes a 1936 letter Hale
wrote to his son in which he implies merely
that Brandeis “hastened” Warren’s death.'?
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Samuel D. Warren left the law firm when his father died to take over the family’s paper mill (pictured) in Westbrook,
Maine. His brother Ned sued him in 1906 when the payouts dipped, claiming that Brandeis had structured the trust
of the mill to benefit Samuel at the expense of his siblings.

However, the letters provide new insights into
controversies that still surround Brandeis,
and thus deserve to be seen by a wide
audience. They also provide an entertaining
look at the passion Brandeis provoked from
the people around him—both his detractors
and his defenders.

The Letters

October 20, 1941

Charles C. Burlingham, Esq.'*

850 Park Ave.

New York City, N. Y.

Dear Charles:

You prick me into writing an obituary
notice of Brandeis. I took my law degree
in 1895. He took his in 187[7]. I cannot
remember not knowing him. But my earliest
memories seem to be of my law student days,
when Samuel Dennis Warren left the Holmes
office to form Warren and Brandeis'® and
always rammed Brandeis down the throats
of Boston blue blood. Then the family paper

mills claimed Warren and my first memories
at the bar are of the great mercantile firm of
Brandeis, Dunbar and Nutter.

My first vivid memory of Brandeis is
that he and Mrs. Brandeis drove in a buggy
from Dedham to my home in Dover one
Sunday afternoon. You can fix the date by the
story. I was known to have written the best
book that ever was written about Dreyfus.'®
To your motion for specifications of it being
best | answer that it must have been for
it was the shortest with the smallest pages.
Brandeis said: “I have come to ask you to
write a book like that against Ballinger.” Hale
said: “Did you and Pinchot bribe Ballinger’s
stenographer to betray him?”'" Two hours
later we were still friends and Mrs. Hale and
Mrs. Brandeis pried us apart.

The general reputation of the man and
of his firm was that embodied in Dr. John-
son’s Dictionary sub-title SHREWD which
he defines as “more artful than good.” High-
minded, astute, artful. One partner third in se-
niority was my bachelor partner in a firm for
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week ends. Another, Ezra Thayer,'® couldn’t
stand it and left for Moorfield Storey’s place.
He was an intimate also.

Then came the nomination and all the
members of the bar who had been done in
by the astute men of that firm lined up their
serried ranks and hastened to the fray. The
volumes of evidence before the committee
are still in print. Your congressman can get
you a set to own. Who ever read it carefully
after the event? I did and made money by
doing so. See below.

They form a pattern. At the time I
said that a Boston Aristocrat thinks that the
straight and narrow path leads from the front
window of the Somerset Club to the coupon
room and back again. On State Street, it was
and is bad form to hit too hard. You should
never plead fraud charges against a fellow
State Street-er or club member. In my code
of legal ethics, the contrary is true. How
admirable for me that the same should be my
diagnosis of Brandeis and of his code.

There is that line between the utmost
that is ethical and the step beyond it that is
immoral. If you take a case it is your duty to
live up to the line and get your client’s pound
of flesh. As it is human to err no advocate
can live way up to the line 100 times without
leaning over x/100ths of those lines.

Now the pattern woven into all the
charges against Brandeis is just that. The
facts were in no case seriously in dispute.
Each time I admired him for his devotion
without limit to a cause. Each time evidence
was added that the way he leaned over the line
proved that he was a supreme advocate and
was supremely unfit to be a judge.

Years afterward Henry W. Lanier [pub-
lished?] a magazine called the Golden Book.
It had a page each month of quandaries in
ethics principally legal. I recurred to my copy
of the Brandeis record and sold each month
to that paper a $5.00 or $10.00 item. I always
stated the facts of each case, as the friends
of Brandeis had described it in their version.
Anyone could see the leaning over the line.
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One case will do for all.

(1) The Shoe Machinery Trust hired him and
paid him to contend that they were not a
trust.'® They told him their confidences
on that score. That ended.

(2) He was offered a retainer by the U.S. to
contend that they were a trust. He evi-
dently then believed they were. The mat-
ter was complicated. The defense was
astute, conclusive or specious whichever
you please. Brandeis saw that no other
lawyer could lick it and therefore thought
that it was his duty to accept the
retainer.?’

(A) Against his former client.

(B) Within the very scope within which
their confidence in him had been
placed in his hands. Why? Because
of a tremendous ethical urge to stop
monopoly.

The matter for which Boston hated him
worst did not fit into that record, but it does
fit into the same pattern. I do not know these
facts beyond doubt about them. I describe
rather what all Boston believed to be the
facts. Samuel Warren was sued by a lousy
brother for fraud about the Warren paper mill
family trusts. Brandeis refused to defend him.
Why? Because there were services to the
public, at that time which Brandeis thought
that it was his duty to undertake. He did not
have time for both.

Now Warren had “made” Brandeis.
Some other success may have awaited him
somewhere else, but Warren started him in
Boston so fast and pushed him so far that
when he went on the bench in 1916 he was so
rich that he was annoyed at it as inconsistent
with his social views.?!

The serious strain of the lousy case killed
Warren. See the fire in his daughters’ eyes as
they remember that as his health and happi-
ness faded away he believed that the genius
of Brandeis could have shielded him, but was
asked and refused.?? But look at the other
side of the shield. | mean great service to
American humanity which Brandeis rendered
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Boston attorney Richard Walden Hale wrote biographer Alpheus T. Mason that he believed Brandeis had been
unfit to serve as a justice. Among his criticisms, Hale cited Brandeis' inconsistent relationship with the United
Shoe Machinery Co. (pictured). Brandeis served on the company’s board of directors, but later denounced it for
monopolistic practices.

in the Life Insurance field. Here I was his
disciple and his lieutenant. (The fundamental
thought I heard from the mouth of Holmes at
an earlier date and I presume that Brandeis
did too.)

Holmes said, “Insurance is nothing but a
savings bank cross bred to an actuary.”

Hughes showed it up;** how far it had
fallen from any read “mutual” saving. Then
he rested. Brandeis took it up and brought
it to function in Savings Bank Life Insur-
ance. Read the stock dividend opinion of
Brandeis.”* Then you must agree with me
that the function he thought he was perform-
ing on that court was not that of a judge. He
was there to advocate.

I love to be in the middle and agree
with both sides for reasons satisfactory to
neither. So both sides misunderstand and
kick me.

What is wrong with this picture? Speak
up!

December 1, 1941

Professor Alpheus T. Mason

Princeton University

Princeton, N. J.

Dear Professor Mason:

Your letters of November 15 and Novem-
ber 17, I will hold in consideration in the later
work on the Brandeis—The Lawyer chapter
and without replying to them in detail at
present.”> There are a few things in them
however that I will cover at this writing.

The acknowledgment of these letters has
been awaiting an opportunity to do this.

1. The abominable lie that Brandeis
refused to defend Samuel D. Warren.

Some time ago I talked to you about
this but I think you had no opportunity to
make any notes. It involves a description of
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Brandeis’ colleague, Edward F. McClennen, wrote Ma-
son that the charges against Brandeis at his contentious
confirmation hearing in 1916 had been politically moti-
vated. Fear of Brandeis’ socialistic disposition and anti-
Semitism bolstered the opposition to his nomination, as
this cartoon depicts.

some length. It necessitates my relating to
you the position | had attained in Brandeis’s
eyes in 1909. The narrative of the Warren
case is given, as you are aware, in the report
from the Judiciary Committee to the Senate
in Executive Session on the Nomination
of Louis D. Brandeis, 64th Congress, First
Session, Ex. Rept. No. 2, Part 1, pages 3 to
6.2 Please read this as part of this letter. It is
too long to repeat here.

During the long discussions precipitated
by Edward P. Warren’s attitude from 1901
to 1910 and the retention of counsel by him
in 1903, Mr. Brandeis was the adviser and
guide in the courses pursued by Samuel D.
Warren. This continued through the inception
of the suit began in the latter part of 1909 and
until it became evident that there was to be
an active trial. Then arose for consideration
who should be the leading trial lawyer for the
trustees and S. D. Warren & Co.

With one exception due to the importuni-
ties of a contemporary lawyer, Mr. Brandeis
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had not been the leading lawyer in any
trial in a Massachusetts court conducted by
Brandeis, Dunbar & Nutter for more than ten
years.

I began active trial work in the courts
in 1896. In the ensuing fourteen years | had
been engaged very nearly exclusively in trials
in court and in preparation therefor. From
1905 on I was the leading trial lawyer of
the office in all of the larger cases tried by
it. Mr. Brandeis attended at times but never
assumed control of the trials. His attendance
was usually merely until the client should
become habituated to the idea that I should
conduct the trial. Mr. Brandeis had acquired
a confidence in my abilities as a trial lawyer
that 1 will rate, adopting his fondness for
figures, at 200% of the truth of the matter.
It was unthinkable in the office that anyone
else should conduct the defense of the Warren
case.

There was of course the added fact that
Mr. Brandeis had the charges of bad faith not
been disclaimed in the course of the hearings,
would have [had] to testify as a witness in
the case. If the rules were enforced, he could
not [have been] permitted to participate in
the introduction of evidence or the cross-
examination or argument of the case. This,
however, was not the reason why I was
chosen to conduct the trial. The choice would
have been the same even if he [had not been
going] to testify.

The Ballinger hearings had nothing to do
with the choice. If Ballinger had never been
born, the choice would have been the same.

In determining whether the choice was a
wise one, it is necessary to consider, not the
fact of my fitness for the job, but the belief
of the parties involved in my fitness. Holding
the beliefs which they held, it was for them a
wise choice.

S. D Warren & Co. had not been in
litigation much. Two or three years before
1909 they had a case in Maine involving
a large possible adverse recovery and their
public standing, or the standing of a local
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improvement company which they managed
and controlled. The case was in the hands
of leading Maine lawyers for the Warren
interests. I went to Maine to try the case.
It resulted in an adverse verdict below and
a reversal thereof in the Supreme Court of
Maine, where I argued the case. All this was
known and approved by Mr. Warren at the
time of the trial of the Warren case we are
now discussing.

Mr. Warren told me of the reliance that
he had upon me and the relief that had come
to him in the fact that [ was looking out for
their interests in the pending trial.

The leading counsel for Edward P. War-
ren was Sherman L. Whipple. [ had tried with
and against Mr. Whipple before this trial. He
had expressed high regard for my ability as
a trial lawyer and confidence in me. As a
result, the accounting facts to a large extent
were put in evidence by me, thereby relieving
Mr. Warren, by so much, from testifying. Mr.
Whipple had little contact with Mr. Brandeis
as a trial lawyer. It was within a year or two of
this time that Mr. Whipple was instrumental
in having the Governor offer me a position on
the bench and was earnest in his effort to have
me accept it.

[ know that you will not misinterpret my
tooting my own horn in this manner. [ do it
because it is important that this abominable
lie be scotched. I never heard it until one
of my sons had it related to him at a dinner
party, by a former partner of one of the
leading opponents of the confirmation of Mr.
Brandeis, who by no possibility could have
any knowledge of the truth of the scandalous
assertion that he was making more than
twenty years after the death of Samuel D.
Warren.

2. The continuing attitude of some oppo-
nents to confirmation.

It is not to be expected that any rea-
sonable lawyer who had signed a brief pur-
porting to be based on the evidence before
the subcommittee of the Committee on the
Judiciary would now say what he said in
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his brief was not so. This, however, does
not bear on the facts of the matter. If you
consult the record itself, you will find that
there was no disregard of professional ethics
and no lack of judicial temperament. Instead
of saying that the confirmation was altogether
political, the statement should have been
phrased that the opposition was altogether
political. It included (1) anti-Semitism, (2)
professional envy, (3) professional jealousy,
(4) honest, misguided fear of an undue com-
munistic or socialistic disposition, (5) fear of
adverse decisions on questions which would
injuriously affect the interests of the opposers
in litigation then pending or imminent, (6)
individuals who had been fairly and justly
treated by Mr. Brandeis in ways they disliked,
(7) those who were swept into the opposition
by some of the foregoing and, in some cases,
gave their signatures in opposition at the
behest of a former opponent employed and
paid by the opposition to collect signatures.
The test of my assertion that nothing was
shown of disregard of professional ethics or
lack of judicial temperament in Mr. Brandeis,
lies in reading the complete record, with the
pros and cons in juxtaposition. The various
matters are comprehensively, fairly, and as
clearly as possible with due regard to brevity,
dealt with at pages 2-24%7 of the above cited
report. The page references to the evidence
appear in this report. This gives the means of
testing the accuracy of the various statements
made. This report is supplemented and em-
phasized in the succeeding pages 38-60.2

If you will look at those two reports
you will see how free they are from either
dragging something out of its context to
produce a distortion or political disregard of
the poise essential to true presentation.

3. Brandeis was not mean to opponents.,

There has never come to my attention
any instance of the kind. The suggestion
to the contrary made to you did not come
from one who had experienced any mean
treatment, and must have been based upon
report of some one else, if it was not a pure
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invention. I cannot deal with it more specif-
ically without knowing something about the
incident which is claimed to be a basis for
any such assertion. It is peculiarly difficult
to give any credence to the suggestion when
we consider that in the twenty years before
Mr. Brandeis went on the bench, matters
of litigation were not in his charge and
that other members of the office were the
ones determining whether extensions of time
should be granted, or times of trial should be
fixed or changed, or the other matters where
the pleasures of practicing law are increased
by an interchange of accommodations. 1
never have heard of his failing in any of
the courtesies which should be extended to
an adversary. He was quite the contrary. If
you can dig out any incident that needs an
explanation, I shall be glad to see what I can
find out about it.

4. Brandeis did not lack a sense of
humor.

He had the quick perceptions of the
surroundings and the point of view of other
men which make for humor. In trials and
arguments and negotiations he did not often
make use of the humorous. He was intent on
the main object of a logical and sympathetic
presentation and did not consider that a
display of humor was helpful. Away from the
stress of this, if his mind was free, he was
one of the quickest to perceive a humorous
situation and to present things in a humorous
way. The idea of any lack of humor in him
is based upon his serious preoccupations.
Many a time he was so engaged in his
serious thinking on serious matters that he
was thereby insulated from other matters, be
they serious or humorous. He could hardly
repress his mirth until the interview was over,
where the client told him what a successful
year the client had had and started to relate
the story by saying his wife had died in April.

I will mention one typical story of his.
He was contemptuous of those who maneu-
vered for high station or bragged about it,
where the situation was not warranted by
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merit. He was amused by the lengths to which
climbers would go. He told of the farmer’s
wife who yearned for social position and who
on attendance at the County Fair, looked in
on the prize pig and said, “I am somewhat
acquainted in the town that that ‘ere pig
comes from.”

Engrossment in the serious often pre-
vented his knowing of the humorous, but he
had a very fine sense of humor.

I remember that in the course of an
argument in the Supreme Court some four
years ago, counsel quoted language of Mr.
Justice Brandeis in an earlier opinion, so
out of its context that the Justice did not
recognize it. He said, “Did I say that?” Mr.
Justice Butler, sitting beside him, said, “You
certainly did. Do you want to take it back
now?” The appreciation of the humor of
the remark was written all over Brandeis’s
face. Incidentally, it showed how cordial their
relations were notwithstanding the repeated
differences of opinion in the cases on which
they sat.

5. Ezra Thayer's reasons for joining the

JSirm of Story, Throndike, Palmer & Thayer.

At the beginning of 1900, Brandeis was
forty-three, Dunbar thirty-seven and Nutter
thirty-seven; Story was fifty-four, Thorndike
about the same, and Palmer was about
Thayer’s age, and a classmate. Story was
the only striking court lawyer in the group.
Thayer was an able trial lawyer. When the
offer from Story came, Thayer told me that
he thought that practice was flowing into
the Story office more easily than into that
of Brandeis, Dunbar & Nutter. Mrs. Thayer
wanted him to accept. There was not in
his dealing the slightest expressed, implied
or felt criticism of the great ability, high
character, and ethical qualities of Brandeis.
James Bradley Thayer (his father) told me
that he regretted the decision because of
the high regard in which he (James Bradley
Thayer) held the partners whom Ezra was
leaving. It was James Bradley Thayer who
originally had sent me to Brandeis when I
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was leaving Law School. No one conscious
of his obligation to his fellow men could
ever have made the assertion that Thayer left
because he couldn’t stand it.

6. Brandeis was not retained by the
United States against the Shoe Machinery
Company.

The assertion to the contrary is another
illustration of a flagrant disregard of as-
certainable facts and substituting false as-
sumption therefor. The matter is fully stated
in the report above cited, in pages 3-16
thereof.?” The writer of the false assertion
professed familiarity with this record, but
he had overlooked the statement on page
16:3° “These services have been without
compensation to Mr. Brandeis.” The services
referred to in the quotation were to the Shoe
Manufacturers’ Alliance. Not only did Mr.
Brandeis not receive compensation, but he
was not retained by the United States and did
not act in the case.

Sincerely yours,

Edward F. McClennen
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Brown v. Board of Education and
the Politics That Created a

Constitutional Icon

Introduction

Few scholars or educators of law or
politics would dispute the contention of the
authors of a recent retrospective on Brown
v. Board of FEducation of Topeka that the
Supreme Court’s 1954 school desegregation
ruling was “the most important decision
of the 20th century.”!
be said to have achieved canonical status
within the legal academy, as evidenced by the
fact that no other ruling has been regarded
by so many individuals as, to borrow one
of many similar encomiums, “the greatest
moral triumph constitutional law ha[s] ever
produced.” The 88 percent approval rating
that Brown received in a Gallup opinion
poll taken forty years after the decision was
rendered supports the view that the ruling is
“largely sacred” not only among academics
but “in American political culture” as well >
The contrast between that supermajority fig-
ure and the 62 percent of Americans that ap-

Indeed, Brown can
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proved of Brown in 1961 (the last time Gallup
sought that information until 1994) reveals
that the ruling’ reputation developed over
time.* In fact, Brown generated enormous
controversy for a number of years after it was
rendered. Even journalists and scholars who
favored desegregation conceded the charge
of southern politicians that the justices had
circumvented traditional legal constraints in
declaring segregation unconstitutional.’
Gerald Rosenberg observes that the con-
ventional explanation for Browns eventual
elevation to canonical or iconic status is
that the decision and related desegregation
rulings “played a crucial role in producing
both changes in civil rights and an active
civil rights movement.”® Yet, pervasive and
current as the belief may be within the
academy that Brown inspired activists who
then prompted Congress to pass important
civil rights legislation, the wider public is un-
likely to be familiar with the written opinions
that accompany even well-publicized rulings,
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let alone draw a causal connection between
the desegregation decision and a social re-
form movement that gained widespread at-
tention in the mid-1960s.” Brown  reputation
in the broader American political culture is
more likely a function of the public’s view of
the institution that the Court declared uncon-
stitutional in 1954. And opinions concerning
segregation needed to change significantly
in order to benefit Browns reputation, since
a poll taken two years after the Court’s
ruling revealed that only 48 percent of Whites
favored desegregated schools.®

To acquire insight into the process by
which the Brown decision achieved canonical
status in American political culture, we must
set aside the conventional assumption that
it is “great jurists who show the rest of us
the way through their wisdom,” and consider,
instead, the import of the inverse relationship
—that nonjudicial actors and events can
strongly affect the public’s understanding of
constitutional requirements and, in turn, of
the meaning and significance of Supreme
Court rulings.’ In this case, Browns ascent
toward iconic status involved a confluence
of social and political events that eventually
led to the ruling being conceptualized as a
righteous attack on an institution that helped
maintain a system of White supremacy,
an interpretation that deviated from the
decision’s narrow but controversial social
science-based rationale that school segre-
gation harms the personalities of African-
American children.!? The circumstances that
would eventually lead the public to regard
Brown as a historic legal challenge to White
supremacy included civil rights protests and
racial incidents that focused national and
international attention on the struggle for
racial equity in this country; a felt strate-
gic need among non-southern Democrats to
respond to African-American political de-
mands; and the decision by Democratic elites
(especially, Presidents John F. Kennedy and
Lyndon B. Johnson) and, relatedly, members
of the media to echo civil rights activists
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and frame desegregation as a moral issue of
national importance. In the absence of proper
framing, millions of Americans viewed racial
segregation as a reasonable exercise of state
power, regarded activists as troublemaking
malcontents, and considered the Brown deci-
sion unwarranted.

Ironically, one of the Supreme Court’s
most significant actions in the history of
Brown's ascent to iconic status was to secure
the decision’s reputation by constitutional-
izing the efforts of nonjudicial actors who
sought to restrict the reformist potential of
the ruling. The success of the civil rights
movement in linking racial segregation to
White supremacy ensured that the public’s
approval of the abstract principle of deseg-
regation would survive a White backlash
against civil rights that widespread urban
unrest, negative media framing, and Richard
Nixon’s 1968 “law and order” presidential
campaign prompted. However, the Court’s
early busing decisions, the controversial na-
ture of which was reinforced by Nixon’s anti-
busing rhetoric and negative media framing
of the issue, imperiled Browns standing.
President Nixon’s Supreme Court appointees
would help preserve Browns status by lim-
iting the impact of busing to the de jure
segregation that characterized the South. This
action effectively eliminated the threat that
Brown posed to the de facto segregation that
is typical of non-southern school districts
across the nation, and is a form of segregation
that was also, although less obviously, the
product of racist governmental policies.

A Less Than Iconic Beginning

As Michael Klarman observes, “Virtu-
ally everyone today agrees that [the Brown
decision] was right, though this was not so
in 1954, when it was decided.”'! At the time,
a broad swath of elite opinion—journalistic,
legal, scholarly, and political—challenged
the ruling’s jurisprudential merit. A number
of commentators pointed up the novelty of
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the apparent basis of the holding in Brown,
namely, Chief Justice Earl Warren’s reference
in his eleventh footnote to the petitioners’
social science evidence as support for the
conclusion that racially segregated public
schools are inherently unequal and, therefore,
unconstitutional.'? The day following the an-
nouncement of the ruling, for example, James
Reston of The New York Times declared that
“[t]he Court’s opinion read more like an
expert paper on sociology than a Supreme
Court opinion.”'3 The august constitutional
scholar, Alpheus T. Mason, lamented simi-
larly: “Rather than rely on available judicial
precedents, the Court invoked two of the flim-
siest of all our disciplines—sociology and
psychology—as the basis of its decision.”!*
Predictably, southern congressmen at-
tacked the Brown decision for ignoring
traditional legal constraints that had pro-
vided racial segregation with a constitutional
grounding. The inconsistency between the
Court’s ruling and the history of the Four-
teenth Amendment was a main theme of
the “Southern Manifesto” of March 1956—
a statement of protest against Brown that
more than 90 southern congressman signed.
The Manifesto recalled the arguments of
the lawyers for the defendant school boards
and emphasized that “[t]he debates preced-
ing the submission of the 14th amendment
clearly show that there was no intent that
it should affect the systems of education
maintained by the States.”’> The Manifesto
also criticized the justices for ignoring the
force of precedent, noting that Plessy v
Ferguson “expressly declared that under the
14th Amendment no person was denied any
of his rights if the States provided separate
but equal facilities”; this principle, “restated
time and again, became a part of the life
of the people of many of the States and
confirmed their habits, traditions, and way
of life.” Echoing the public peace rationale
that figured prominently in the arguments of
the school boards’ lawyers, the Manifesto
proclaimed that the desegregation ruling was
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“destroying the amicable relations between
the White and Negro races that have been
created through 90 years of patient effort by
the good people of both races. It has planted
hatred and suspicion where there has been
heretofore friendship and understanding,”!®

A study that the National Opinion Re-
search Center (NORC) conducted in 1956
indicated that the benign view of racial
segregation advanced in the Manifesto was
not confined to the South. While Ameri-
cans overwhelmingly rejected the concept
of White supremacy, they largely denied its
existence in this country. Almost 80 percent
of Whites believed that African Americans
“are as intelligent as white people” and are
just as capable as Whites “if they are given
the same education and training.” However,
most Whites at that time did not believe
that there were institutional impediments to
Black advancement, as 69 percent of respon-
dents indicated that they thought Blacks were
“treated fairly” in America. With particular
reference to the matter at issue in Brown,
only 48 percent of Whites approved of the
integration of public schools; thus, over 50
percent did not regard racial segregation in
education as manifestly unfair to African
Americans. !

In view of these results, it stands to
reason that Americans at this time were
nearly evenly divided about the worth of
the Brown decision. In polls taken in May,
June, and December of 1954, and April of
1955—using a question that drew an explicit
connection between the Court’s ruling and
the matter of school segregation—only 55,
54, 52, and 56 percent of respondents, re-
spectively, expressed their approval of the
decision.'®

In response to the benign, public order
rationale that segregationists offered in sup-
port of the practice and to continued scholarly
criticism of the Brown decision, Charles
Black articulated a powerful defense of the
ruling based on the view that segregation
was, in fact, an indispensable component
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Emmett Till's mother, Mamie Till-Mobley, and grandmother, Alma Spearman, mourned at his graveside in Chicago.
Till, age 14, was lynched in Mississippi in 1955, after being accused of offending a White woman in her family's

grocery store. His killers were acquitted.

of a system of racial oppression.'” Echoing
certain of the petitioners’ arguments, Black
contended that “segregation is a massive in-
tentional disadvantaging of the Negro race, as
such, by state law.” While he acknowledged
“the entirely sincere protestations of many
southerners that segregation is ‘better’ for
the Negroes™” and “is not intended to hurt
them,” he believed that “a little probing
would demonstrate that what is meant is
that it is better for the Negroes to accept
a position of inferiority at least for the
indefinite future.”® To understand that “[t]he
movement for segregation was an integral
part of the movement to maintain and further
‘[W1hite supremacy,” Black argued, we must
consider the fact “that segregation was im-

posed on one race by the other race; consent
was not invited or required.” Southern race
relations, in short, present “a picture not of
mutual separation of [Whites

and Negroes, but of one in-group enjoy-
ing full normal communal life and one out-
group that is barred from this life and forced
into an inferior life of its own.”?!

Black supported the point that the non-
involvement of African Americans in the
construction of southern society secured the
group’s inferior status therein by noting that
“[s]egregation is historically and contempo-
raneously associated in a functioning com-
plex with practices which are indisputably
and grossly discriminatory.” He mentioned,
in particular, “the long-continued and still
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largely effective exclusion of Negroes from
voting,” as well as the fact that “segrega-
tion is the pattern of law in communities
where the extralegal patterns of discrimina-
tion against Negroes are subjected to the
strictest codes of ‘unwritten law’ as to job
opportunities, social intercourse, patterns of
housing, going to the back door, being called
by the first name, saying ‘Sir,” and all the
rest of the whole sorry business.” These
oppressive cultural norms, he suggested, “as-
sist us in understanding the meaning and
assessing the impact of [contemporaneous])
state action.”??

Black speculated that the justices in
Brown likewise regarded segregation as op-
pressive, and that this belief formed the
actual basis of the decision (as opposed to
“the formally ‘scientific’ authorities, which
are relegated to a footnote and treated as
merely corroboratory of common sense”). He
suspected that the Court was disinclined to
“[spell] out that segregation ... is perceptibly
a means of ghettoizing the imputedly inferior
race” because of a “reluctance to go into
the distasteful details of the southern caste
system.” This “venial fault” of the opinion
aside, he reiterated that the justices “had the
soundest reasons for judging that segrega-
tion violates the fourteenth amendment,” and
expressed confidence “that in the end the
[desegregation] decisions will be accepted by
the profession” on the basis that “the segre-
gation system is actually conceived and does
actually function as a means of keeping the
Negro in a status of inferiority.”*> Presum-
ably, Black would have agreed that the impact
of exposure to evidence that revealed the
oppressive nature of segregation would affect
the wider public’s view of the Brown deci-
sion, as well as that of the legal profession.

The Oppressive Nature of Segregation
Revealed?

After the Court rendered Brown, there
was no shortage of highly visible, oftentimes
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violent racial events, whether linked specif-
ically to school desegregation efforts or to
the matter of civil rights more generally, with
which to test the validity of Black’s thesis re-
garding changes in the decision’s reputation.
By Black’s reckoning, these events would
eventually demonstrate Browns moral force
by revealing the necessary connection be-
tween segregation and White supremacy. Le-
gal deficiencies notwithstanding, the decision
would come to be respected and interpreted
as a historic ruling that recognized—and
regarded as constitutionally relevant—“the
fact that the social meaning of segregation
is the putting of the Negro in a position of
walled-off inferiority,” and “the other equally
plain fact that such treatment is hurtful to
human beings.”?*

Tragic, well-publicized demonstrations
of the brutality inhering in the southern
caste system had occurred well before the
publication of Black’s essay in 1960. In
the year following Brown, for instance, the
notorious kidnapping, torture, and murder
of the fourteen-year-old Chicagoan, Emmett
Till (who supposedly violated southern racial
mores while visiting relatives in Money,
Mississippi), received significant national at-
tention from more than 100 newspapers and
television reporters, as well as a tremen-
dous international response.?® The next year,
Autherine Lucy’s effort to attend graduate
school at the University of Alabama marked
the first school desegregation case to become
an international event, in large measure be-
cause of the violence directed at the aspiring
student. The forceful condemnations of the
thousand-person mob’s actions that appeared
in certain newspapers in this country were
echoed in the media of Denmark, Sweden,
Holland, Poland, Nigeria, and India. Summa-
rizing the results of an opinion survey, the
United States Information Agency concluded
that the episode “qualifies as not less than an
international cause celebre with a quarter to
a third in Western Europe alluding more or
less specifically to the incident as a basis of
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A number of students at this all-Black high school in Farmville, Virginia, were plaintiffs in the lawsuit Davis v.
County School Board of Prince Edward County (1952)—one of the five cases combined into Brown v. Board of

Education.

recent unfavorable treatment of Negroes in
the U.S.”%6

Presidential involvement in the Little
Rock crisis of 1957-1958 ensured high visi-
bility not only for the event itself, but also for
Cooper v. Aaron,*"the first school desegrega-
tion case since Brown in which the Supreme
Court rendered a full opinion. President
Dwight Eisenhower’s intervention and the
Court’s ruling were responses to the efforts
of Arkansas Governor Orval Faubus and the
state legislature to block the desegregation
of Central High School. After the governor
defied a lower court order and sent National
Guard troops to prevent nine Black students
from entering the school, the president felt
compelled to send federal troops to enforce

the ruling and protect the students.?® During
the twenty days that Eisenhower waited to
act, Americans and international observers
witnessed the extraordinary hostility directed
at the “Little Rock Nine.” Some 95 percent
of Americans indicated in a September 1957
Gallup poll that they had either heard or read
about the trouble in Little Rock over school
integration.?’ The event also “attracted more
international attention than any previous civil
rights battle” and “brought a full-scale in-
ternational outburst over racial conditions
in the U.S.” In a widely covered ruling
that denied the Little Rock school officials’
request for a two-year postponement of their
desegregation program, the Supreme Court’s
opinion, which every justice signed, focused
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on the constitutional irrelevance of violent
White resistance: “The constitutional rights
of respondents are not to be sacrificed or
yielded to the violence and disorder which
have followed upon the actions of the Gov-
ernor and Legislature.” “[L]aw and order are
not here to be preserved by depriving the Ne-
gro children of their constitutional rights.”!

Spectacular examples of desegregation-
related White violence would continue early
in the next decade. The sit-in movement,
which four students launched in February
of 1960 in Greensboro, North Carolina, and
was then organized by the Student Nonvio-
lent Coordinating Committee (SNCC), was
very effective in highlighting for Americans
the oppressive and humiliating nature of
segregation. By the end of the year, some
70,000 individuals participated in sit-ins at
lunch counters and other segregated settings
in 100 cities. The contrast between the
politeness, bravery, and composure of the
protestors in the face of the intimidation and,
at times, violent responses of segregationists
was instructive.*

The “freedom riders” performed a sim-
ilar service for the nation in the spring of
1961, when these activists sought to force bus
companies to abide by Morgan v. Virginia,
in which the Supreme Court declared un-
constitutional segregated seating on interstate
bus lines, and Boynton v. Virginia, where
the Court extended the Morgan precedent
to include segregated terminal facilities.?’
James Farmer, co-founder of the Congress
on Racial Equality (CORE) and leader of
the freedom riders, explained that he and
his fellow demonstrators “were counting on
the bigots in the South to do our work for
us.” The defenders of segregation did not
disappoint. The frequency and brutality of
the violence directed at the riders as they
made their way through the Deep South was
so shocking that even the southern press
remarked on its cruelty.®*

Over time, these and other events in-
creased the visibility of the issues of racial
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segregation and civil rights. While these mat-
ters received no mention prior to 1955 (and
then only slight mention that year) in Gallup
polls that asked respondents to identify the
nation’s “most important problem,” two polls
conducted in 1956 revealed that 18 percent
and, then, 12 percent of Americans ranked
civil rights as the most important issue that
year.” During the Little Rock crisis the
following year, 29 percent of respondents
identified integration or racial problems as
the country’s most important issue. That
result not only represented a substantial in-
crease in the proportion of Americans who
thought that these policy matters ranked first
in order of importance. It also marked the
first time that such matters were listed first
overall among the issues that respondents
mentioned.>® Although for the next several
years other issues (especially the economy or
foreign affairs) would supplant racial matters
in order of importance, a measurable percent-
age of Americans (ranging from four per-
cent to ten percent) consistently mentioned
integration as the nation’s most important
problem.?’

In spite of the number and severity of
well-publicized, oftentimes violent events
linked to desegregation efforts in the years
immediately following Brown, the evidence
does not provide much, if any, support
for Charles Black’s expectation that the
decision would come to be viewed and
respected as a historic legal challenge to
White supremacy. The scholarly debate over
Brown's jurisprudential merit mentioned
briefly in the preceding section took place
largely after the Little Rock crisis and
the violent events that preceded it. And,
like scholarly opinion, public sentiment
remained conflicted about the decision’s
worth. In late May and early June of 1961, in
the final Gallup poll (until 1994) that asked
respondents whether they approved of Brown,
62 percent of those questioned indicated their
acceptance of the decision. (As with earlier
polls, the question posed drew an explicit
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connection between the Court’s ruling
and the matter of school segregation.)®®
Although that figure represented an increase
of eight percent over the average of 54
percent in the four polls taken during the year
following the decision, this development was
hardly a reflection of overwhelming support,
let alone an indication of iconic status.>
Furthermore, the high point of 62 percent
achieved in 1961 did not necessarily suggest
a continuing upward trend in approval,
since that figure had been matched (in fact,
exceeded by one percent) in 1956, while the
three polls taken between the period 1956
and 1961 averaged less than 60 percent.*’

It is tempting to conclude that the ab-
sence of convincing evidence of any signif-
icant improvement in Brown's reputation at
the end of the 1950s was a function of insuffi-
cient public exposure to violent racial events,
since it was during the 1960s that “the civil
rights movement put the brutality of South-
ern racism starkly before a broad national
and international audience.”*! However, the
reaction of much of the world to the events
summarized above reveals that there were
more than enough racial incidents prior to the
height of the civil rights movement to illus-
trate the connection between segregation and
White supremacy. Media located in nations
with largely non-White populations such as
India, Libya, and Nigeria had no trouble dis-
cerning that segregation was a form of racial
oppression.*? And well before Little Rock, as
Mary Dudziak observes in her work on the
Cold War implications of racial segregation,
a communication from the U.S. embassy in
Moscow noted that the press of the Soviet
Union attempted to exploit America’s vulner-
ability with non-White populations by “ham-
mer[ing] away unceasingly on such things
as ‘lynch law,” segregation, racial discrim-
ination, deprivation of political rights, etc.,
seeking to build up a picture of an America in
which the Negroes are brutally downtrodden
with no hope of improving their status under
the existing form of government.”*’
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Criticism of the oppressiveness of Amer-
ican race relations was not limited to the press
of non-White nations and the media of the
United States’ chief Cold War rival; it also
came from the nation’s closest allies. Azza
Salama Layton observes that “[t]he British
often expressed cynicism about Americans
lecturing them about having ‘an empire in
India’ and ‘a colony in Africa’ while they
had Little Rock.” Criticism regarding Little
Rock also appeared in news reports and edi-
torials in Switzerland, Holland, Ireland, Lux-
embourg, Belgium, and Denmark.** A 1957
survey of opinion in Western Europe (in-
cluding Great Britain, West Germany, France,
Italy, and Norway) reported that “opinions
of race relations in the U.S. are highly unfa-
vorable.” American officials were unable to
take comfort in the survey’s observation that
those opinions “apparently have not become
materially more so as a result of Little Rock,”
because, as the study explained, “America’s
standing in the area of race relations was
already in a very depressed state prior to the
Arkansas desegregation incidents, and hence
not readily susceptible to further decrease.”*

Racial Violence and Media Frames

The fact that the American public’s en-
dorsement of Brown was merely lukewarm-—
even though there were enough well-
publicized, violent racial events in the mid-
to-late 1950s and early 1960s to alert even
Western Europeans to the oppressiveness of
racial segregation—does not negate Charles
Black’s general thesis regarding the pro-
cess by which the decision’s reputation
would eventually improve. However, Black’s
argument—that increased public exposure
to illustrations of the nature of segregation
would burnish Brown s reputation—was too
uncomplicated. It is the case that media
images and messages can have a powerful
impact upon the public’s attitudes, racial or
otherwise.*® But studies of racial attitudes
demonstrate that news media present events,
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such as violent racial incidents, in a frame,
that is, “a central organizing idea or story
line that provides meaning to an unfold-
ing strip of events, weaving a connection
among them. The frame suggests what the
controversy is about, the essence of the
issue.”*’ And, while media frames “help
individual citizens make sense of the issues
that animate political life,” journalists do
not convey information in a neutral manner.
Rather, the frames that print and visual media
convey are the creation of elites who hope
“to advance their interests and ideologies.”*®
Furthermore, “the media seem to respond to
the agendas of the most prominent American
newsmakers—particularly the president of
the United States, but also prominent move-
ment leaders with their own agendas.”*

At first glance, the circumstances prior to
Brown would seem to have been conducive to
the construction of influential media frames
inimical to benign characterizations of racial
segregation and that linked desegregation
efforts to the fight against White supremacy.
Civil rights initiatives on the part of a pres-
ident would receive ample media coverage,
in view of the fact that, since the time
of Franklin D. Roosevelt, as Sidney Milkis
notes, Americans had come to “expect both
that the federal government would remain
active in domestic and world affairs and
that, within the government, the president
would take the lead.” Milkis also observes
that “[t]hose who occupied the White House
during [the mid-20th century]—Harry Tru-
man, Dwight Eisenhower, John Kennedy,
and Lyndon Johnson—wielded executive
power according to Roosevelt’s vision of
modern presidential leadership.”*® What’s
more, these presidents embraced Woodrow
Wilsons model of the “rhetorical presi-
dency,” which, as Jeffrey Tulis avers, involves
“‘go[ing] over the heads’ of Congress to the
people at large in support of legislation and
other initiatives.” The contemporary resort
to “popular or mass rhetoric”’—which stands
in marked contrast to the nineteenth-century
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concern that such presidential appeals to pub-
lic sentiment “could manifest demagoguery,
impede deliberation, and subvert the routines
of republican governance”—is intended to
“constitut[e] the people to whom it is ad-
dressed by furnishing them with the very
equipment they need to assess its use—
the metaphors, categories, and concepts of
political discourse.”!

Making use of this model of leadership,
President Truman proposed a number of
initiatives on behalf of African Americans
in response to the growth of Black political
influence in electorally significant states and
to the Democrats’ loss of Congress following
the midterm elections of 1946 (due, in part, to
the party’s negligence regarding civil rights).
After the publication of the recommendations
of Truman’s Committee on Civil Rights (a
body that the president formed one month
after the Democrats lost their congressional
majority), and following his reelection in
1948, Truman proposed that Congress ele-
vate the civil rights section in the Department
of Justice to its own division, afford federal
protection against lynching, provide more
adequate protection of the right to vote, cre-
ate a permanent Fair Employment Practices
Committee, and prohibit discrimination in
interstate transportation facilities. Tellingly,
however, Truman stopped short of embrac-
ing several desegregation measures that the
Committee on Civil Rights recommended,
including a proposal that federal grants-in-
aid and other forms of federal assistance
stipulate that recipients not segregate on
the basis of race. Instead, the president’s
anti-segregation initiatives were not highly
visible, since (except for an executive order
regarding military desegregation) they took
the form of amicus curiae briefs to the
Supreme Court.>

The relative timidity that Truman ex-
hibited in his legislative initiatives reflected
an acknowledgment of political reality. For
one-party politics and restricted voting in
the South made veterans of conservative
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southern legislators who, in turn, benefited
from a seniority system that placed them
in powerful positions in both houses of
Congress. And those very congressmen—
who doomed the president’s civil rights
bills, even though Truman put forth no
desegregation initiatives—were responsive to
a very important element of the Democratic
coalition. The South’s plantation
industrial elites and the working classes
of the industrialized North were the main
components of the New Deal coalition that
Franklin D. Roosevelt established in 1933.
These elements of this strange political
alliance were united by a shared antipathy for
northern capital. (Southerners also favored
New Deal measures that ameliorated the
impact of the Depression upon southern
agriculture.)>® However, as Richard Bensel
observes, the “principal compromise among
the policy positions assumed by the New
Deal alliance centered on race,” and
“under this arrangement the northern wing
implicitly tolerated southern
the price of participation in a majority
coalition.”* As a result, there was a strong
disincentive at this time for Democratic
politicians at the national level to engage in
any serious critical examination of the nature
of racial segregation.

Truman’s apprehensiveness about alien-
ating southern Democrats was reflected in the
substance and tone of his statements on civil
rights, including the message to Congress
in February of 1948 that formally outlined
his legislative proposals. After observing
rather abstractly that ‘“there is a serious
gap between our ideals and some of our
practices,” the president declared that “the
Federal government has a clear duty to see
that constitutional guarantees of individual
liberties and of equal protection under the
law are not denied or abridged anywhere in
America.”>® William C. Berman notes that,
while most progressives and moderates were
pleased with Truman’s civil rights overtures,
a “number of liberals were disappointed with

and
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the moderate, apparently equivocal stand
the president had taken on the subject of
segregation.”>® Truman should have antic-
ipated this sort of criticism, since he had
been warned that his failure to insist on the
desegregation of institutions that receive fed-
eral aid (as well as the other anti-segregation
initiatives that his Committee on Civil Rights
had recommended) might “create the impres-
sion that the President oposses [sic]” such
anti-segregation policies.”’

In the absence of a dominant politi-
cal narrative linking segregation to White
supremacy, public opinion prior to Brown
was not predisposed to view the decision as
a historic contribution to the advancement of
human rights. A national poll taken in late
November 1948, for example, suggests that
even those who would have been regarded as
fairly liberal at the time most likely would
have possessed views on racial equality that
fell short of support for public school de-
segregation. A majority of Americans (69
percent) supported the view that “poll taxes
should be done away with.” However, a
minority of respondents indicated: that the
federal government “should have the right to
step in and deal with the crime [of lynching]”
(43 percent); that the federal government
“should go [“all” or “part of the way”] in
requiring employers to hire people without
regard to their race, religion, color, or na-
tionality” (42 percent); and that “Negroes ...
should not be required to occupy a separate
part of a train or bus when traveling from
one state to another” (49 percent).’® Any ex-
pectation that progressive opinion outside the
South might have displayed a preference for
school desegregation receives less than am-
ple support when one considers the marginal
differences recorded for the responses of non-
southerners to the same questions in a poll
taken in 1949.%

Circumstances following the presidential
election of 1952—in which Dwight
Eisenhower, while not ignoring African
Americans, appealed to and won a significant
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portion of the southern White vote—
provided even less fertile ground for the con-
struction of media frames that would enhance
Brown s reputation by revealing a connection
between segregation and White supremacy.®
Whether or not there is any validity to the
argument of some scholars that Eisenhower
pursued a ‘“hidden-hand” strategy in the
realm of civil rights during his eight years in
office, the fact remains that his public state-
ments did not convey much of a sense that he
was committed to bringing about significant
change in American race relations.®! With
specific reference to Brown, Eisenhower
did not publicly champion the view that the
decision made an important contribution to
the achievement of racial equality or that
desegregation was a moral imperative. Much
to the dismay of Chief Justice Earl Warren,
the president repeatedly refused to endorse
the desegregation decision.®?

When presented with the opportunity
during the Little Rock crisis to offer instruc-
tion on the oppressive nature of segregation,
Eisenhower chose, instead, to prevaricate.
Had the recently-reelected president decided
to use his personal popularity and the prestige
of his office to support the cause of de-
segregation, he hardly could have hoped for
more favorable circumstances. Aside from
the fact that television had become estab-
lished in most American households by the
mid-1950s, Thomas Leonard observes that
“Little Rock’s troubles reached a viewing
public that dwarfed the television audience
when the [1950s] began: eighty-five percent
of all homes were watching for five hours a
day.”®* Additionally, as Sasha Torres main-
tains, “Little Rock was the perfect story
for network news. It was oversaturated with
dramatic images, and it satisfied television’s

764 However,

craving for moral absolutes.
after reporters asked the president to convey
a message on desegregation to youngsters,
Eisenhower “repeated the mantra of southern
Whites that ‘it is difficult through law and

through force to change a man’s heart.’”%
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He also failed to distinguish between the
causes of the NAACP and the Ku Klux Klan
when he condemned “extremists” on both
sides of the issue. The president even ob-
served empathetically that “[t]here are very
strong emotions on the [segregation] side,
people that see a picture of mongrelization
of the race.”®® And, in his formal address to
the nation on desegregation in Little Rock,
Eisenhower offset his declaration that “[m]ob
rule cannot be allowed to override the deci-
sions of our courts” with the statement that
“loJur personal opinions about the [Brown)
decision have no bearing on the matter of
enforcement.”®’

In their study of media and Eisenhower’s
crisis rhetoric, Steven Goldzwig and George
Dionisopoulos observe that the president’s
Little Rock “address conspicuously avoided
the ethical questions raised by resistance to
desegregation.” They also contend that,

given the widespread public ac-
counts of President Eisenhower’s
feelings about the Supreme Court’s
integration decision, his sympathy
for the South, and his concerns for
the doctrine of states’ rights, ... the
president may have inadvertently
given comfort to the very extremists
he decried in his televised address.®

Studies of the print media coverage of
particular racial events in the years immedi-
ately following the Brown decision illustrate
the connection between contemporary politi-
cal narratives that did not challenge the dom-
inant, benign characterization of segregation
and the frames used to report those events.
For all the media attention that the murder
of Emmett Till received, for example, “the
story was framed as a social aberration rather
than representative of a systemic problem.”®”
With regard to coverage of the freedom
riders, Richard Lentz points out that, while
“Time and Newsweek magazines criticized
the outrageous collapse of order in Alabama”
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that permitted White mobs to attack the
riders, Time offset its “stinging rebuke to the
[state’s] officials” with a “cold disdain for the
agitators of CORE,” who “‘were...hunting
for trouble—and found more of it than they
wanted.””’® (A majority of Americans shared
this sentiment, as 64 percent of respondents
to a 1961 Gallup poll indicated that they
“disapprove of what the ‘freedom riders’ are
doing.”)”!

Similarly, Melissa Hickman Barlow ob-
serves in her study of the coverage given
to race and crime in 7Time and Newsweek
magazines that there was a “common ten-
dency” in reports on civil rights events like
the Little Rock crisis “to condemn those
engaged in violence against Blacks, while at
the same time intimating that the real vic-
tims [we]re those [‘moderates’] not directly
involved on either side of the struggles.” In
addition, “the white mobs, though clearly
portrayed negatively and as in the wrong,
were portrayed as mobs who [sic] were
passionate about their segregationist cause,
rather than as individual criminals.”’? Not
surprisingly, then, in addition to the polls
discussed earlier that evidenced the country’s
unenthusiastic embrace of Brown from the
mid-1950s to early 1960s, a Gallup poll taken
in May of 1959 found that 53 percent of
Americans believed that the desegregation
decision caused a lot more trouble than it was
worth.”?

“We Are Confronted Primarily with a
Moral Issue”

Following the Eisenhower presidency, a
changed political response to highly visible,
violent racial events presented much more
favorable circumstances for the improvement
of Brown s reputation through the construc-
tion of media frames that would character-
ize segregation as a form of racial oppres-
sion. The actual or anticipated violence that
greeted peaceful demonstrators in southern
cities in 1963, as well as subsequent civil
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rights events, contributed to a significant shift
in the tone and substance of presidential
rhetoric—rhetoric that would echo the ap-
peals to morality and patriotism of prominent
activists, and was calculated to secure the
passage of desegregation legislation. Such
changes in presidential rhetoric acquired
added force because of the example John F.
Kennedy set of using television to commu-
nicate directly with the nation. Furthermore,
as William Lunch observes, it was “during
the Kennedy administration that the networks
increased the length of their nightly news pro-
grams from fifteen minutes to half an hour,”
broadcasts that “focused on national politics
and presented the president in the accepted
context as the dominant, even commanding,
figure in the national government.”’”* All
of these developments focused the nation’s
attention on the institutional manifestations
of southern racism, and eventually inspired
anti-segregation legislation that was of such
moment that it eventually led southerners
to abandon the New Deal coalition to the
detriment of the Democratic party’s dominant
national alliance.

The impetus this fundamental
transformation of American politics was a
loss of patience by civil rights advocates
with the continued unwillingniess of national
politicians to press for meaningful change in
race relations. The civil rights posture of the
Kennedy administration proved distressingly
familiar to civil rights groups. Emulating the
Truman administration, Kennedy pursued a
moderate civil rights policy in an effort
to appeal to African-American voters
without alienating southern segregationists.”
Convinced that such caution was merely
racial conservatism masquerading as political
prudence, the Reverend Martin Luther King
Jr. and the leaders of the Southern Christian
Leadership Conference (SCLC) planned a
series of demonstrations for May of 1963 in
Birmingham, Alabama—generally regarded
as the most segregated city in the South—
with the intention of focusing the nation’s

for
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attention on the oppressiveness of segrega-
tion and forcing substantive legal reforms.
There was certainly the potential for a public
reckoning with the nature of segregation, as
over 250 journalists from this country and
around the world covered the event. The
city’s police commissioner, Eugene “Bull”
Connor, who chose to respond violently when
the SCLC staged its Children’s Crusade,
ensured that news viewers and readers across
the country witnessed the club-wielding
patrolmen, vicious police dogs, and high-
pressure water hoses that he unleashed upon
the peaceful, very youthful protesters.’®

After Birmingham-inspired demonstra-
tions spread to almost 180 cities (resulting in
some 15,000 arrests nationwide) over a six-
week period, President Kennedy concluded
that the avoidance of widespread racial vi-
olence required national legislation to dis-
mantle segregation.”” On the occasion of
Governor George Wallace’s defiance of a
federal court order to desegregate the Univer-
sity of Alabama, the president announced his
initiative in a televised address, using rhetoric
that acknowledged the oppressive nature of
segregation and appealed to Americans in
explicitly moral and patriotic terms. Racial
equality, he declared, was not a “sectional,”
“partisan,” or “even a legal or legislative
issue alone.” Rather, “[w]e are confronted
primarily with a moral issue. It is as old as
the Scriptures and is as clear as the Amer-
ican Constitution.” Kennedy added: “One
hundred years of delay have passed since
President Lincoln freed the slaves, yet their
heirs, their grandsons,” “are not yet freed
from social and economic oppression.” The
president reminded his national audience
that “[tJoo many Negro children entering
segregated grade schools at the time of the
Supreme Court’s [Brown] decision nine years
ago will enter segregated high schools this
fall, having suffered a loss which can never
be restored.”’®

In sharp contrast to the confined rhetoric
that Presidents Truman and Eisenhower used
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when discussing the matter of racial inequity,
as Goldzwig and Dionisopoulos maintain in
their study of Kennedy’s civil rights dis-
course, the president sought to secure anti-
segregation legislation by exploiting “the
mythic moralist stance of the American
Dream” and “serving as a sort of televan-
gelist of American democratic ideals.” In
making “a conscious appeal to American
morality” in his “deliberative and epideictic
address,” they contend, “Kennedy had made
the long and difficult transition from ‘princi-
pled bystander’ to public advocate” for racial
justice.”

To help ensure that the president would
not allow his civil rights bill to die in
Congress, Martin Luther King and other
activists organized a “March on Washington”
for August 28th, at which the civil rights
leader would deliver his own anti-segregation
appeal to the more than 200,000 people in
attendance and to a national television
audience.®’ King began his address—which
would combine a moralistic message with
strong patriotic themes—by connecting the
contemporary demand for civil rights with
the work of the “great American, in whose
symbolic shadow we stand today, [who]
signed the Emancipation Proclamation.”
Lamentably, King noted, “the Negro is still
crippled by the manacles of segregation
and the chains of discrimination” a century
after Lincoln’s historic act. He comforted
his listeners with the hopeful affirmation,
“I still have a dream,” one that he said was
“deeply rooted in the American dream that
one day this nation will rise up and live out
the true meaning of its creed—we hold these
truths to be self-evident, that all men are
created equal.” Concluding with a similar
mixture of patriotic and religious references,
he declared that when Americans “allow
freedom to ring,” they “will speed up the day
when all of God’s children—Black men and
White men, Jews and Gentiles, Catholics and
Protestants—will be able to join hands and
to sing the words of the old Negro spiritual,
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Peaceful protestor Walter Gadsden, age 17, was attacked by police dogs on May 3, 1963, in Birmingham during
a civil rights protest. More than half the respondents of a Gallup poll that year identified racial problems as the
most important issue facing the nation.

‘Free at last, free at last; thank God Almighty,
we are free at last.”®!

The moralistic anti-segregation mes-
sages of Kennedy and King were tragically
reinforced, as was the connection between
segregation and violence, through the con-
temporaneous creation of civil rights mar-
tyrs. The day after the president delivered
his civil rights address, Medgar Evers, the
NAACP’s field secretary in Mississippi and
a decorated veteran of the Second World
War, was shot outside his home in Jackson.
Not three weeks after King spoke of his
dream for the nation, a bombing of the
Sixteenth Street Baptist Church in Birm-
ingham killed four young African-American
girls who were waiting for the church service
to begin. In June of 1964, three civil rights
workers—James Chaney, Andrew Goodman,

and Michael Schwerner—disappeared after
being arrested near Philadelphia, Mississippi.
Their mutilated bodies would be found in
early August.®?

While President Kennedy’s assassination
on November 22, 1963, was not connected
to the southern defense of segregation, his
successor to the office of the presidency
would portray him as a martyr for the cause
of civil rights. In his address to a joint session
of Congress five days after Kennedy’s death,
Lyndon B. Johnson declared that “no memo-
rial, oration, or eulogy could more eloquently
honor President Kennedy’s memory than the
carliest possible passage of the civil rights
bill for which he fought so long.”® Around
six weeks later, Johnson would echo the
moralistic civil rights messages of Kennedy
and King in his first State of the Union
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address. After summarizing ambitious inter-
national and domestic agendas, with special
emphasis given to the “war against poverty,”
the new president sought to “make one
principle of this administration abundantly
clear: All of these increased opportunities—
in employment, in education, in housing, and
in every field—must be open to Americans
of every color.” He insisted that “this is
not merely an economic issue, or a social,
political, or international issue. It is a moral
issue.”84

The marked shift in tone that Presidents
Kennedy and Johnson employed was neces-
sary but not sufficient to secure passage of
the Civil Rights Act, since the stalwart op-
position of southern Democrats was not the
only obstacle to reform. Republican concerns
over the proposed legislation were assuaged
by presidential reassurances that thirty states
(i.e., outside the South) were already in
compliance with the bill’s provision to end
racial segregation in public accommodations
(Title II), and by a legislative compromise
that afforded private employers a credible
level of protection against the employment
discrimination provision (Title VII). Repub-
licans did not regard Title VI’s ban on federal
funding of racially discriminatory programs
(including segregated schooling) as much of
a threat because the provision was under-
stood to exclude the de facto segregation
that characterized northern public schools,
even though (as national officials would be
advised in the very near future following
widespread racial violence in urban areas of
the North and West) de facto segregation was
a consequence of racist housing and zoning
policies.®

Following the defeat of a historic south-
ern filibuster, the president signed the Civil
Rights Act into law on July 2, 1964. In
his comments marking the occasion, Johnson
echoed themes from his earlier statements
regarding the need for the law’s protections.
He stressed that it is not only the “principles
of our freedom” and “[o]ur Constitution,
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the foundation of our Republic,” that forbid
the deprivation of those rights to millions
of Americans; “[m]orality forbids it” as
well. The president then introduced a new
theme—that the Civil Rights Act reflected
a national consensus. The legislation, he
observed, “received the bipartisan support of
more than two-thirds of the Members of both
the House and the Senate,” and the votes of
an “overwhelming majority of Republicans
as well as Democrats.” Offering an olive
branch to southerners, whose representatives
were not part of that consensus, the president
suggested that the law’s “purpose is not to
divide, but to end divisions.” “Its purpose is
national, not regional.”%® However, since the
legislative consensus was achieved through
an understanding that the bill focused on the
de jure segregation of the South (and that was
at issue in Brown), and did not include the
de facto segregation that characterized other
parts of the country, this effort to downplay
the sectional emphasis of the measure was
rather disingenuous.

The passage of the Civil Rights Act was
followed by another legislative event that
would further alienate southerners while con-
tributing to more favorable circumstances for
the improvement of Brown s reputation. The
context surrounding this legal development
would inspire moralistic presidential rhetoric
intended, in this instance, to overcome the
disenfranchisement of African Americans,
which had served to maintain racial seg-
regation. Although President Johnson was
predisposed to favor legislation that would
help compensate for the Democratic party’s
loss of southern White voters by restricting
the ability of southern officials to institute
racially discriminatory voting regulations, his
cautiousness prompted civil rights advocates
to pursue the same strategy that led to the
Civil Rights Act.

Dallas County, Alabama, Sheriff Jim
Clark accommodated the strategists’ plans
by inflicting highly visible, shocking brutal-
ity upon peaceful protestors who sought to
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dramatize racial discrimination in southern
voting by marching from Selma to Mont-
gomery on March 7, 1965. The willingness of
Alabamians to resort to extreme forms of vi-
olence in order to preserve White supremacy
was on full display not only on what became
known as “Bloody Sunday,” but also with
the notorious murders of civil rights activists
Jimmie Lee Jackson, James Reeb, William
Moore, and Viola Liuzzo.%’

In response to large demonstrations in
a number of citiecs, and to the sustained
criticism of liberal politicians and civil rights
leaders who were impatient with the presi-
dent’s temporizing, Johnson announced that
he would introduce voting rights legislation
to Congress. In a speech delivered to the
members of both houses of that body and
televised to some 70 million Americans,
Johnson drew heavily upon the themes of
patriotism and morality to make his point.
He characterized the events “last week in
Selma, Alabama,” as “a turning point in
man’s unending search for freedom,” as was
the case “at Lexington and Concord.” He
noted that, in Selma, “long-suffering men
and women peacefully protested the denial
of their rights as Americans” but “were
brutally assaulted.” Invoking the martyred
White Unitarian minister, James Reeb, the
president lamented that “[o]ne good man, a
man of God, was killed.” Yet he identified
“the American Negro” as the “real hero
of this struggle,” since “[h]is actions and
protests, his courage to risk safety and even
his life, have awakened the conscience of
this nation” and “called upon us to make
good the promise of America.” Echoing
the anthem of civil rights activists, Johnson
proclaimed that “we shall overcome” the
“crippling legacy of bigotry and injustice.”
Although he sought to assuage southern sen-
sibilities by acknowledging that the scourge
of racial oppression was a national rather
than a regional phenomenon, he nevertheless
assigned moral culpability to the South when
he confessed: “[As] a man whose roots
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go deeply into Southern soil, I know how
agonizing racial feelings are. 1 know how
difficult it is to reshape the attitudes and
structure of society.”8

In his analysis of Johnson’s voting
rights address, Garth Pauley contends that
the president both “repeated arguments that
African American activists had long ad-
vanced” and “appropriated the discursive
tactics and strategies” that these individuals
employed. Specifically, Johnson enhanced his
effort to “contextualize[] the current civil
rights struggle as part of a larger, transhistor-
ical struggle for the United States to fulfill
its divine promise and to do God’s will on
earth” by “play[ing] the role of the nation’s
prophet/priest.” The “tone of [the president’s]
voice, his speaking rate, and his vocal em-
phasis” enabled him to address his listeners
in “the persona of a preacher; not that of a
hellfire-and-brimstone evangelical, but rather
the persona of a solemn minister.”®’

The minister to whom Johnson was most
rhetorically indebted focused squarely on
the southern version of racial oppression
in a speech he delivered to some 30,000
people eighteen days after Bloody Sunday.
The occasion for Martin Luther King’s ad-
dress was the completion of the march from
Selma to Montgomery, made possible by
the federalization of the National Guard of
Alabama, among other forms of national
support.”® King declared that, “[i]n focusing
the attention of the nation and the world today
on the flagrant denial of the right to vote, we
are exposing the very origin, the root cause,
of racial segregation in the Southland.” Re-
jecting the conventional view that Jim Crow
“[came] about as a natural result of hatred
between the races immediately after the Civil
War,” he drew upon “the noted historian, C.
Vann Woodward,” who “clearly points out
[that] the segregation of the races was really a
political stratagem employed by the emerging
Bourbon [plantation and industrial] interests
in the South.” Segregation “told [the White
worker] that no matter how bad off he was,
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at least he was a White man, better than the
Black man.” But the system that cultivated
this sense of racial superiority through the
oppression of Blacks had a substantial eco-
nomic drawback for working-class Whites, in
that it enabled plantation and mill owners to
use the threat of cheap Black labor to keep
workers’ wages artificially low. By securing
“the free exercise of the ballot by the Negro,”
the protestors would bring an end to a form
of economic injustice that transcended racial
categories, as well as to an “evil” system of
racial oppression. Combining his historical
discussion with appeals to patriotism and
morality, King reminded those before him
of the individuals who made the ultimate
sacrifice to “continue our triumphant march
to the realization of the American dream.”
“[W]e must go on and be sure,” he declared,
that “Medgar Evers, three civil rights workers
in Mississippi last summer, William Moore,”
“Reverend James Reeb, Jimmy Lee Jackson,
and four little girls in the church of God in
Birmingham on Sunday morning” “did not
die in vain.”®"'

While King would later become the most
celebrated martyr for the cause of racial
justice, he lived to witness the fulfillment
of the voting rights campaign. Following
the passage of the Voting Rights Act of
1965, he heard President Johnson remark in a
national address: “It was only at Appomattox,
a century ago, that an American victory was
also a Negro victory. And the two rivers—one
shining with promise, the other dark-stained
with oppression—began to move toward one
another.” With the Voting Rights Act, “the
Negro story and the American story fuse and
blend.” Indicating that the national consensus
over voting rights did not include the South,
he announced that his administration would
commence lawsuits over poll taxes in Mis-
sissippi, Texas, Alabama, and Virginia, and
would soon “designate many counties where
past experience clearly shows that Federal ac-
tion is necessary and required” to “registerf]
eligible men and women” to vote.”
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Those residing in the targeted states
took slight comfort in Johnson’s reassurance
that “there is always room for understand-
ing toward those who see the old ways
crumbling.”®® In fact, the Voting Rights Act
accelerated the exodus of southerners from
the Democratic Party, which had begun in
earnest following the passage of the Civil
Rights Act. As Richard Bensel notes, “[t]he
89th Congress (1965-66) marked the end of
New Deal coalition effectiveness,” because
“the enactment of major civil rights legisla-
tion [by that body] destabilized the political
hegemony of the plantation elite within the
South and signaled a more or less explicit
campaign to turn the Democratic party into a
truly national working-class organization.”**

Brown’s Reputation Ascendant

There is considerable evidence that the
pressure from civil rights demonstrations that
prompted a shift in the manner in which
Presidents Kennedy and Johnson spoke about
and approached racial segregation served
to increase the salience of the issue in
the public’s political evaluations. Television
coverage vastly expanded the audience for
civil rights protests beyond those who ac-
quired their news from printed sources, and
Johnson’s demand that the networks make
television time available to him without ex-
planation ensured that the broader public
was alerted to his framing of such events
and of federal responses to them.” With
regard to print media, the percentage of total
coverage on civil rights demonstrations in
The New York Times increased from less than
one percent around the time of the Little
Rock crisis to three percent for the mid-
1960s, the years in which demonstrations
occurred in Birmingham and Selma, among
hundreds of other protest sites.”® Relatedly,
mentions of segregation in Newsweek, which
totaled almost 100 in the year that the Court
rendered Brown, increased to approximately
150 in the year of the Little Rock crisis,
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and then to 221 in the year of the Birm-
ingham and Birmingham-inspired demon-
strations. Newsweek's segregation references
remained above 100 per year until the late
1960s.”7

The impact of this increased reportage
was reflected in the percentage of Americans
identifying racial problems or civil rights
as the country’s “most important problem.”
Following the Birmingham demonstration
and the March on Washington in 1963, 52
percent of those who responded to a Gallup
poll identified racial problems as the most
important issue facing the nation, which was
more than double the percentage attributed
to the second-ranking issue, international
problems.”® The following year, racial strife
was identified as the nation’s most important
problem by at least 40 percent of respondents
in three of four polls, and was the highest-
ranking issue in two of those polls.®” In a
1965 poll taken shortly after Bloody Sunday,
52 percent of respondents identified civil
rights as the country’s most important issue.
In four subsequent polls that year, 23, 27, 17,
and 19 percent of respondents identified that
same issue as the most important problem,
with the issue ranking highest or tied for
first in two of the polls, and second in the
others.!% Civil rights would remain some-
where around half its peak level as the most
important problem until 1969.'%!

Evidence of the increased salience of
racial segregation as a policy issue, of course,
does not necessarily imply that the public
was exposed to news reports that portrayed
anti-segregation protestors as participants in
a battle against racial oppression or White
supremacy. As Richard Lentz observes, print
media reports on the events that prompted
the Democratic party’s shift toward a mean-
ingful civil rights agenda initially stressed to
the public not the heroism of the peaceful
protestors, but the threat to social order
that demonstrations presented. With regard
to Birmingham, US News & World Report
depicted Martin Luther King “as a sinister
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and ruthless leader ‘helping to mastermind
the ... protests’ and promising to escalate
demonstrations in a city already suffering
from violence.” Both Newsweek and Time
“shared a distaste for a confrontation that
they believed was forced by King, as well as
a misplaced confidence in the good will of
southern moderates.” The former publication
“chose terms ... that bespoke invasion and
militancy,” while the latter identified King
as “part of the problem because his ‘drive
inflamed tensions at a time when the city
seemed to be making some progress, however
small, in race relations.”” To be sure, reports
of the event included descriptions of the
brutality that Bull Connor unleashed on the
Children’s Crusade. However, these stories
also took King to task for jeopardizing the
safety of children.!%?

Following the March on Washington,
two of these publications revised their
assessments of King’s leadership and his
cause. Initially, Lentz notes, Newsweek was
opposed to the event, “preferring a ‘consen-
sus of conscience’ to demonstrations likely to
cause resentment among congressmen.” In a
similar manner, Time s fear of “[t]he ‘dangers
of militancy’ prompted the magazine to turn
to [the gradualism of] Roy Wilkins and the
NAACP in the weeks before the March.”
But the peaceful nature of an event of such
scale and the patriotic themes of King’s
address inspired both magazines to portray
“the March as a rite of national idealism.”
King’s reputation improved “with Time
because his oratory was ‘catching, dramatic,
inspirational,”” while Newsweek appreciated
his invocation of the Declaration of
Independence when he challenged America
to “rise up and live out the true meaning of
its creed: ‘We hold these truths to be self-
evident, that all men are created equal.”” At
the same time that these magazines revised
their views of King, “[t]hey transformed

. Bull Connor from lame-duck buffoon
to savage racist.” Lentz concludes that “the
power of King’s oration [in Washington]
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ultimately derived from the confluence of
two antithetical symbols—the Birmingham
of Bull Connor with its snarling police dogs
and lashing fire hoses, and the March with
its assemblage of Americans sharing King’s
dream of America made whole.”'?3

Interestingly, both news magazines re-
turned to the theme of social order at the
outset of events in Selma. The initial reports
from Time and Newsweek suggested that,
once again, King was preparing an unnec-
essary confrontation, to the consternation of
southern moderates. As was the case after
the March on Washington, however, both
magazines followed Bloody Sunday with
revised assessments of the parties to the
conflict. Recall that the events intervening
between the violent confrontation and the
media frame revision included a presidential
address, as well as a speech by Reverend
King to a throng of peaceful protestors. Lentz
observes that “Time sought to prove that the
cause in Selma was America’s cause,” and
contended that “President Johnson’s ‘strong,
yet measured words made it perfectly plain
that the day was not far off when all Amer-
ican citizens would be equal in the polling
place.”” Newsweek drew a contrast between
“citizens exercising their fundamental right
to protest the denial of another right that ‘is
supposed to be beyond debate [viz.] the right
to vote’” and “{Sheriff] Clark’s ‘cavalry that
mounted a Cossack charge into the scatter-
ing column,’” “‘swinging billies, brandishing
bullwhips, and chucking tear-gas grenades.’”
With regard to Johnson’s speech, the mag-
azine pointed out that “‘the first Southern
president in a century’ ... ‘had ranked the
bloodied ground of Selma...with Lexington
and Concord and Appomattox among the
great landmarks of the American quest for
freedom. 104

The magazines also acknowledged the
sacrifices of James Reeb and Viola Liuzzo.
Time suggested that, with the Reeb killing,
“[tThe ‘white racists in their blind ferocity’
had created a new martyr whose murder
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... caused ‘telegraph wires across the coun-
try [to burn] with expressions of outrage,””
“‘act of
moronic savagery [that] once again outraged

while the Liuzzo murder was an
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the national conscience.”” Newsweek com-
mented that “the march—and the outraged
reaction to Viola Liuzzo’s death on the
road from Selma—made plainer than ever
the nation’s expanding commitment to the
right of oppressed people to protest their
lot.”!03

An examination of egalitarian cues in
Newsweek over time provides another in-
dication of the impact that the political
transformation of the mid-1960s and the
attendant change in presidential rhetoric had
upon the construction of print media frames
inimical to benign characterizations of racial
segregation and that linked desegregation
efforts to the fight against White supremacy.
As Paul Kellstedt explains, “Newsweek is
framing an issue in egalitarian language
whenever it reminds its readers about that
strain of American beliefs which emphasizes
the equal worth of all people.” Egalitarian
cues “have the effect of making a connec-
tion in the minds of the American public
between a highly abstract value that most
citizens believe in—equality—and a set of
highly concrete circumstances in American
politics—the political and social position of
black Americans.” During the mid-to-late
1950s, the “battles over desegregation in the
South led to an abundance of egalitarian cues
... (including 219 in 1957 alone).” But the
“heyday of egalitarian coverage ... was in
the 1960s. In 1963, an astonishing 482 egal-
itarian cues were found in the magazine—
an average of roughly nine per week.” Civil
rights protests over segregation and the re-
lated issue of Black disenfranchisement, and
the responses to these matters by the Kennedy
and Johnson administrations—which were
“willing to engage in a very public discussion
with Martin Luther King, Jr.”—provided the
context for the stories that contained these
cues. The annual number of egalitarian cues
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Before the 1963 March on Washington (pictured are marchers on Constitution Avenue), the media urged
incrementalism and expressed concern that demonstrations and militancy might cause resentment among
congressmen. But the scale and peaceful nature of the March inspired many news outlets to see it as a crucial

moment of national idealism.

would fluctuate between 200 and 400 until
the early 1970s.'%

As with national news magazines, visual
media framing of the nature of segregation
and the goals of civil rights activists ev-
idenced the impact of altered presidential
rhetoric. Once Presidents Kennedy and John-
son “interpreted black nonviolent resistance
in the face of violent opposition in moral
terms using equalitarian ideals, the main-
stream national news media adopted that
interpretation.”'%” John Chancellor of NBC
News recalled that, for their reporting on
the southern response to anti-segregation and
voting rights demonstrations, “network jour-
nalists became famous in the North as cham-
pions of a just cause—and became infamous
in the South, where by 1963 the networks
were referred to as the African Broadcasting
Company, the Negro Broadcasting Company,
and the Colored Broadcasting Company.”!%

Polling data indicate that public opin-
ion corresponded with the news magazines’
negative framing of the tactics of the major
civil rights protests of the mid-1960s.'%
But, consistent with the magazines’ revised
assessments of King’s cause and leadership
and with television framing of the demon-
strations, Americans proved sympathetic to
the goals of civil rights activists. Several
months after the passage of the Civil Rights
Act, a Gallup poll revealed that 58 per-
cent of the public supported the legisla-
tion. And a Harris Poll conducted after
Bloody Sunday and the speeches by Presi-
dent Johnson and Martin Luther King found
that the public sided with the demonstrators
over the state of Alabama by a margin of
48 percent to 21 percent, while a Gallup
poll revealed that 76 percent of respondents
favored Johnson’s proposed voting rights
legislation.'*
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NORC polling data acquired over the
course of the Eisenhower, Kennedy, and
Johnson administrations provide a sense of
how the media’s eventual construction of
frames that characterized desegregation ef-
forts as part of a battle against racial oppres-
sion affected white attitudes toward various
forms of racial segregation. The percentage
of Whites who approved of desegregated
accommodations increased 15 points (73 per-
cent to 88 percent) from 1963 (two years
into the Kennedy presidency) to 1970 (one
year after Johnson left office), while White
acceptance of desegregated transportation in-
creased 26 percentage points (62 percent to
88 percent) from 1956 (five years into the
Eisenhower presidency) to 1970.!!!

With particular relevance to the Brown
decision, the proportion of Whites who be-
lieved that White and Black students should
attend the same schools increased 25 points
(50 percent to 75 percent) from 1956 to
1970.''2 Recall that this indirect measure for
Brown's merit is required since no polls on
that matter were taken between 1961 and
1994. It is reasonable to assume that re-
spondents’ approval of desegregated schools
would provide a fairly accurate reflection
of their acceptance of the desegregation
decision, since Gallup polls that measured
approval of Brown (and consistently used a
question that drew an explicit connection be-
tween the ruling and the matter of school seg-
regation) were nearly equivalent to relatively
contemporaneous percentages of Americans
who favored the “same schools” for Black
and White children.'!® Unlike the fluctuating
nature of the polls on Brown 5 merit that were
conducted in the years immediately following
the decision, the four polls taken during
the Kennedy and Johnson administrations
evidenced a clear upward trend in White ap-
proval of desegregated schools (from 63 per-
cent in 1963 to 71 percent in 1968).'"* Fur-
thermore, the percentage of White Americans
approving of desegregated schools indicted,
indirectly at least, that Browns reputation

313

was approaching the level one would expect
for an iconic Supreme Court ruling.

The 1967 Senate confirmation hearing
of President Johnson’s nomination of Thur-
good Marshall to the Supreme Court affords
another indirect but pertinent illustration of
the increased status that the Brown decision
had achieved in American political culture
toward the end of the Johnson administration.
The fact that “Southerners [on the Senate
Judiciary Committee] would not even al-
lude to Brown when they faced off against
Marshall,” even though he had been the
NAACP’s lead attorney when the case was
argued before the Court, spoke volumes
about the nation’s changed perception of the
nature of segregation and of the ruling that
declared that institution unconstitutional.!!3
Another example of Browns improved rep-
utation involved the deeply conservative
Nixon Supreme Court nominee, William H.
Rehnquist, who felt compelled during his
1971 confirmation hearing to send a reassur-
ing letter to the chair of the Senate Judiciary
Committee (after doubts were raised about
Rehnquist’s commitment to desegregation),
in which he declared: “I wish to state un-
equivocally that I fully support the legal
reasoning and the rightness from the stand-
point of fundamental fairness of the Brown
decision.”! 16

In view of the likelihood that the change
in the public’s view of segregated schools was
a function of the connection that Kennedy,
Johnson, King, and the media drew be-
tween segregation and racial oppression, it
is reasonable to assume, in conformity with
Charles Black’s 1960 thesis, that any change
in Browns reputation would have been a
result of Americans coming to regard the de-
cision as an attack upon a pernicious institu-
tional manifestation of White supremacy.!!”
This revision of Brown s meaning even began
to make its way into contemporary consti-
tutional scholarship. In 1968, Robert Bork,
a critic of the living Constitution jurispru-
dence that informed Brown (among many
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other Warren Court rulings), conceded that
the decision “was surely correct.”''® Two
years after Johnson left office, he echoed
Black’s theory regarding the constitutional
insignificance of the social science evidence
that Chief Justice Warren invoked; in sharp
contrast to earlier scholars who questioned
Brown's legitimacy by challenging its socio-
logical basis, Bork declared: “It has long been
obvious that the case does not rest upon the
grounds advanced in Chief Justice Warren’s
opinion, the specially harmful effects of en-
forced segregation upon black children.”!!”
While Bork struggled to provide an alterna-
tive justification for the ruling, another con-
servative jurist, J. Harvie Wilkinson, averred,
in conformity with Black’s reinterpretation of
Brown s meaning, that the decision was “one
of those last, great actions whose moral logic
seemed so uncomplex and irrefutable,” be-
cause the “opposition seemed so thoroughly
extreme, rooted as it was in notions of racial
hegemony and the constitutional premises of
John C. Calhoun.”'?°

White Backlash

Brown s status in American political cul-
ture would continue to increase after Johnson
left office. Over the course of the Nixon and
Ford presidencies, the proportion of Ameri-
cans who favored Black and White children
attending the same schools increased from 74
percent in 1970 to 85 percent in 1977. The
latter figure approximates the 88 percent ap-
proval rating that Brown received in 1994.12!
Curiously, this increase occurred in spite of
circumstances that were much less conducive
to the construction of media frames favorable
to the efforts of civil rights advocates.

The alteration of the landscape in which
the civil rights movement operated be-
gan well before the presidential election
of 1968. Five days after President John-
son signed the Voting Rights Act, devastat-
ing violence erupted in the almost-entirely
Black, economically-depressed Watts section
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of Los Angeles. The Watts unrest, which
was sparked by a confrontation between
White police officers and Black youths,
lasted nearly a week, and resulted in over
thirty deaths, some 4,000 arrests, and tens of
millions of dollars of damage from fire and
vandalism. One object lesson of Watts—that
spectacular forms of racial violence were not
limited to the South—was reinforced over the
next two years, as unrest occurred in, among
other places, Chicago, Cincinnati, Newark,
New Brunswick, and Detroit, as well as in
Tampa and Atlanta.'?

Post-mortem examinations of these in-
stances of urban violence revealed causes
that appeared more complex than the sources
of southern racial oppression, and demanded
forms of remediation even more expansive
than those recently devised for the South. The
National Advisory Commission on Civil Dis-
orders (a.k.a. the Kerner Commission), which
President Johnson established to analyze the
violence that occurred in multiple cities dur-
ing the summer of 1967, was unsparing in
its assignment of blame: “White racism is
essentially responsible for the explosive mix-
ture which has been accumulating in our
cities since the end of World War 11,” since
“discrimination in employment and educa-
tion” and the “enforced confinement [of
Blacks] in segregated housing and schools”
(i.e., the de facto segregation that was ex-
cluded from the purview of the Civil Rights
Act of 1964) have deprived “great numbers
of Negroes [of] the benefits of economic
progress.” Remedies commensurate with the
scale of the problems identified would in-
volve not only the prohibition of “residen-
tial segregation” and ‘“the ‘neighborhood
school” policy, which transfers segregation
from housing to education,” but also “a com-
mitment to national action—compassionate,
massive and sustained, backed by the re-
sources of the most powerful and the richest
nation on this earth.”!?*

The desperation evidenced in the
urban violence of the late 1960s was
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manifested as well in the splintering of the
civil rights movement. After his twenty-
arrest, which
occurred during the summer of 1966,
Stokley Carmichael, the twenty-four-year-
old head of the SNCC, began to call for
“Black Power.” This rallying cry represented
a challenge to the leadership of Martin
Luther King, as well as to White America.
In Carmichael’s view, King’s moderation and
tactic of nonviolence had made insufficient
progress toward ending poverty and hunger,
to say nothing of segregation. The meaning
ascribed to Black Power by those attracted to
the concept ranged from the achievement of
self-respect, self-reliance, and pride in Black
identity to the repudiation of King’s dream of
a racially integrated society.'?*

For his part, King feared that calls for
Black Power would weaken the civil rights
movement, while alienating Whites who
might otherwise be sympathetic to the cause
of racial justice. He remained convinced that
Jjustice would be achieved “by persons who
have the courage to put an end to suffering
by willingly suffering themselves rather than
inflict suffering upon others.”'?* And, in
contrast to “the SNCC'’s recent conclusions,”
he had not “given up on integration” and
“still believe[d] in Black and White together.”
King conceded, however, that the legislative
accomplishments that were a consequence
of the suffering endured at Birmingham and
Selma were insufficient to address the com-
plex problems of northern cities. He now
called for “an economic bill of rights” that
“would guarantee a job to all people who
want to work and are able to work,” and “an
income for all who are not able to work.”!?

At the same time that the urban unrest
of the late 1960s demonstrated the need for
tederal action that would eclipse the legisla-
tive response to southern racial injustice, it
complicated efforts to fulfill the economic
recommendations of the Kerner Commission
and Martin Luther King. President Johnson
had already linked the issue of race with his

seventh  activism-related
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War on Poverty in a speech that he delivered
at Howard University two months before the
Watts violence. After suggesting that African
Americans “are trapped—as many whites
are trapped—in inherited, gate-less poverty,”
“lack training and skills,” and “are shut in,
in slums, without decent medical care,” he
stressed that “[w]e are trying to attack these
evils through our poverty program, through
our education program, through our medical
care and our health programs, and a dozen
more of the Great Society programs that are
aimed at the root causes of this poverty.”!?’
After Reverend King championed economic
rights following the outbreak of urban vi-
olence, print media framing established a
linkage between race and poverty; prior to
this point, journalists had treated these is-
sues separately. As Paul Kellstedt observes,
“in the middle to late 1960s, several major
shifts in the tone of media coverage of race
emphasized that blacks were disproportion-
ately poor and disproportionately dependent
on government assistance.”'?® With urban
violence occurring in spite of the War on
Poverty, defenders of Johnson’s anti-poverty
initiatives, let alone proposals to address
urban unrest with yet more federal funding,
assumed an enormous burden of proof.
Televised reporting on urban violence
compounded the burden of civil rights ac-
tivists. In her study of visual media and the
unrest in Watts, Elizabeth Wheeler notes that
“the [television] journalists ‘learn[ed]” only
from the police, not from community mem-
bers or other African American leaders.” This
approach to news gathering inspired stories
in which the “Watts community becomes the
outsider who confirms the consensus among
police, TV, and imagined [White] audience”
that the violence is properly conceptualized
as “random criminal chaos” rather than “the
logical outcome of White racism.”'%”
National news magazines further under-
cut economic proposals to address racial vi-
olence when stories on urban unrest adopted
the perspective of law enforcement officials
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over that of civil rights advocates. Melissa
Hickman Barlow points out that Time s cover
story on the violence in Watts went so far
as to place much of the blame for the
devastation on failed Black leadership, while
Newsweek’s cover story on the challenges
facing big city police departments acknowl-
edged no distinction between Black political
violence and the generic issue of crime.
Rather than examine the economic depriva-
tion and discrimination that King identified
as the sources of Black rage, the article
drew a contrast between police officers who
“struggled to achieve middle-class status”
and “the very different values of the slum.”
Both magazines continued to favor law en-
forcement accounts of urban violence in
cover stories devoted to the summer unrest
of 1967. Newsweek “described the situation
that triggered the violence [in Detroit] as a
‘trivial police incident’” and ascribed “partial
blame [to] Black Power ‘demagogues.’ Time
likewise indicated that the unrest in Detroit
was “sparked by routine police actions” and
added that “the riots [were] unjustified be-
cause of the Great Society programs.” The
magazine’s article on the turmoil in Newark
suggested “that Blacks had nothing to com-
plain about,” and stressed that the violence
“was often directed toward innocent white
victims.”!30

The assassination of Martin Luther King
in April of 1968 dealt a tremendous blow
to efforts to respond to urban unrest through
economic redistribution, as well as to the civil
rights movement generally. The murder felled
the most visible proponent of economic jus-
tice and prompted violence in more than 130
cities, resulting in forty-six deaths, thousands
of injuries, over 20,000 arrests, and approx-
imately $100 million in property damage.'3!
National newsmagazines responded to King’s
death by leaving undisturbed the existing
media narrative regarding the nature and
causes of urban violence. Richard Lentz ob-
serves that Time and Newsweek dealt with the
emphasis that King placed on the connection
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between racial and economic injustice by
effectively ignoring the argument and substi-
tuting a “benign, reformist image of King.”
They presented King “as a heroic moderate
opposed to [Black Power] extremists,” and
as a man whose contribution to the cause of
racial justice “was essentially limited to his
role as a prophet from the South, the man who
had destroyed Jim Crow.”!3?

The changed circumstances in which
civil rights activists operated had negative
consequences for public opinion as it per-
tained to matters relevant to their movement.
By the late 1960s, increased anxiety over
social disorder overtook concern for civil
rights among the items identified as the coun-
try’s “most important problem.” In 1968, 29
percent of respondents to a Gallup poll iden-
tified “crime and lawlessness (includfing]
riots, looting, [and] juvenile delinquency)”
as the nation’s most important issue, sec-
ond only to the Vietnam war (52 percent)
and ranked above concern for race relations
(13 percent).'*> Relatedly, 47 percent of
individuals who lived in large cities indicated
that same year that “shooting is the best way”
to deal with “anyone found looting stores
during race riots.” The preceding year, 76
percent of Whites who lived in large cities
believed that “Negroes are treated the same
as whites” in their community.’** And, in a
survey carried out for the Kerner Commis-
sion, only 19 percent of respondents to an
open-ended question regarding the reasons
for racial inequality in jobs, education, and
housing identified racial discrimination as a
primary cause, while “the largest proportion
of answers attributed Black disadvantage
to lack of motivation (for example, ‘not
trying’).”!3%

Richard Nixon’s 1968 presidential cam-
paign exploited and reinforced the White
backlash against the civil rights movement
that urban unrest had inspired, and which,
along with the increasing unpopularity of the
Vietnam War, had convinced Johnson not
to seek reelection.’® Early that year, Nixon
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“condemned the official Kerner Commission
report on civil disorders for blaming ‘every-
body for the riots except the perpetrators of
violence’ and promised ‘retaliation against
the perpetrators’ that would be ‘swift and
sure.”1%7

Nixon returned to these themes in his
acceptance speech at the Republican National
Convention. “As we look at America,” he
began, “we see cities enveloped in smoke
and flame. We hear sirens in the night.” He
then drew a sharp contrast between those
responsible for “unprecedented lawlessness”
and “unprecedented racial violence” and “the
great majority of Americans, the forgot-
ten Americans—the non-shouters, the non-
demonstrators,” who “are not racists or sick”
and “are not guilty of the crime that plagues
the land.” Observing that “there is no quarrel
between order and progress,” he vowed to
“re-establish freedom from fear in America.”
And “to those who say that law and order
is the code word for racism,” he empha-
sized that “[oJur goal is justice for every
American.” He made clear, however, that
racial justice and the War on Poverty (not to
mention proposals for additional assistance
to urban communities) were mutually exclu-
sive. In spite of “hav[ing] been deluged by
government programs for the unemployed,
programs for the cities, programs for the
poor,” he asserted, “we have reaped from
these programs an ugly harvest of frustration,
violence and failure across the land.”!3®

Although Nixon received less than one
Black vote in ten, he prevailed in the general
election over Hubert Humphrey, 301 elec-
toral votes to 191. The remaining 46 votes
were awarded to the third-party candidate,
George Wallace, whose populist campaign
and racial conservatism captured five states
in the Deep South. This election revealed
that, even though the South had not yet fully
embraced the Republicans, the opposition
of that region to the civil rights legislation
of the mid-1960s portended the demise of
the Democratic party’s dominant national
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alliance.'3® As Hugh Davis Graham suggests,
“the combined Nixon-Wallace [popular] vote
in 1968 arguably represented a conservative
majority of 57 percent,” which “appears in
retrospect to have displaced the Democrats as
the ‘normal’ majority of American presiden-
tial contests.”!

Preserving Brown’s Status by Limiting
Its Scope

At first glance, the White backlash that
was so damaging to the aspirations of the
civil rights movement in the late 1960s and
that contributed to the election of Richard
Nixon seems to have had few negative reper-
cussions for the Brown decision. Indeed,
NORC polls conducted in 1970 and 1972
revealed that the percentage of Americans
who said they believed that White and Black
students should attend the same schools in-
creased 12 points—from 74 percent to 86
percent.'4!

Howard Schuman and his colleagues
point us toward an explanation of this
anomaly when they contend that “the data
indicate that there [was] no longer an attempt
by any significant number of Americans to
justify segregation in principle, and that this
evolution occurred steadily not only through
the 1970s but indeed to the present day”
(i.e., 1997). Schuman also observes that this
“liberal leap” in opinion was in significant
measure a southern phenomenon.'#?

Earl Black’ study of segregation as a
campaign issue in southern gubernatorial
contests provides some insight into the
regional opinion shift to which Schuman
refers. Following Browns legal challenge
to the South’s racial caste system, Black
observes, “militant segregationists
elected governor of every southern state at
some point.” However, several variables—
including social and economic trends like
urbanization and industrialization, the
decrease of the relative size of the Black

Wwere

population, and “such spectacular political
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events as the Brown decision, the civil rights
movement, the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and
the Voting Rights Act of 1965”—reshaped
“the milieu of southern electoral politics”
by the 1970s. “In most Peripheral South
campaigns the principle of racial segregation
[became] a dead or dying issue,” while
“truculent demands for the preservation of
racial segregation [were] replaced by more
euphemistic language in the Deep South.”
In other words, agreement on the general
principle of desegregation did not suggest
a liberalization of views regarding what
that principle implied in practice. Rather,
the “considerable progress [that] ha[d] been
made, in many states, toward eliminating or
reducing the explicitness of the more blatant
forms of race baiting” was offset by the fact
that many White candidates ‘“have found
and will continue to find [less overt] ways to
appeal to anti-[B]lack prejudices.”'*

Public opinion data regarding the pace
of desegregation corroborate Earl Black’
argument that the legacy of the civil rights
movement did not extend much beyond the
achievement of consensus on abstract princi-
ple and, relatedly, rendering explicit defenses
of White supremacy politically unpalatable.
The data also reveal that resistance to deseg-
regation in practice was in no way limited to
the South. For, in 1966, the year following
the unrest in Watts, 52 percent of Whites
outside the South indicated in a Gallup poll
that the Johnson administration was “pushing
integration too fast.” That figure represented
an increase of 18 percent from 1965, the year
in which the Voting Rights Act became law
and not so long after the passage of the Civil
Rights Act of 1964.!%4

Additional evidence that resistance to
desegregation efforts extended beyond the
South is seen in Institute for Social Research
(ISR) polls that allowed respondents who
were asked about segregation in general to se-
lect the option “something in between” “strict
segregation” or “desegregation.” While the
proportion of respondents selecting strict
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segregation decreased from 25 percent in
1963 to 11 percent in 1976, and the percent-
age favoring desegregation increased from 27
to 36 during that same period, “something in
between” those options was overwhelmingly
the public’s preferred choice in those (and
other) years (48 percent in 1963, and 53
percent in 1976). Schuman points out that
“[bleginning about 1970 [the desegregation]
response showed a tradeoff with the vague
middle response ‘something in between,””
and that “this effect occurred almost entirely
in the North and was especially pronounced
among the college-educated.”'*

A 1970 Gallup poll that focused on
public education indicated that 46 percent of
White respondents thought that “the racial
integration of schools in the United States
is going too fast.”® That same year, a
Harris poll revealed that only 59 percent of
Americans agreed with the statement that
the “[i]ntegration of schools has been the
law of the land since 1954 and it was about
time to enforce the law.”'*” Along the same
lines, ISR polls indicated that support among
Whites for federal intervention into public
school desegregation decreased from 48 per-
centin 1966 to 21 percent ten years later. Pro-
viding context for this sizable shift in White
opinion, Schuman avers that “[sjupport for
federal desegregation efforts was high in the
early [to mid-] 1960s, especially among more
educated Northern Whites, because attention
was focused on ending de jure segregation in
the South. The media presented the federal
effort as essential in the face of crude and
often violent attempts by Southern Whites to
circumvent decisions of the Supreme Court
that required an end to enforced segregation
of schooling.” However, “Northern support
began to erode at the beginning of the
1970s, when attention shifted to altering
de facto segregation in the North, espe-
cially but not only through court-ordered
busing.” 48

Contrary to the presumption of inno-
cence that informed northern opposition to
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In 1973 students in Charlotte, North Carolina, were bused to integrate schools. A 1970 Gallup poll indicated that
46 percent of White respondents thought that “the racial integration of schools in the United States is going too
fast.”

busing, de facto school segregation in the
North, Midwest, and West was not the un-
intended consequence of the free choices
of individuals. Rather, as Richard Roth-
stein explains (echoing the insights of the
Kerner Commission), it was a function of
public policies that effectively segregated
every metropolitan area in the United States.
Racial zoning ordinances, racist public hous-
ing programs, government enforcement of
racially restrictive covenants, and the im-
pact that racial discrimination in employ-
ment and the criminal justice system had
on the incomes of African Americans all
contributed to housing patterns that created
racially homogeneous schools outside the
South.'#

Northern opposition to court-ordered
busing as a remedy for de facto school segre-
gation was preceded by southern resistance to
the same remedy in cases of de jure segrega-

tion. Some federal judges in the South viewed
busing as the only means by which they could
satisfy the Supreme Court’s 1968 directive in
Green v. County School Board of New Kent
County, which, in rejecting an ineffective
“freedom of choice” school desegregation
plan, required “a plan that promises realis-
tically to work, and promises realistically to
2150 A district court judge’s use
of busing to desegregate the enormous 550-
square mile Charlotte-Mecklenburg school
system, in which Black students were con-
centrated in one quadrant of the city, was
at issue in Swann v. Charlotte-Mecklenburg
Board of Education. In this 1971 case, the
Supreme Court held that “the remedial tech-
niques used in the District Court’s order were
within that court’s power to provide equitable
relief,” and that “implementation of the de-
cree is well within the capacity of the school
authority.”'>!

work now.



320

The salience of the busing issue and the
likelihood that the Court’s ruling in Swann
would be controversial were revealed in a
Gallup poll conducted the preceding year.
An impressive 94 percent of the respondents
indicated awareness of the busing issue, and
86 percent of those individuals said that
they opposed this practice. While not provid-
ing specifics, the pollsters emphasized that
“Southerners are most opposed to busing, but
regional differences are not great.”!>?

Richard Nixon would do his part to resist
court-ordered busing, although—consistent
with non-southern opinion, which was con-
tent to support desegregation efforts so long
as they were restricted to the South—he
was less concerned with preventing busing
in cases of de jure segregation in the South
than de facto segregation in the North. Not
surprisingly, he did not always clarify this
distinction in his public pronouncements
on the matter.* The Nixon administration
did not offer much resistance to busing
in the Charlotte-Mecklenburg school system
when the Swann case was argued before the
Supreme Court, though the administration
did allow that it “did not think ‘the Fourteenth
Amendment granted students an absolute
right to attend school with children of other
134 After the Court approved the
lower court’s use of busing in Swann, Nixon
stated that whatever he had “said that is in-
consistent with the Supreme Court’s decision
1s now moot and irrelevant,” since “nobody,
including the President of the United States,
is above the law as it is finaily determined by
the Supreme Court of the United States.” He
added, however, that, since the Court “did not
deal with the problem of de facto segregation
as it exists in the North and perhaps as it may
eventually exist in the South,” he would “hold
to [his] original position[] ... that [he did] not
believe that busing to achieve racial balance
is in the interests of better education.”'?

Nixon would speak again on busing as it
pertained to de facto school segregation in the
North when it became clear that the matter

races.
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would be “the charged racial issue in [the
presidential election of] 1972.”1% The matter
came before the Supreme Court in Keyes v.
Denver School District No. 1, the first non-
southern school segregation case to which
the justices gave plenary consideration.'s’
With the case originally scheduled for oral
argument in April (only to be delayed until
the fall), Nixon gave a televised address in
March in which he called upon Congress to
adopt a moratorium on court-ordered busing.
Although the moratorium did not become
law, Matthew Delmont contends that Nixon
“cemented his stature as the nation’s most
influential critic of school desegregation.”!®
The president received positive reinforce-
ment from a Gallup poll conducted shortly
after his address, which revealed that 66 per-
cent of the respondents favored his proposal,
with just 25 percent opposed. An August
Gallup poll, in which most respondents chose
busing (along with welfare) when asked to
identify the social issue that would be most
important to them in determining their choice
for president, indicated the political relevance
of the issue.'?

The ruling in Keyes—that district-wide
busing is permissible if school administrators
are found to have engaged in intentional
racial discrimination toward one part of
the district—came after Nixon comfortably
won reelection. Public opinion ran decidedly
against the Court in the year prior to and
the years following the decision. In a 1972
ISR poll, only five percent of respondents
favored busing children out of their own
neighborhoods in order to achieve racial
integration, as compared to 85 percent who
were willing to sacrifice integration so as to
keep children in their neighborhood schools.
The percentage favoring out of neighborhood
busing remained the same in polls conducted
in 1974 and 1976, while the preference
for neighborhood schools stayed above 80
percent.160

Such opinion polls suggest that busing
would have been controversial even in the
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(From left) Lawyers George E.C. Hayes, Thurgood Marshall, and James M. Nabrit Jr. celebrated their victory in
Brown on the steps of the Supreme Court. However, in the years ahead, the Supreme Court would essentially
decline to allow Brown’s desegregation potential to expand to include regions of the country that were beyond the

focus of the civil rights movement in the mid-1960s.

absence of the racial animosity that the urban
unrest of the mid-1960s generated. As J.
Harvie Wilkinson explains, busing to de-
segregate “presuppose[s] inconvenience: that
schools nearer home be bypassed for schools
farther away, if racial balance [is] thereby
improved.”'®! However, Kellstedt avers that
the Black poverty and dependence stereotype
that the print media perpetuated following
the outbreak of urban violence in the mid-

1960s was reinforced by stories in the early
1970s when the busing issue came to the fore,
“with Newsweek making approximately one
mention [of the stereotype] per issue over this
time span.”'%* Anxiety over imagined racial
deficiencies was thus added to the matter of
personal inconvenience when courts sought
to desegregate schools by busing students.

In addition to print publication perpet-
uation of the poverty and dependence racial
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stereotype, television framing of the bus-
ing issue reinforced White backlash against
school desegregation efforts. Delmont ob-
serves that extensive national news coverage
of desegregation efforts in Boston in the mid-
1970s was “without regard for the history
of school segregation that led to the court
orders,” since the reports failed to point out
that de facto (like de jure) segregation was
the result of intentional discriminatory public
policies. Furthermore, “[u]nlike earlier civil
rights struggles in the South, media cover-
age of Boston presented no specific black
students—like Elizabeth Eckford and the
Little Rock Nine ...-- whose rights seemed
to be at stake.” And, “[w]hile not overtly
sympathetic to the white protestors, national
television coverage legitimated the view that
‘busing” was the problem in Boston,” in part
because media “framed the area’s opposition
. as a product of protecting neighborhood
traditions.” The lack of context, combined
with the media’s fixation on the use of local
or federal force to maintain peace, made
governmental resort to “force seem like the
first action in the ‘busing’ dispute, more
immediate than the federal, state, and local
policies that shaped residential and school
segregation.” As a result, the “visibility of the
Boston ‘busing crisis’ made the city a cau-
tionary tale for other cities that implemented
court-ordered or voluntary ‘busing’ plans for
school desegregation after 1974.163
In view of President Nixon’s criticism
of busing in the context of de facto school
segregation, media framing that provided
an incomplete and slanted treatment of the
issue, and given the strong public sentiment
against busing as a means of achieving de-
segregated schools, it is likely that, had the
Court not altered its approach in this area of
constitutional law, public approval of Brown
would have been decidedly lower than the 88
percent rating the decision received in 1994,
Much to the delight of the critics of busing—
and to the benefit of Browns reputation in
American political culture—the four Nixon

JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY

appointees to the Supreme Court helped
bring desegregation jurisprudence into line
with public opinion.

In 1974, Chief Justice Warren Burger
and his colleagues Harry A. Blackmun,
Lewis F Powell, and William H. Rehn-
quist joined the Eisenhower appointee, Potter
Stewart, to form a bare majority in the case
Milliken v. Bradley, the last major desegre-
gation decision of the Nixon administration,
and the first case in which the Court did not
accept a remedy that the NAACP sought.'®*
Milliken involved the Detroit school system
(then fifth largest in the nation), which had
experienced a recent, significant growth in
the proportion of African American students
due to the exodus of Whites to the suburbs.
The federal district court determined that the
desegregation of a school district that was
over 80 percent Black required the busing of
students between Detroit and some of the sur-
rounding suburban districts. Even though the
lower court found that the Detroit school dis-
trict had engaged in segregative practices, the
Nixon administration’s amicus curiae brief to
the Court argued that any remedy should be
confined to the city of Detroit.'% Writing for
the majority, and in conformity with the ad-
ministration’s position, Chief Justice Burger
stated that suburban districts that had not
caused or contributed to the violation could
not be made part of the remedy without a
“drastic expansion of the constitutional right
itself, an expansion without support in either
constitutional principle or precedent.”!

In his dissent, Justice Thurgood Mar-
shall (who had argued on behalf of the
petitioners in Brown as a lawyer for the
NAACP) lamented: “[By] allowing [White]
flight to the suburbs to succeed, the Court
today allows the State to profit from its
own wrong and to perpetuate for years to
come the separation of the races it achieved
in the past by purposeful state action.” He
added: “Today’s holding, 1 fear, is more a
reflection of a perceived public mood that
we have gone far enough in enforcing the
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Constitution’s guarantee of equal justice than
it is the product of neutral principles of
law.”!¢7 In support of his reading of public
opinion, Marshall might have made reference
to a 1972 NORC poll, which revealed that 87
percent of respondents expressed opposition
to inter-district busing. It is also worth noting
that 85 percent or more of respondents held
that same opinion from 1974 to the end of
the Ford presidency in 1977.!68

As Kevin McMahon notes, “within the
boundaries of Milliken, court-ordered busing
would continue.”'® Yet while the Court al-
lowed for inter-district busing if a constitu-
tional violation within one district produces
a significant segregative effect in another dis-
trict, Gary Orfield observes that only “[i]n a
handful of cases outside the South” did “fed-
eral courts [find] grounds to mandate city-
suburban desegregation” after Milliken.'’® In
short, the Supreme Court essentially declined
to allow Brown's desegregation potential to
expand to include regions of the country that
were beyond the focus of the civil rights
movement in the mid-1960s. The deseg-
regation decision thus remained linked in
the nation’s collective conscience with the
struggle to overcome the undisguised forms
of White supremacy that were defended in the
spectacularly violent manner of Bull Connor
and Sheriff Jim Clark, this in spite of the
fact that northern de facto segregation was no
less morally problematic (although less obvi-
ously so) than southern de jure segregation.
Ironically, then, the fulfillment of Charles
Black’s prediction regarding the eventual ac-
ceptance of Brown 5 legitimacy (although by
a process that was more complicated than he
anticipated) also marked the point at which
the Court declared the ruling’s irrelevance to
minority children who lived outside of the
South.

Conclusion

With regard to Brown s regional orien-
tation, it should be emphasized that deseg-
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regation efforts in the South showed consid-
erable promise following the passage of the
Civil Rights Act of 1964. “Under President
Johnson,” Gary Orfield avers, “the federal
government vigorously enforced desegrega-
tion. Federal rules and sanctions took hold
in 1965, backed by cutoffs of federal aid
to school districts and extensive litigation
by Justice Department civil rights lawyers.”
The Supreme Court’s desegregation rulings
provided Justice Department lawyers and
litigants secking integrated classrooms with
legal ammunition:

[I]t was a simple matter to file mo-
tions or issue regulations to have a
plan updated to the newer standards
required by Green and Swann. After
Swann, more than a hundred dis-
tricts rapidly implemented new de-
segregation plans, imposing a move
to districtwide orders for immediate
and total desegregation of students,
faculties, and transportation.'”!

As a consequence of the combined ef-
forts of legislative, executive, and judicial
officials, “[b]y 1970, the schools in the South,
which had been almost totally segregated in
the early 1960s, were far more desegregated
than those in any other region.” Thus, “[c]ivil
rights advocates crushed by the Milliken
defeat could at least celebrate the fact that
millions of African American and Latino
schoolchildren were enrolled in Southern
school districts where desegregation was fea-
sible and an increasingly accepted part of
community life.”'”

This regional progress toward school
desegregation would be short-lived, how-
ever. Orfield contends that the move toward
political and judicial conservatism in the
1980s eventually “turned the nation from
the dream of Brown toward accepting a
return to segregation” in the South. “[N]ew
resegregation policies [were] spelled out”
in the Supreme Court’s key desegregation
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rulings of the early 1990s, decisions that
“largely displace[d] the goal of rooting out
the lingering damage of racial segregation
and discrimination with the twin goals of
minimizing judicial involvement in education
and restoring power to local and state govern-
ments, whatever the consequences.”!”® After
these rulings, Orfield maintains, “the road
to segregation seemed to be wide open.”!’*
And, in relatively short order, the “resegre-
gation in the South” began “to challenge the
high segregation levels of parts of the urban
North.”!7

Notwithstanding the Supreme Court’s
conspicuous retreat from an understanding
that the Brown decision implied something
more than the prohibition of only the most
overt manifestations of White supremacy,
Orfield and Susan Eaton note that “con-
servatives and liberals alike still treat the
1954 ruling as a source of pride.”!’® In
this way, Brown now appears to serve the
same function in American political cul-
ture that Martin Luther King came to play
when, following his assassination, national
news magazines reframed his image. To
borrow Richard Lentz’s words: “Shorn of [his
economic] radicalism,” “the centrists could
once more honor King as a prophet. By
so doing, they could honor America and
themselves for what they had done, and for
what they thought they had done, to liberate
their Black countrymen.”!”’ Similarly, the 88
percent of Americans who indicated their
approval of Brown four decades after the
Court rendered the decision—and after a
later Court had effectively negated the rul-
ing’s reformist potential—revealed that the
decision functions as a particularly powerful
element of our mythology of racial progress.
Yet, with this country having reached another
inflection point in its long, troubled history of
race relations, it is comforting to reflect on an
important lesson of this account of Brown's
ascent to iconic status: that, with leadership
compelled to respond to those who insisted
that the nation live up to its promise of racial
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equality, Americans demonstrated a capacity
to support Supreme Court rulings and polit-
ical actions that secured meaningful (albeit,
incomplete) progress toward the fulfillment
of that goal.
Author’s Note:

The author would like to thank the University
of Tulsa for a sabbatical leave that facilitated
the completion of this article.
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Trop v. Dulles: How Earl Warren’s
Contradicting Legal Opinions Secured

Trop’s Victory

Introduction

On March 31, 1958, the Supreme Court
held in 7rop v. Dulles that the Eighth Amend-
ment’s prohibition on ‘“cruel and unusual
punishment” barred Congress from denatu-
ralizing citizens as a punishment.! It was
an important result, albeit one announced by
a highly regarded chief justice, Earl War-
ren, who in this instance could marshal the
support of only three other members of the
Court. The result was important, and the
principles for which Trop stands are worthy
of our respect. But there is so much more to
the story, of a chief justice’s struggle to reach
the result he wished and what that process
tells us about the Court and the manner in
which it functions.

Albert Trop, the plaintiff in the case,
was denaturalized a result of his court-
martial conviction for desertion
time of war.? The Court, in an opinion by
Chief Justice Earl Warren, held that his

in the
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punishment violated the Eighth Amendment
and restored Trop’s lost citizenship.® Today,
Trop is known for its contribution to the
Eighth-Amendment jurisprudence, with a
particular focus on the plurality’s statement
that the “amendment must draw its meaning
from the evolving standards of decency that
mark the progress of a maturing society.”
However, at the time 7rop and its companion
cases, Perez v. Brownell® and Nishikawa v.
Dulles,® were argued, Trop was considered
among the most important and controversial
cases of the term,’” not due to the Eighth-
Amendment question, but because the
case represented fundamental questions of
constitutional law, including “Whats the
nature of Congress’ power? What’s the
structure of the Constitution?”

Despite the unexpected nature of the
issue, Warren’s determination to decide the
case in Trop’s favor and his willingness to
change his theoretical views regarding con-
gressional power led the case to be decided
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Albert Trop was court-martialed for escaping from a military stockade, where he had been confined for a
disciplinary infraction while serving as a private in the U.S. Army in Casablanca in 1944. Above are American
soldiers serving in Morocco in 1943, after the Allies had regained control of the region.

on Eighth-Amendment grounds. As the jus-
tices deliberated over the course of almost
a year in Trop’s case, Warren considered at
least four different legal theories, and at times
directly contradicted his own previous draft
opinions, in his attempt to gain five votes for
a judgment to restore Trop’s citizenship.

Case Beginnings

The facts giving rise to the case were
uncontested.’ In 1944, twenty-year-old Trop,
an Army private stationed in Morocco, es-
caped from a military stockade where he was
being held for a previous disciplinary infrac-
tion. He and a companion felt the conditions
of the stockade were “intolerable.”'” Shortly
after escaping, however, they decided to
return the stockade and were found walking

back to the base, ending his “desertion.”!!

At no time did he attempt contact with the
enemy.'? Trop was convicted by a court-
martial for deserting the service during
wartime, received a dishonorable discharge,
and was sentenced to three years hard la-
bor and forfeiture of all allowances.'* Un-
beknownst to him, Trop was also stripped
of his US. citizenship as a result of his
conviction.'* He did not learn of his expatria-
tion until November 1952 when the State De-
partment denied his passport application.'’
Even then, Trop was unsure as to why
he had lost citizenship and wrote to the State
Department in 1954 asking if he had lost his
citizenship, civil liberties, or both, and the
authority under which they were revoked.'®
After finally confirming his lack of citizen-
ship, Trop asked the ACLU to represent him
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in a challenge to his denaturalization in court,
and in February 1955, Osmond Fraenkel,
General Counsel to the ACLU,'” agreed to
litigate Trop’s case.'®

Upon taking the case, Fraenkel and the
ACLU notably did not consider the Eighth
Amendment as a legal basis to restore Trop’s
citizenship, choosing instead to argue that
the statute allowing Trop’s denaturalization
was unconstitutional under the Due Process
Clause or, alternatively, that the statute did
not apply to him.!” The organization planned
to

tak[e] the position that it is
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Osmond Fraenkel, General Counsel to the ACLU, liti-

unconstitutional to deprive a native-
born citizen by statute of his right to
citizenship granted by the Constitu-
tion, except possibly where there is
some voluntary action committed in

gated Trop's case after the soldier found out he was
stripped of his citizenship as a result of his conviction.
Fraenkel’s clients included Harry Bridges, the Scotts-
boro boys and Bertrand Russell, along with numerous
labor leaders, college professors, high school teachers
and students caught up in repeated waves of anti-
Communist sentiment.

connection with adherence to some
other sovereignty, under a statute
narrowly drawn to cover that possi-
bility, and that this statute fail[ed] to
distinguish between desertions per
se and desertions to another army.>’

Two alternate arguments were also con-
sidered: That the statute was unreasonable,
as it provided a penalty to a court-martial
conviction that was unrelated to protecting
the army, and that it was improper to allow
denaturalization to depend upon a court-
martial, as opposed to a civilian trial.*’

The statute at issue in Trop’s case, Sec-
tion 401(g) of the Nationality Act of 1940,
stated, in pertinent part:

(a) From and after the effective
date of this chapter a person who
is a national of the United States

missed or dishonorably discharged
from the service of such military,
air, or naval forces: Provided, that,
notwithstanding loss of nationality
or citizenship under the terms of this
chapter or previous laws by reason
of desertion committed in time of
war, restoration to active duty with
such military, air, or naval forces
in time of war or the reenlistment
or introduction of such a person
in time of war with permission of
competent military, air, or naval au-
thority shall be deemed to have the
immediate effect of restoring such
nationality or citizenship heretofore
or hereafter so lost.??

Interestingly, despite Warren’s efforts to

whether by birth or naturalization
should lose his nationality by ... (g)
deserting the military, air, or naval
forces of the United States in time
of war, if and when he is convicted
thereof by court martial and as the
result of such conviction is dis-

employ various legal theories until he found
a position that secured five votes for Trop,
he never drafted opinions on three of the
positions initially discussed by the ACLU:
That the statute did not distinguish between
the two forms of desertion; that the statute,
acting as a penalty itself, did not relate to



334

protecting the army; and that it was improper
to permit the loss of citizenship on a court-
martial. Warren dismissed the statutory claim
in almost every draft opinion (perhaps his
only consistent position®*), and his clerk,
Jon Newman, rejected the argument that the
penalty was not related to protecting the
army in response to an opinion by Justice
William J. Brennan.?* However, Justice Hugo
L. Black, in a concurring opinion, argued
that it was improper to permit the loss of
citizenship by court-martial, a concurrence
Warren did not join.?> Warren’s knowledge
and rejection of these theories, which the
ACLU continually advocated for, displayed
his willingness to go outside the main legal
arguments presented to restore Trop’s citizen-
ship.

Procedural History

In the initial complaint filed on Decem-
ber 29, 1955, Fraenkel argued that the statute
providing for Trop’s loss of citizenship was
unconstitutional as it exceeded Congress’s
power to regulate native-born citizens, an ar-
gument highlighted in an ACLU press release
regarding the complaint.?® Fraenkel empha-
sized that Trop never intended to become
a national of another country or expatriate
himself.?’

In the accompanying brief to the dis-
trict court requesting summary judgment,
Fraenkel asked for a declaratory judgment
regarding Trop’s citizenship status and ar-
gued that congressional power to expatri-
ate is limited to those who surrender their
nationality or make some voluntary act to
acquire and adhere to a new nationality. In the
alternative, Fraenkel argued that the statute
should be construed as requiring desertion
to the enemy, and therefore inapplicable to
Trop.?8

Press coverage of the suit, encouraged by
the ACLU, was so widespread that a prisoner
in Attica State Prison, William Burke, wrote
to Patrick Murphy Malin, the Director the
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ACLU, to express interest in the case, as
he, too, had lost citizenship as a result of a
wartime desertion under the statute and, as
a result, was frequently under a deportation
order from the U.S. Immigration Service.*’

The case was argued in United States
District Court for the Eastern District of New
York in May 1956. Fraenkel reflected that the
chief judge, Robert Alexander Inch, was “un-
expectedly favorable.”** However, the district
court granted the government’s motion for
summary judgment and denied Trop’s motion
for summary judgment without explanation,
simply stating that there was no genuine issue
of material fact and Trop was not entitled
to judgment as a matter of law.>! After the
announcement of the district court’s deci-
sion, Fraenkel wrote to Trop again informing
him of Chief Judge Inch’s decision and of
Fraenkel’s intent to appeal the decision.??

On appeal to the Second Circuit,
Fraenkel made many of the same arguments
he made at the district court level, with a
small addition.®® At the end of his brief,
Fraenkel included a citation to a comment
published in the Yale Law Journal, which
contended that expatriation constitutes cruel
and unusual punishment. However, the brief
stopped short of actually mentioning the
Eighth Amendment, simply noting that the
comment provided more information regard-
ing the impact of denationalization.** This
appeared to be the first time that the Eighth-
Amendment argument was even hinted at in
relation to Trop’s case. Following the oral
argument at the Second Circuit, Fraenkel
wrote to Alan Reitman, the director of pub-
lic relations for the ACLU, that his panel
of appellate judges—consisting of Charles
Edward Clark, Learned Hand, and Thomas
Swan—was “very much interested.”3>

However, the Second Circuit affirmed
the district court’s ruling against Trop in
an opinion written by the renowned Judge
Hand, who had been on the bench since
1909 and now had senior status.*® Notably,
Hand’s opinion explicitly refused to address
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an Eighth-Amendment claim, writing “[the
court has] not considered, and [does] not
consider, whether under the circumstances at
bar ‘expatriation’ was, or was not, a ‘cruel
and unusual’ punishment under the Eighth
Amendment” because Trop did not make
this argument in his complaint, motion for
summary judgment, or at argument, and it
was not discussed by the district court. Hand
did acknowledge that there may have been
a vague reference to the issue in Trop’s
brief but concluded that portion of the brief
appeared to support the more “general ar-
gument that all involuntary expatriation is
a denial of ‘Due Process of Law.”” Hand
rejected Trop’s statutory and constitutional
arguments, holding that the statute applied to
Trop despite the fact that the soldier had not
deserted to the enemy and that the statute was
within Congress’s power to enact.’’

In a dissenting opinion, Clark stated that
he would have addressed the constitutionality
of the statute under the Eighth Amendment,
writing, “punitive expatriation of person with
no other nationality constitutes cruel and
unusual punishment and is invalid as such.”®
From a procedural standpoint, Judge Clark
believed the Eighth-Amendment claim was
preserved by Fraenkels reference to the
comment in the Yale Law Journal and did
not think Fraenkel’s “refreshingly brief state-
ment” needed anything else to support the
claim.*

The Second Circuit’s decision was crit-
ical because it at once reaffirmed congres-
sional power as the main issue in the case,
and yet also provided necessary momentum
for the Eighth-Amendment argument, even
though Hand’s opinion showed the unlike-
lihood of a successful Eighth-Amendment
argument. Further, the lack of pleading and
the brevity of the argument in the briefing
may indicate that Fraenkel himself did not
believe the Fighth Amendment had much
merit. However, Clark’s dissent, which gave
the Eighth-Amendment argument momen-
tum, provided Warren and Fraenkel with the
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opportunity to utilize the Eighth-Amendment
as an alternative path to victory for Trop. The
dissent normalized the argument such that
almost every justice on the Supreme Court
was forced to address the issue at some point
during deliberations, even if they did not
believe the argument was viable.

Supreme Court Briefing and Oral
Argument, 1956 Term

In his petition for a writ of certiorari in
Trop’s case, Fraenkel presented the question
for review as, “[m]ay Congress deprive a
native born citizen of his nationality solely
because he has been convicted of the techni-
cal offense of desertion in war time by court
martial and, for that reason, dishonorably
discharged from the armed forces, absent any
contact with the enemy or with any foreign
state or intent to make such contact, with the
result that loss of American nationality would
result in statelessness?”

The question presented was similar to
the question presented in two other cases
already on appeal to the Supreme Court,
Perez v. Brownell and Nishikawa v. Dulles,
both of which were litigated by the ACLU.*
In Perez, Charles A. Horsky, an influential
attorney who argued in the Supreme Court
against Japanese internment in Korematsu
v. United States,*' argued that expatriating
Perez for draft dodging and voting in a
foreign election was unconstitutional.*? In
Nishikawa, an individual of dual nationality
challenged his loss of U.S. citizenship as
a result of his conscription in the Japanese
army.** All three cases, collectively known
as the denationalization cases, challenged
subsections of Section 400 of the 1940 Na-
tionality Act.**

A cert memo for Douglas emphasized
the relationship between Trop, Perez, and
Nishikawa, noting the U.S. Solicitor General
believed that the Court’s decision in Perez
would have “great bearing” on the Court’s
decision in 7rop and could possibly control
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Judge Learned Hand of the Second Circuit Court of
Appeals affirmed the district court's decision, explicitly
stating that the loss of citizenship did not amount
to cruel and unusual punishment under the Eighth
Amendment.

the outcome.*® This memo further summa-
rized the Second Circuit’s decision in 7rop,
noting specifically the majority opinion’s re-
fusal to recognize Trop’s Eighth-Amendment
argument because it was not properly pled.*®

In Fraenkel’s Supreme Court merits
brief, he continued to focus on the lack of
congressional power to denaturalize Trop.*’
However, likely following prompting from
Judge Clark’s dissenting opinion, Fraenkel
highlighted the Eighth-Amendment argu-
ment at the end of the brief.*® Fraenkel,
like Chief Justice Warren’s eventual plurality
opinion, also took steps to distinguish Perez
and Nishikawa. However, Fraenkel took a
different approach from Warren, who found
a distinction between a penalty and a regula-
tion, and argued that, as compared with Perez,
the statute that resulted in the loss of citi-
zenship in Trop applied to domestic as well
as international acts (as exemplified by the
letter from William Burke who was convicted
by court-martial of desertion domestically*’)
and, further, did not involve an aspect of dual
citizenship, as it did in Nishikawa.>®

Trop was first argued on May 2, 1957. In
his opening argument, Fraenkel emphasized
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the limits on congressional power, arguing
that “Congress has no power to destroy
the nationality of a native-born American”
without a voluntary abrogation of citizen-
ship. He further stated that Congress did
not have the power to expatriate citizens
under its implied powers of sovereignty and
was limited in Trop’s case by the Eighth
Amendment and the Due Process Clause of
the Fifth Amendment.>! He received very
few questions from the justices.

In contrast to Fraenkel’s oral argument,
the justices actively questioned the govern-
ment’s lawyer, Oscar Davis, on the practical
implications of denaturalization, wondering
about the possibility that Trop, and others
similarly situated, could be deported or have
their citizenship restored by a presidential
pardon. While Warren doubted that the pres-
ident would be able to do so, Justice Felix
Frankfurter appeared to try to aid Davis in
this line of questioning, suggesting that a
presidential pardon is more about retroactiv-
ity than restoration. Justice Brennan briefly
expressed an interest in congressional power,
wondering whether Congress could deprive
an individual of citizenship for a civil or
criminal crime unrelated to the military.>

Fraenkel again wrote to Trop, who was
by then located in Newfoundland despite his
lack of passport, with an update regarding
the argument.>® While Fraenkel conveyed his
impression that the arguments went “quite
well” in all three denaturalization cases,
he also noted that “Frankfurter indicated
his usual hesitancy about declaring any
act of Congress unconstitutional.” However,
Fraenkel further mentioned that the “gov-
ernment’s attorney was also questioned by
several of the justices concerning the extent
to which Congress could go.”* Based on
the argument and the lack of past expression
about the power of Congress to expatriate a
citizen, Fraenkel made no predication on the
outcome of the case, but confirmed a “good
chance of winning” remained.>
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Deliberations

The Court met for conference on the
day following the oral argument.’® Warren
indicated he would reverse all three national-
ization cases; he believed citizenship should
only be taken away for a voluntary act of
renunciation.’’ Warren argued that Congress
did not have the power to punish by taking
away citizenship, considered the idea that
denaturalization was cruel and unusual pun-
ishment, and worried about a slippery slope
if the Court deprived Trop of his citizenship
in this case.’® Warren believed that a deserter
could not be made a stateless person and
emphasized that Trop left the base for just
one day and turned himself in.>® Justice
Black contended that there was no constitu-
tional power to strip what the Constitution
gives to someone and the granted power of
sovereignty was not enough to strip a person
of his nationality.®®

Frankfurter argued that if a state can kill
a man, it can deprive him of his nationality.
He emphasized his belief that Congress was
entitled to its own idea about which acts
sufficiently denounce citizenship. The justice
continued that it was a proper function of
Congress to ask, “what is nationality?” He
further noted that the Due Process Clause
was the only check on Congress’s power
within the realm of nationality and concluded
by again emphasizing that Congress can
determine which acts repudiate citizenship.
Frankfurter wanted to affirm both Trop and
Perez in order to uphold Congress’s power to
expatriate, yet wished to remand Nishikawa
on a burden of proof issue.®!

Douglas indicated that he would reverse
all three denaturalization cases, as noted both
in his conference notes and in Justice Harold
H. Burton’s. Burton agreed with Frankfurter
that the nation should be the primary con-
sideration and Congress had the power to
denaturalize a citizen for certain actions,
whether an individual voluntarily renounced
citizenship or not. Burton voted to affirm all
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three denaturalization cases. Justice Tom C.
Clark agreed generally with Burton but, like
Frankfurter, wanted to remand Nishikawa to
apply a proper burden of proof standard.
Justice John Marshall Harlan noted his belief
that expatriation constituted pure punishment
in Trop’s case and that he would reverse the
decision on that ground but wanted to affirm
Perez and Nishikawa.®?

Justice Brennan noted that Congress had
the power to provide for loss of nationality.
He agreed with Frankfurter that the cases
turned on the Due Process Clause for each
of the nationality cases but believed the
facts of each case called for different results.
Brennan expressed his belief that desertion
in time of war may not have been enough
to denationalize a citizen and the statute
had potentially gone too far. However, he
thought voting in a foreign election might
have suggested a transfer of allegiance. Ul-
timately, Burton’s conference notes show
Brennan voted to reverse all three cases.
Justice Charles Whittaker noted his belief
that Congress could expatriate a citizen if
that individual has indicated a denunciation
of allegiance and showed hesitancy to strike
down an act of Congress and voted to affirm
all three cases.®

On June 3, 1957, Warren circulated his
first opinion in 7rop with a presumed major-
ity, including Brennan, Black, Douglas, and
Harlan, along with draft majority opinions
for Perez and Nishikawa.%* Both the Perez
and Trop drafts held that “Congress has no
power to prescribe loss of citizenship as the
consequence of conduct inconsistent with
fundamental obligations of citizenship. The
Fourteenth Amendment leaves no authority
in Congress to decide who among United
States citizens are deserving of continued
citizenship.”® In the Trop draft, Warren con-
tinued, “furthermore, it seems clear that there
is no rational relation between the operative
effect of this statute as applied to a deserter
who does not go over to the enemy and the
congressional power to regulate citizenship
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in the interest of preventing the acquisition
or retention of dual nationality.”®® The draft
explicitly indicated that the principles applied
in the Perez opinion apply in Trop as well.®’
This draft was Warren’s first approach to
reversing the Second Circuit decision in
Trop’s case and closely reflected arguments
originally raised by Fraenkel.®®

Significantly, this draft did not even
reach the Eighth-Amendment issue as the
chief justice found that the statute at issue in
Trop’s case was not penal. Warren wrote, “we
accept the contention that Congress intended
only to exercise whatever power it possesses
independently to prescribe conditions for
the loss of citizenship.” Warren included a
number of reasons to support the finding
that Section 401(g) was a regulation and
not a penalty, including the phraseology and
the subsection placement within the whole
statute. He acknowledged “the Cabinet Com-
mittee which proposed the [Act] referred
to the Act of 1865 punishing deserters by
forfeiture of their rights of citizenship as a
precedent for § 401(g)” but rebutted this ar-
gument by noting the committee’s statement
that the statute was “technically ... not a
penal law.”¢’

The language Warren employed here
stands in stark contrast to his ultimate opinion
in the case. In this first draft, he specifically
relied on the Cabinet Committee’s statement
that Section 401(g) was not penal to argue
that the statute was a regulation and not
a penalty.”’ However, in the final opinion,
Warren responded to this same argument
(that the committee clarified that the statute
was not a penalty) by apparently mocking his
first draft’s rebuttal. In the published opinion,
Warren wrote, “how simple would be the
tasks of constitutional adjudication and of
law generally if specific problems could be
solved by inspection of the labels posted on
them!””! The final opinion then found the
statute to be penal, providing the opportunity
for an Eighth-Amendment violation.”” This
complete change in positioning indicates

JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY

Warren’s acquiescence to changing principles
to meet his desired outcome.

On June 7, 1957, after reading War-
ren’s draft opinions, Frankfurter wrote to
the conference that he was unable to agree
with the opinion in Perez and, given the
“far-reaching issues” at stake, asked to put
the matters over, including the “subsidiary
issues” of Trop and Nishikawa, to the next
term.”> The draft opinion further received
poor reception from Burton’s clerk, Roger
C. Cramton, who labeled the constitutional
theory underlying Warren’s opinions in Trop
and Perez as “not only unclear but illogical”
and faulted the chief justice’s Trop draft
for failing to consider the statute a penalty
and therefore failing to reach the Eighth-
Amendment issue. Cramton further accused
Warren of line drawing based upon emotional
appeal as opposed to “rational distinction.”’*
On June 24, 1957, the case was scheduled for

reargument in the next term.”

Briefing and Oral Argument, 1957 Term

Before the second oral argument, both
sides filed supplemental briefing. In a brief
significantly shorter than the government’s
supplemental brief, Fraenkel focused solely
on statutory interpretation, introducing a new
construction of the statute that would allow
the Court to find for Trop and avoid the con-
76 In contrast, the govern-
ment’s joint brief filed for both Perez and Trop
concentrated on congressional power. The
government argued forcefully that Congress
had the power to enact Section 401(g)
through both inherent and express powers, in-
cluding the power to wage war, raise armies,

and regulate the government of the armed
77

stitutional question.

forces.

In the early stages of litigation and in
the supplemental brief, the ACLU argued that
Trop’s citizenship could be restored if the
Court found that the statute did not apply
to him.”® However, at the second round of
oral argument, on October 29, 1957, this



TROP V. DULLES AND LOSS OF CITIZENSHIP

position was largely dismissed. There was
little interest from either Fraenkel or the
Jjustices that the case should be decided on
statutory grounds, with Frankfurter quipping
“you’re not [giving] me any encouragement
to avoid [the] constitutional decision, thank
you very much.”” Indeed, even Warren, who
was willing to reverse his own legal theories
to issue a judgment in Trop’s favor, never
made the argument that the statute could be
construed as inapplicable to the soldier.®
Fraenkel spent the majority of his time
focusing on Congress’s power to expatriate
and concluded by presenting the Court with
multiple avenues by which it could find for
Trop, stating, “whether you call it lack of
power, lack of due process, or an attempt to
inflict a cruel and unusual punishment ... it
all adds up to the same single result that [citi-
zenship] is not something for which Congress
can take away nationality of an American-
born.”8! Warren ultimately considered, if not
drafted full opinions, on all three of these
grounds in order to gain judgment for Trop.*?
Notably, during the government’s oral
argument, delivered by the Solicitor General,
J. Lee Rankin,®® Warren’s questions focused
largely on the facts of the case.’ As in the
first oral argument, this may have shown his
inclination to develop facts that sustained his
motivation to find for Trop and could be
utilized for an Eighth-Amendment argument.
On October 29, 1957, the justices met for
their second conference regarding the denat-
uralization cases. At this conference, Warren,
Black, and Douglas voted to reverse Trop and
restore Trop’s citizenship, while Frankfurter,
Burton, Harlan, Whittaker, and Clark voted
to affirm 7rop, upholding his loss of citizen-
ship. Brennan was undecided despite noting
that the cases were now “clearer.” Harlan
commented that it would be difficult to be
affirm any of the denaturalization cases and
reverse in another, that there was “no help”
for these cases in the Fourteenth Amendment,
and that it was a bad time to limit Congress’s
power. At this second conference, Warren
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lost his initial majority and Frankfurter was
given the assignment to write the majority
opinions in both Perez and Trop, affirming
the lower court opinions and upholding their
denaturalization.®®

On the same day, Frankfurter wrote
to Harlan regarding his colleague’s com-
ment that the denaturalization cases were
“tough.”® In the letter, Frankfurter urged
Harlan that any doubt he felt regarding
the cases must be resolved in favor of
constitutionality.” While Harlan originally
remained equivocal regarding Trop’s case,®
he was ultimately persuaded by Frankfurter
and joined Frankfurter’s eventual dissenting
opinion in Trop.%

Shortly following the second oral argu-
ment, the case gained national press atten-
tion. Anthony Lewis, the Supreme Court re-
porter for The New York Times, published an
article on the denaturalization cases, which
focused on the sources of congressional
power to expatriate citizens, and highlighted
Perez as the leading case.”® Like many of
the previous documents and briefs regarding
the Trop case, the article did not mention
the Eighth Amendment as a possible route
to victory for Trop, again underlining the
unexpected nature of a judgment based on the
Eighth Amendment.

Deliberations

On November 21, 1957, Frankfurter be-
gan circulating his draft majority opinion
in Trop, which upheld the constitutionality
of the statute and Trop’s denaturalization.”!
Within the month and with only minor sug-
gested changes, the opinion was joined by
Black, Harlan, and Clark.”> While there is
no record of Whittaker’s response to the Trop
opinion, he did quickly join Frankfurter’s
proposed majority opinion in Perez, which
upheld Congress’s power to denaturalize its
citizens, a view in alignment with Whittaker’s
comments at the first conference.”> Given
that Frankfurter viewed Trop as a subsidiary
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question of Perez®* it is likely Whittaker
at least considered joining Frankfurters draft
opinion in Trop as well.

In response to Frankfurter’s majority
opinion, Warren drafted a combined dissent
for both Trop and Perez,”> showing, as in his
original opinion and as others predicted, a
belief that Perez and Trop centered around
the same issue of congressional power to
denaturalize its citizens and would likely
control one another. As compared with the
first proposed draft for Trop, which focused
on the limitations placed on congressional
power by the Fourteenth Amendment, this
draft focused on the argument that the power
to denaturalize a citizen must stem from
the inherent power of sovereignty, which he
believed could not extend to denaturalizing
citizens without a voluntary renouncement
of citizenship.?® The draft further insisted
that the opinion was not meant to deplete
the strength of the Necessary and Proper
Clause,”” perhaps in an effort to address
Harlan’s expressed concerns regarding limit-
ing congressional power and regain Harlan’s
vote to reverse Trop’s case. Despite his vote
at the second conference, as of November
1957, Harlan still displayed some indecision
regarding the case.”®

This draft, which combined Tiop and
Perez, was Warren’s second approach to find-
ing the statute unconstitutional, and there-
fore restoring Trop’s citizenship. However,
this draft, like the initial draft proposed by
Warren, was ultimately be contradicted by
Warren’s final opinion. In a departure from
his original draft, Warren maintained in his
second draft that the Court was not facing
“the relatively easy question of whether de-
nationalization is an appropriate sanction; the
issue here is the fundamental question of
whether this technique is ‘within the scope
of the Constitution” and ‘within the letter and
spirit of the Constitution.”””*” While Warren’s
final opinion in Trop did initially state his
belief that Congress lacked the ability to
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expatriate Trop, the final opinion changed
the constitutional question presented to the
Court. The opinion instead stated, “the con-
stitutional question posed by § 401(g) would
appear to be whether or not denationalization
may be inflected as a punishment, even
assuming that citizenship may be divested
pursuant to some constitutional power.”!%
However, Warren quickly discarded the
second draft opinion. After consulting with
Black, Warren separated his Perez and Trop
opinions, given Black’s prediction that War-
ren may be able to gain a majority to reverse
Trop’s case but that a similar opportunity did
not seem to exist in the Perez case.!?!
regarding the decision to split the opinions,
Black highlighted the potential to discuss
punishment in 7rop but not in Perez.!?
Following this discussion, Warren began
to work with his clerk, Jon Newman, to draft
a new dissent for Trop. In the following
weeks, memos from Newman, drafted as
opinions, showed a development of the chief
justice’s opinion and provided methods by
which the subsection at issue in Trop’s case
could be struck down even if the related sub-
section at issue in Perez’s case was upheld.'®?
The first memo from Newman, offering
a third approach to holding the statute uncon-
stitutional, began in the same vein as Chief
Justice Warren’s original majority opinion
in Trop and, like the first two approaches,
found that the statute was not a penalty.'®
However, under a new theory, the memo
concluded that the statute could not be upheld
as a regulation because the legitimate ends
of the statute, assumed to be carrying out
Congress’s war powers, were not reasonably
related to the means: Trop’s expatriation.'%’
As compared with the first and second ap-
proaches advanced by Warren, this approach
focused not on congressional power to de-
naturalize but instead found a due process
violation, a position similar to the argument
originally advanced by the ACLU' and
discussed by Brennan at first conference and

In notes



TROP V. DULLES AND LOSS OF CITIZENSHIP

341

Earl Warren (center, seated) struggled to win a majority for his opinion in Trop holding that “denationalization as a
punishment is barred by the Eighth Amendment” hecause it inflicts the “total destruction of the individual's status
in organized society.” The decision was 5-4, with Justice William J. Brennan (standing, at left) concurring.

oral argument.'?” However, it does not appear
that Warren ever signed off on this approach,
and there is no record of its circulation to
other members of the Court.

A revised version of Newman’s memo
represented the fourth and final approach
used by Warren to reverse Trop’s case and
distinguish it from Perez. Similar to the
first three, the memo addressed whether the
statute was a penalty or a regulation. How-
ever, this draft completely contradicted every
previous opinion considered by Warren and
concluded that Section 401(g), the subsection
of the statute that applied only in Trop, was
in fact a penalty and not a regulation. After
finding the statute to be a penalty, the memo
was able to address the Eighth-Amendment
issue and strike down the law as constituting
cruel and unusual punishment. The memo
was the basis of the draft opinion that was
ultimately sent to Douglas, Black, and Bren-
nan on February 19 and 20, 1958. Black and
Douglas quickly joined the opinion.'%®

However, Brennan was less than re-
ceptive to the draft. His return comments
criticized Warren’s reliance on the Eighth
Amendment to strike down statute, writing
“why deal with the Eighth Amendment if
the basic premise of [Warren’s draft dissent
in] Perez has merit that the Congress has
no power to strip citizenship?”'? He further
stated that aside from his belief that the
Eighth Amendment should not be the basis
of Warren’s dissent, he also doubted that
expatriation violated the Eighth Amendment,
asking “is not the chamber of horrors which
add up to cruel and unusual punishment [in
this draft] overdrawn? Since most rights are
state-created rights that may or may not,
depending on state law, be forfeited in conse-
quence of expatriation, and since aliens have
the protections of the federal constitutional
guarantees, are the consequences as painful
and inhumane as are suggested?”!!”

Brennan’s issue with taking an Eighth-
Amendment approach is further displayed in
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a memo regarding the Trop case. While it
questioned whether expatriation was effec-
tive as a punishment, it pointed out that the
Court’s use of the Eighth Amendment to
hold the law unconstitutional created even

“

greater issues. Brennan argued that “one
would hesitate, mainly because even though
vengeance might be beyond the power of
Congress to exact, a penalty which seems
to the judge to serve no purpose other than
vengeance might indeed be something else
quite different to the informed legislator.” He
concluded with the warning that just because
a judge thinks the penalty unwise does not
make the penalty unconstitutional.!!!

Brennan distributed his own proposed
dissent in 7rop on February 24, 1958. Sim-
ilar to Warren’s most recent draft opinion,
Brennan found that the statute at issue in
Trop to be separate from Perez, character-
izing it as a penalty and not a regulation.
However, Brennan did not use the penalty as
an invitation to analyze the statute under the
Eighth Amendment. Brennan instead argued
that while Congress did have the power to
impose a penalty against deserters, Congress
could not impose expatriation specifically as
a punishment because it served none of the
purposes of punishment, such as deterrence
and rehabilitation.''?

When Warren received Brennan’s draft,
Newman was quick to criticize Brennan’s
approach. The clerk argued that Justice Bren-
nan’s reasoning was actually holding the
statute unconstitutional under the Necessary
and Proper Clause, as opposed to finding
the statute unconstitutional because, when
employed as a penalty, it violated the Due
Process Clause, as Brennan claimed his draft
did. Ironically, Newman’s criticism of the
distinction in Brennan’s opinion was similar
to Brennan’s memo criticism of Warren’s use
of the Eighth Amendment: that the approach
makes the Court a super-legislator.' '

In response to Brennan’s opinion, New-
man wrote he found “much merit in the
contention that a sanction which serves none
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of the legitimate purposes of punishment
is beyond Congress’s punishing power, even
if the technique chosen is not cruel and
unusual.” However, Newman continued,

it must be candidly recognized that
this approach deeply stirs the sed-
iment beneath what since McCul-
loc[h] v. Maryland ...
exceedingly calm water. ‘Neces-
sary’ in the Constitutional sense has
never meant more than whether a
reasonable legislature might deem
the challenged action advisable ...

Obviously, for this Court to
say that denationalization is not
a ‘necessary’ punishment places
the Court squarely in the role
of the super-legislature, second-
guessing the Congress.

has been

Upon reflection many years later, New-
man would characterize Brennan’s approach
as “the surface anomaly between having
upheld the regulatory measure but [striking]
down the penal measure.”"*

Despite Brennan’s critical comments and
proposed alternate approach to the case,
Warren’s draft opinion remained largely
unchanged.'' Just two days after receiving
Brennan’s proposed dissent in Trop, Warren
circulated his draft dissent to Whittaker.'1®

Although Newman’s comments criti-
cized the legal theory of Brennan’s draft
concurrence, Warren potentially may have
refused to change his draft in response to
Brennan’s criticism for a reason other than
disagreement over legal reasoning.'!” Once
Warren received confirmation that Brennan
would vote to reverse Trop’s case, even if it
were on alternative grounds, Warren instead
may have left his draft opinion unchanged
in order to gain a fifth vote for a judgment
for Trop.''"® As Brennan’s claimed due pro-
cess approach to Trop’s case strongly resem-
bled the legal reasoning in Newman’s first
memo,'" Warren had a clear opportunity
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to integrate Brennan’s criticism into his fi-
nal draft opinion. However, Warren decided
against revising the legal reasoning behind
the final Trop opinion. Employing Brennan’s
approach would have resulted in a statement
that, in Trop’s case, congressional power was
limited by the Due Process Clause, a theory
that the remaining five justices of the Court
appeared unwilling to sign on to. In contrast,
by focusing on the specific facts of Trop’s
case and the specifics of the subsection to
find the statute a penalty and an Eighth-
Amendment violation, Warren was able to
draft an opinion that allowed him to re-
verse Trop’s case without denying Congress’s
power to regulate in this field.'?

Warren may have used this approach
to persuade Whittaker to join his opinion.
Whittaker believed Congress had the power
to denaturalize its citizens,'?! yet had already
displayed an inclination to vote against a
statute employing this congressional power
based on the facts of a specific case and
the specific wording of a statute.'?? In Perez,
Whittaker originally planned to join Frank-
furter’s opinion holding that Congress had
the power to expatriate and could expatri-
ate Perez in his specific case.'*> However,
Whittaker changed his vote to dissent in
the Perez case, not because his theory of
congressional power had evolved, but instead
because he learned of facts in the case that
convinced him that the statute was overbroad
as it applied to Perez.!** Those facts were
included in Warren’s draft dissents in that
case.'®

Whittaker’s willingness to decide cases
that ultimately went against his beliefs re-
garding constitutional power on a factual ba-
sis was candidly acknowledged and criticized
by Frankfurter.'® When Whittaker wrote to
Frankfurter on March 5, 1958 (after receiv-
ing Warren’s draft dissent in 7rop deciding
the case on Eighth-Amendment grounds),
to inform him of his difficulty of deciding
all three denationalization cases, Frankfurter
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was quick to respond that it is “inadmissible
as a matter of constitutional law to invalidate
an act of Congress because the immediate,
particular situation before the Court may
not come within the admittedly reasonable
general purpose of the statute.”'?’

On March 12, 1958, Brennan recircu-
lated his draft as a concurrence, noting
his understanding that there were now four
votes for Warren’s opinion, and despite his
efforts, he could not merge his opinion with
Warren’s.'?® In a memo to Warren, Black,
Douglas, and Whittaker, he wrote that he
could not combine his opinion with War-
ren’s as he did not believe that Congress
was wholly without power to provide for
expatriation of citizens in certain cases and
his approach would make the determination
regarding an Eighth-Amendment violation
unnecessary.' %’

On March 17, 1958, Whittaker officially
signed onto Warren’s opinion in Zrop."3’ On
this same day, a draft dissent in Trop by
Burton was given to Frankfurter, although
it appears to have been uncirculated.'3! The
draft made clear Burton’s view that expatria-
tion did not violate the Eighth Amendment,
as “it placed the offender in a no more cruel
and unusual status than that of many aliens
who are so content with it that they do not
seek naturalization.”'3?

In the days leading up to the announce-
ment of the decision, Frankfurter noted the
conflation of constitutional theories Warren
advocated. Frankfurter wrote to Brennan that
Warren’s approach to denying power from
Congress was not in fact the type of denial
that Black and Douglas, both of whom joined
Warren’s opinion, had in mind, specifically
referencing Warren’s statement in Nishikawa
that “every exercise of governmental power
must find its source in the constitution. The
power to denationalize is not within the
letter or spirit of the powers with which our
Government was endowed.”'*® Frankfurter
commented,
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I wonder if it is the fact that English
is not my mother tongue that I
cannot read the chief’s opinion, no
matter what he says in conversation
about it, as being the kind of denial
of power that Back and Douglas
espouse ... [ think they joined his
opinion in Nishikawa because the
whole atmosphere, if not the very
words, represent their views.'**

These comments likely referenced the
belief that Black and Douglas were focused
on using Section 1, clause 1 of the Fourteenth
Amendment to limit congressional power
in all three denaturalization cases, whereas
Warren apparently believed there was no
congressional power to denationalize citizens
to begin with,'?3

Supreme Court Decision

Ultimately, Chief Justice Warren’s plu-
rality opinion, joined by Black, Douglas, and
Whittaker, took three key steps to find in
Trop’s favor. Warren first stated his belief that
Congress did not have the power to expa-
triate individuals involuntarily. However, he
acknowledged the Court’s opinion in Perez,
which found that Congress could expatriate
individuals even when they did not voluntar-
ily renounce their citizenship. Warren then
distinguished Trop’s case by finding that the
subsection of the statute applicable to Trop
was in fact a punishment and not a regulation,
as was the subsection of the statute at issue
in Perez, a position that directly contradicted
his earlier draft in Trop, which stated that
the subsection at issue in Trop’s case was a
regulation and not a penalty.'3°

By finding the subsection to be a pun-
ishment, Warren was then able to consider
the Eighth-Amendment issue and hold that
expatriation constitutes cruel and unusual
punishment. Reflecting his questions at oral
argument, Warren wrote that while expatria-
tion involved no physical torture, it involved
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the total destruction of the individ-
ual’s status in organized society. It is
a form of punishment more primi-
tive than torture, for it destroys for
the individual the political existence
that was centuries in the develop-
ment ... he would enjoy the limited
rights of an alien ... {and] his rights
of an alien might be subject to
termination at any time by reason of
deportation. In short, the expatriate
has lost the right to have rights.

Warren was then able to hold Section
401(g) unconstitutional and restore Trop’s
citizenship.

Brennan’s final concurring opinion mir-
rored his earlier drafts and also found the sub-
section to be a punishment. He argued that
while Congress had the power to expatriate
citizens, in Trop’s case, expatriation was a
penalty (as opposed to a regulation) not rea-
sonably calculated to achieving Congress’s
legitimate end objective of waging war, given
that expatriation serves none of the purposes
of punishment. He found the statute uncon-
stitutional as exceeding congressional power
and did not reach the Eighth-Amendment
issue.

Black, joined by Douglas, concurred to
add his belief that the power of denatural-
ization should not be placed in the hands
of military authorities, but should instead be
decided by a civilian court.

In his dissenting opinion, Frankfurter,
joined by Clark, Burton, and Harlan, found
that Congress had the power to denatural-
ize Trop under the “war powers,” including
the power to wage war and provide for
a common defense. He continued that the
statute was a regulation that was reasonably
related to executing these powers and denied
that the statue was a punishment, arguing
that even if the statute were construed as a
punishment, it was not in violation of the
Eighth Amendment, as it was not cruel and
unusual.'3’
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Case Reception

While celebrating that Trop’s case ulti-
mately won at the Supreme Court level, the
ACLU also acknowledged that the organiza-
tion lost on its theory of the case. An ACLU
Alumni Article, titled “Loss of Citizenship
Issue Still Complex,” framed all the three
cases as a convoluted win, stating that

While the Union technically ‘won’
two!3® of the three cases it was
backing, analysis of the rulings in-
dicates that a sharply-divided Court
rejected the basic proposition ad-
vanced by the Union. This is that
a voluntary act clearly showing
renunciation of allegiance to the
United States is the only basis on
which the constitutional right of
citizenship can be withdrawn. '3

The significance of the ACLU’s central
constitutional theory loss was emphasized
by Douglas, who The New York Times de-
picted as “bitterly describ[ing] the majority
in Perez [which held that Congress had
the power to expatriate its citizens without
voluntary renunciation] as ‘perhaps the most
important constitutional pronouncement of
this century.””*® Frankfurter, in securing five
votes for his majority opinion in Perez, was
able to set a precedent regarding congres-
sional power: Congress did have the power
to expatriate its citizens, even if a citizen
did not display a voluntary act transferring
allegiance. In contrast, Warren’s plurality
opinion, while ensuring a victory for Trop,
left no precedent regarding Congress’s power
to expatriate citizens.

Warren’s opinion further confused the
press as to the constitutional theory that
emerged from the case, although almost all
articles recognized that the central issue at
stake was whether Congress could denatural-
ize individuals and not whether expatriation
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violated the Eighth Amendment.'*! An arti-
cle in The New York Times summarized that

A sharply divided Supreme Court
upheld today the power of the
Government to deprive native-born
Americans of their citizenship. The
court found constitutional limits on
this power of expatriation. But the
nature of those limits was left uncer-
tain by the diversity of views among
the justices, who wrote twelve sep-
arate opinions in three related expa-
triation cases.'#?

A Washington Post article regarding the
decisions was slightly harsher, concluding
that the “complex division of the Supreme
Court in the nationality cases decided last
Monday leaves must to be desired.” However,
the article ultimately blamed Congress for
providing Warren with the opportunity to
strike down a portion of it, despite the fact
that his view of congressional power lost,
writing “[plerhaps the chief conclusion to
be drawn from these cases is that Congress
ought to take a more careful look at its
carelessly prepared statute of 1940 before
the Court finds it necessary to whittle more
of it away.”'** The author of the article,
Howard L. Dutkin, indicates awareness, at
least among some Supreme Court reporters,
that Warren used, what could be viewed as, a
loophole to secure a victory for Trop.

Some of Fraenkel’s views of the case are
reflected in two of his books, The Rights We
Have and The Supreme Court and Civil
Liberties. These suggest yet again the idea
that the Eighth-Amendment argument was
a surprising choice to employ in order to
restore Trop’s citizenship, even in Fraenkel’s
opinion. In one book, Fraenkel emphasized
that the Eighth Amendment was designed
to prevent physical harm and claimed the
amendment had an “interesting” application
in Trop and even implied some incredulity
that it was used there. In the second, Fraenkel
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writes, the “Eighth Amendment has seldom
been invoked. Electrocution has been held
not to violate it, not even when the first
attempt has failed because of a mechanical
defect. But in the Trop case, decided in
1958, four members of the Court held that
deprivation of nationality constituted cruel
and unusual punishment,”'** highlighting
the juxtaposition between traditional Eighth-
Amendment jurisprudence and its applica-
tion in Trop’s case.

However, Warren’s willingness to use
whichever constitutional theory necessary to
secure Trop’s citizenship was not unappreci-
ated. With his restored citizenship. Trop was
able to obtain a passport and appears to have
to put it to frequent use throughout his life-
time, making at least two trips to Bermuda,
before finally settling in California, where he
lived for the remainder of his life.'*

On April 5, 1958, Albert Trop sent a
thank you note to the ACLU for successfully
litigating his case and wrote that despite the
dissenting opinion, the ACLU had saved him
from “a fate worse than death,” apparently
embracing Warren’s view that expatriation
violated the Eighth Amendment. The letter
did not recognize that this rationale was
not even originally presented by the ACLU,
despite the fact that Trop had copies of the
original complaint. However, Trop continued
to praise the ACLU and recognized that the
victory of his case was greater than himself,
calling it a win for the ACLU and the “7,000
men who had been disenfranchised [and] are
no longer second-class human beings.” In
giving his “eternal gratitude” to the ACLU,
Trop emphasized the meaning of the ACLU’s
work, writing, “one of the greatest contribu-
tions to our complex society is to give hope to
the hopeless. This you have done.”'** Given
that the ACLU initial theories of the case
ultimately lost, and it was instead Warren’s
willingness to propose various contradicting
legal theories that ensured Trop’s victory,
perhaps this thank you note should have also
been passed to the chief justice.
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Justice Felix Frankfurter dissented on the ground that
desertion from the military can be punished by the
death penalty. “Is constitutional dialectic so empty of
reason,” he asked, “that it can be seriously urged that
loss of citizenship is a fate worse than death?"

Author’s Note: I wish to thank Professor
Brad Snyder of Georgetown University Law
Center.
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The Judicial Bookshelf

Introduction: Choosing Chief Justices

The Supreme Court’s 115 justices to date
owe their appointments to 42 presidents, but
the roster of the 17 chief justices reflects the
choices of only 15 of the nation’s 46 chief
executives. Moreover, while most presidents
have regarded filling a vacancy on the Court
as among their most important and poten-
tially far-reaching decisions, naming a chief
justice has often called into play considera-
tion of background and qualifications beyond
those routinely considered when the task is
one of naming an associate justice. Indeed, it
appears that a substantial majority of those
selected for the center chair have presented
credentials of public service at a high level.
Indeed, this is a pattern that began to form at
the beginning of government under the Con-
stitution, even though that charter provides
no guidance at all. Although it spells out
qualifications for president, representative,
and senator, it omits requisites of any kind for
the judiciary—not even that federal judges be
lawyers.

A perceived distinction between an
associate justice and the chief justice
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apparently weighed heavily upon President
George Washington after the Judiciary
Act of 1789 opened the first appointment
opportunities upon its passage on September
24. Filling the bench was a responsibility
he took seriously as he indicated three days
later in a statement to Edmund Randolph,]
the first attorney general: “Impressed with
a conviction that the true administration
of justice is the firmest pillar of good
government, I have considered the first
arrangement of the judicial department as
essential to the happiness of our country
and the stability of its political system.”
In particular, according to Charles Warren,
the selection of a chief justice “was by
far the most important and had given to the
President the greatest concern. Rightly he felt
that the man to head this first Court must be
not only a great lawyer, but a great statesman,
a great executive and a great leader as well.”?
Accordingly, for chief justice, Washington’s
choice was John Jay, a “gentleman” who
in John Marshall’s estimation “[f]Jrom the
commencement of the revolution... has filled
a large space in the public mind,”* and who,
as Washington expressed to Jay himself,
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possessed the “talents, knowledge and
integrity” necessary to head “that department
which must be considered as the keystone of
our political fabric.”

Marshall’s characterization of the first
chief justice as someone who has “filled a
large space in the public mind” may well
align with the framers’ understanding of the
importance of the office in that the Consti-
tution assigns solely to the chief justice the
awesome responsibility of presiding when the
president is on trial. Thus, for Washington,
Marshall, and perhaps others, the chief jus-
tice would be someone who was not only
qualified to be a justice, but someone who
possessed additional credentials sufficient for
chiefjustice. Jay, after all, had been a delegate
to the first Continental Congress, chief justice
of the Supreme Court of Judicature of New
York, president of the second Continental
Congress, minister plenipotentiary to Spain,
secretary of foreign affairs under the Arti-
cles of Confederation, and negotiator of the
Treaty of Paris with Great Britain.

Washington’s view of and expectations
for the office of chief justice anticipated both
stability and influence, objectives, however,
not realized until the tenures of Marshall
(1801-1835) and Roger B. Taney (1836-
1864). This remarkable stretch of 63 years for
two chiefs followed the Court’s initial twelve
years, a period that alone witnessed three
chiefs. Such turnover suggested that what-
ever distinction the office “first enjoyed was
diluted by the attitude of early incumbents
toward it.”®

Yet that doleful assessment hardly de-
rives from preparation in that Jay’s immediate
successors possessed impeccable credentials.
Aside from various state government posi-
tions in South Carolina, John Rutledge had
been a delegate to the Stamp Act Congress
and the Continental Congress, member of
the Federal Constitutional Convention and
the South Carolina convention to ratify the
U.S. Constitution, as well as one of the first
six associate justices of the U.S. Supreme
Court.® In naming Oliver Ellsworth to follow
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Rutledge as chief justice, Washington no
doubt considered his accomplishments as a
delegate to the Continental Congress and
the Federal Constitutional Convention, as a
Jjudge on the Connecticut Superior Court, and
as senator from Connecticut during which
service he helped to shape the Judiciary Act
of 1789.

With President John Adams’ choice of
Marshall and President Andrew Jackson’s
selection of Taney, the expectation of the
chief justice as someone who filled “a large
space in the public mind” seemed to be reaf-
firmed. Marshall’s public accomplishments
by 1801 meant that he was already about
as close to being regarded a “founder” as
one could be without actually being one.
With Taney, aside from positions in Mary-
land state government, his pre-Court resume
included acting secretary of war, attorney
general of the United States, and secretary of
the treasury. Similarly, in Salmon P. Chase,
President Abraham Lincoln chose for chief
justice someone who had been governor of
Ohio, senator from the Buckeye State as well
as secretary of the treasury. Yet, selection
of the next two chief justices marked a
break in the pattern in that neither Morrison
R. Waite nor Melville W. Fuller, named
respectively by Presidents Ulysses Grant and
Grover Cleveland, reached the Court with the
national stature of their predecessors. Indeed,
with respect to Waite, there seemed utter
surprise and, for some, perhaps concern at
his selection. “We have a Chief Justice,”
Justice Stephen Field commented in a letter,
“that would never have been thought of for
the position by any person except President
Grant.... He is gentlemanly...[but how much
of a lawyer remains to be seen.... My ob-
jection to the appointment is that it is an
experiment-whether a man of fair...abilities
can make a fit Chief Justice of the United
States—an experiment which no man has a
right to make with our Court.”’

In his selection of Edward Douglass
White, President William Howard Taft had
not only turned to a former U.S. senator but
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became the first president to elevate a sitting
member of the Court as chief. Still it was
President Warren G. Harding’s nod to Taft
as White’s replacement that, in perhaps a
hint of Marshall’s estimate of Jay, restored
the pre-Lincoln pattern. Aside from being
a judge on the U.S. Court of Appeals and
a former president, Taft had been solicitor
general of the United States, president of the
U.S. Philippine Commission, civil governor
of the Philippine Islands, and secretary of
war.

Preference for a chief justice with ample
national stature then surely accounted for
President Herbert Hoover’s appointment of
Charles Evans Hughes, who had been not
only a former justice, but governor of New
York, Republican candidate for president of
the United States, secretary of state, and
member, Permanent Court of Arbitration at
The Hague. At Hughes’s retirement Franklin
D. Roosevelt’s appointment of Harlan Fiske
Stone not only imitated Taft’s selection of
a sitting justice but ensconced a former
attorney general and law school dean as
chief. In contrast, President Harry Truman’s
designation of Frederick M. Vinson com-
bined federal judicial, legislative, and ex-
ecutive service in that the Kentuckian had
been a member of the U.S. House of Rep-
resentatives, judge on the Court of Appeals
for the District of Columbia, judge on the
Emergency Court of Appeals, director of the
Office of Economic Stabilization, administra-
tor of the Federal Loan Administration, and
director of the Office of War Mobilization
and Reconversion, as well as secretary of the
treasury.

Barely nine months into his presidency,
Dwight Eisenhower’s appointment of Earl
Warren (then governor of California and a
former state attorney general and Republican
candidate for Vice President in 1948) re-
flected a desire to name someone with broad
experience in public affairs. As James Simon
has written, for a person “with no training in
law or the history of the Court,... Eisenhower
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held strong opinions on the qualities he was
looking for in a chief justice.”® In a letter
to his brother Milton, the president indicated
that he sought “a man (a) of known and
recognized integrity, (b) of wide experience
in government, (c) of competence in the law,
(d) of national stature in reputation so as to be
useful to restore the Court to the high position
of prestige it once enjoyed.””

Appointed by presidents Richard M.
Nixon, Ronald Reagan, and George W. Bush,
the three most recent chief justices (Warren
E. Burger, William H. Rehnquist, and John
G. Roberts Jr.) had surprisingly similar back-
grounds. Each had judicial experience (Rehn-
quist was associate justice, while Burger and
Roberts sat on the Court of Appeals for the
District of Columbia Circuit). Each also had
held positions in the executive branch (at
the assistant attorney general level in the
Department of Justice or the White House).
One had an already established reputation as
a leader of the bar of the Supreme Court.
Thus, even if one concludes that the pre-
Court professional experiences of this trio do
not rise to level of filling, in Marshall’s words,
“a large space in the public mind,” the roster
of the 17 chiefs nonetheless indicates that a
minimum of eleven or twelve truly deserve
that distinction.

The Chief Justiceship of William Howard
Taft, 1921-1930

The tenth chief justice and the Court
are the focus of The Chief Justiceship
of William Howard Taft, 1921-1930 by
Jonathan Lurie, emeritus professor of history
and law at Rutgers University.'? Lurie’s book
is the most recent addition to “The Chief
justiceships of the United States Supreme
Court,” a valued undertaking of the Univer-
sity of South Carolina Press under the se-
ries editorship of Herbert Johnson, emeritus
professor of law at the University of South
Carolina. With publication of this volume on
the Taft Court, the series, with the notable
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President Warren Harding posed with William Howard Taft outside the White House in 1921, after announcing the
former president’s appointment to the Supreme Court. Taft, whose chief justiceship is the subject of a new hook
by Jonathan Lurie, emphasized unanimity on the Court and was instrumental in helping pass legislation to reform

the judiciary.

exception of a title on Chief Justice Taney,
now includes entries from the pre-Marshall
Court through Warren Burger’s tenure.'' As a
scholar, Lurie is as comfortable writing about
the Court generally as he is with Taft in that
his books include a coauthored examination
of the Slaughterhouse Cases,'? a volume on
the Chase Court,"* and a monograph on Taft
himself.'* The result of his most recent con-
tribution is a deeply researched, thoughtful,
and accessible addition to judicial literature
generally and particularly to material on Taft.

Aside from a focus on Taft, however,
what should a reader expect from a vol-
ume entitled as this one is? One would not
expect, for instance, a full-scale biography

and period study on the order of Henry F.
Pringle’s The Life and Times of William
Howard Taft that was published in two
volumes in 1939. Alternatively, one might
expect something less sweeping in scope
and more akin to Alpheus Thomas Mason’s
William Howard Taft: Chief Justice, pub-
lished in 1964, with its emphasis on Taft’s
Court years. While hardly slighting Taft’s
various endeavors prior to his arrival at the
Court, Lurie achieves a good combination
by combining attention to Taft as chief jus-
tice with appropriate attention to the eleven
associates with whom he served, alongside
fulsome attention to major judicial decisions
during Taft’s tenure.'”
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Probably every author who has con-
tributed a volume to Johnson’s series has
felt that the chief justiceship assigned to him
(each of the authors to date has indeed been
male) was both significant in the story of the
Court and offered a book-worthy individual
to convey to readers. Yet with this book on the
Taft Court, such a generalization is perhaps
doubly true. As Johnson writes in the series
editor’s Preface, the Taft Court “represents
the first step toward the emergence of the
Supreme Court as we know it today.”!® Yet
as familiar as certain elements or features of
the Taft Court may seem to contemporary
readers, it may be just as important to keep
in mind that in the broad sweep of the Court’s
past, the Taft Court from the perspective of
the early twenty-first century comes close
to being lodged in ancient judicial history.
Current readers of this Journal are, after
all, about as far removed in time from
the Taft Court as the Taft Court was from
the beginnings of Roger B. Taney’s chief
justiceship.

Moreover, among the thirteen completed
chief justiceships since 1800, Taft’s was
among the briefer ones. While Salmon P.
Chase’s tenure was roughly the same as Taft’s,
only Stone and Vinson, of the other eleven
chiefs, sat for shorter periods. Also, while
Taft was appointed in mid-1921 and resigned
in February 1930, Lurie explains that by the
end, “he was so ill that he conducted virtually
no business as chief justice in 1930,”'7 so
Taft’s functional span was actually less than
even the official dates suggest.

Nonetheless, the years of the Taft Court
were filled with events and developments of
major judicial significance, some of which
bore Taft’s direct imprint, as illustrated by his
own appointment to the Court. Although it
was President Warren Harding who named
Taft chief justice, it had been President
Taft’s own actuarial calculations that advan-
tageously positioned himself when at age
53 Taft picked Justice Edward Douglass
White, age 65—and not Justice Charles
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Evans Hughes, age 48—for chief justice
in 1910 upon the death of Chief Justice
Melville Fuller. While some justices have
craved the presidency, with Taft the craving
was decidedly otherwise: he craved the chief
justiceship. Thus, following White’s death
on May 19, Harding fulfilled Taft’s dreams
with a nomination on June 30, whereupon
the Senate, bypassing its Committee on the
Judiciary, confirmed Taft unanimously the
same day.

As a former federal appeals court judge,
solicitor general, and president, Taft reached
the Supreme Court with an acute sense of the
importance of judicial selection. Although
he had twice turned down nomination offers
from President Theodore Roosevelt for a seat
as associate justice, Taft as president made
six nominations to the Court, including his
elevation of Justice White to the center chair,
more than any other single-term president
to date. Aside from Taft, Harding was able
to make three other Supreme Court appoint-
ments (George Sutherland, Pierce Butler,
and Edward Sanford) during his abbreviated
term, and Chief Justice Taft had a hand—
sometimes a major hand—in the selection of
each and was hardly reticent as to appropriate
qualifications for lower court judges too.

In a letter of welcome to Sutherland
soon after his appointment, Taft did not
minimize the importance “of having judges
of learning in the law” on the Court but
observed that “the functions performed by
us are of such a peculiar character that
something in addition is much needed to
round out a man for service.” In particular,
service on the Court required a “sense of
proportion derived from a knowledge of how
Government is carried on, and how higher
politics are conducted....” A justice “must
needs keep abreast of the actual situation in
the country so as to understand all the phases
of important issues which arise, with a view
to the proper application of the Constitution,
which is a political instrument in a way, to
new conditions.”!®
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Furthermore, as Lurie explains, “Taft did
not intend to wait and react to a proposed
nominee. Rather, he sought to ensure that
Harding put forward only nominees who fit
Taft’s criteria.” A member of the Supreme
Court should be committed to “constitutional
government, as understood by the legal clas-
sicists of his time: strong support for prop-
erty rights, proper respect for the Fourteenth
Amendment, and impressive credentials ei-
ther as an attorney or legislator, or previous
experience on the bench. Party affiliation was
secondary....”"®

Taft’s influence was greatly facilitated
by a comfortable relationship with Harding.
In a discussion of Taft’s “well-coordinated
machinations on Butler’s behalf,” Lurie notes
that Taft succeeded because of the president’s
“notorious insecurity when dealing with ju-
dicial appointments. Not a lawyer himself, he
relied to an excessive degree on Taft, who de-
scribed his efforts in vetting possible judicial
appointments ... as ‘a labor of love.””?® Also
helpful was Taft’s relationship with Henry
Daugherty, the attorney general, who also
realized he needed help. Taft had opened the
door soon after Harding’s inauguration when
he wrote to Daugherty that “if you don’t mind
it, my interest in the Federal Judiciary, where
I know something of the situation, makes me
anxious to give you benefit of what I have
learned from considerable experience.... 1
am not butting in, but I am only testifying,
without any personal slant, and only with
a view of helping if I can”™—an offer to
which Daugherty shortly replied “I want
you at all times to feel free to make new
suggestions.”?!

Taft shared his views on appropriate
nominees with others as well. When Harding
was confronted with Justice Mahlon Pitney’s
impending departure, Taft expressed to Elihu
Root his fear that “it would be too bad to have
Harding put on our bench a man who would
side with Brandeis in criminal questions.”??
When Harding seemed to waiver over what
became Sanford’s eventual nomination, Taft
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sounded out Root about Henry Stimson, who
had been Taft’s secretary of war. “There are
a great many reasons why Stimson would
make a good judge”.... “[Tihe only thing I
know against [him] is his good opinion of
[Felix] Frankfurter.” Yet “I suppose it does
not indicate an unsoundness of views as to
the Constitution on Stimson’s part.... I know
you can give me assurance that he is not
in favor of breaking down the Constitution
or making it a mere scrap of paper. On
the other hand, I feel we ought not to have
too many men on the Court who are as
reactionary on the subject of the Constitution
as McReynolds....”?

With respect to Taft’s overall influence
on nominations, Lurie accepts the assessment
of David Danelski in his study?* of the Butler
nomination that while Taft by no means
controlled the nomination process, “it did
mean that if he objected to a particular candi-
date, that candidate had practically no chance
of nomination.”?> However, the convenient
confluence Taft enjoyed came to an end upon
Harding’s death in August 1923 and President
Calvin Coolidge’s dismissal of Daugherty
in early 1924 and was never replicated. As
the author explains, “Coolidge had been a
successful attorney, while [Herbert] Hoover,
a self-made millionaire as a mining engi-
neer, felt no need to rely on Taft, as had
Harding.”?

Taft’s chief justiceship is also remem-
bered because of the emphasis he placed on
unanimity. He despised dissents. The author
reports that during his eight full terms, Taft
authored 249 opinions for the Court but
filed only three written dissents. Moreover,
lengthy dissents, such as some filed by Jus-
tice Louis D. Brandeis, bothered him even
more. They were simply “a form of egotism.
They don’t do any good and only weaken
the prestige of the Court. It is much more
important what the Court thinks than what
any one thinks.”?’ During his tenure, Taft
also suppressed at least 200 dissenting votes
which he had cast earlier in order to stand
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with the majority. Moreover, he “sometimes
would reassign an opinion to a different
justice to gain greater support... or he would
take the insights in a threatened dissent and
somehow incorporate them into a finished
opinion that ultimately received the votes of
the entire court.”?

Other legacies of Taft’s Court tenure
were legislative, foremost of which was what
has come to be known as the Judges’ Bill of
1925, to which Lurie appropriately devotes
the entire fourth chapter. “The truly remark-
able conditions under which the Judges’ Bill
had been prepared, presented, and passed
remain worthy of note. Never before had
several justices been so involved in arts of
the legislative process. ...Taft’s tactics as a
spokesman, lobbyist, and political persuader
were significant and effective, even if they
went to the cusp of appropriate judicial con-
duct. In the end Congress as a whole, as well
as the ABA were content to let the justices
carry the bill. To this day the bill remains
the bedrock for the court’s virtually complete
control over its docket.”?® For Lurie, the law
remains a “unique statute. Authored by the
court, and nurtured by several of its members,
passage... resulted from an intriguing lack
of interest in Congress [during a lame-duck
session], matched by effective presentations
from the justices, especially Van Devanter.”

The Judges’ Bill followed legislation in
1922 initially advocated by Taft in 1921 as he
became the first chief justice to appear before
a congressional committee. At Taft’s urging,
Congress not only increased the number of
fower court judges in the federal system
to relieve overburdened dockets, but gave
the chief justice authority to shift judges
among the circuits to take account of varying
caseloads. Finally, Congress authorized an
annual conference of senior circuit court
judges over which the chief justice would
preside. Today that conference provides a
forum from which the federal judiciary as a
“unified entity” may raise issues of national

concern.’!
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An additional legislative achievement
for which Taft deserves major credit is en-
tirely tangible: the Supreme Court Build-
ing. This addition to Capitol Hill replaced
the Court’s cramped quarters in the Old
Senate Chamber where, as some said, the
arrangement was like living with relatives.
Yet achieving this objective required not
only the support of Congress but convinc-
ing senior colleagues Holmes, Brandeis, and
McReynolds who were well ensconced and
altogether comfortable working from their
residences in Washington. As Lurie explains,
“[b]y 1927 Taft... had not only picked out
a possible site for the proposed building but
had also selected his architect [Cass Gilbert]
and indeed had already instructed him—
albeit on an informal basis—to undertake
preliminary sketches. The fact that no spe-
cific congressional authorization for it had
yet been voted made no difference to the
chief justice.”*? By December 1928, effective
lobbying by Taft led to creation of a con-
gressionally authorized building commission
consisting of Taft (who was chosen chair) and
Van Devanter, four members of Congress,
and the architect of the Capitol. President
Hoover laid the building’s cornerstone on Oc-
tober 13, 1932, after Hughes had succeeded
Taft as chief justice.*>

Most of the ten chapters in Lurie’s book
convey pieces of the rest of the legacy of
Taft’s chief justiceship: his Court’s decisions.
A close look at the Index of Cases reveals that
some twenty-two decisions by the Taft Court
that the author cites and/or examines are still
very much part of the “canon” of American
constitutional law as reflected in casebooks,
treatises, and on academic syllabi. While
the list includes some decisions that were
later overruled, inclusion in Lurie’s analysis
demonstrates their importance at least for the
time and circumstances in which they were
rendered and in other instances their sig-
nificance for decades afterward. Moreover,
with respect to decisions like Olmstead v.
United States®* and Whitney v. California,*
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the cases remain central today because of a
separate opinion that was filed even though in
both instances the decisions themselves have
long since been overruled.

Helpfully, Lurie has used selected cases
not only to address their issues and outcomes
but to provide a window into the workings
of the Taft Court. A good example is Myers
v. United States,*® which commenced after
President Woodrow Wilson in 1916 removed
a postmaster in Portland, Oregon, without
adhering to a statute of 1876 stipulating
that postmasters of certain classes be ap-
pointed and removed by the president with
the advice and consent of the Senate. In the
decision’s broad and generous affirmation of
presidential power, the case represented what
Taft, who assigned the opinion to himself,
“considered to be the most important case of
his judicial tenure. Not without reason did
he refer to it as a ‘monument.””” Indeed,
one scholar has recently labeled his opinion
“epochal.”*® After all, “who better than a for-
mer chief executive could be more familiar
with the unfortunate results of congressional
tampering with the independent power of
executive removal?”*® For Taft, absent any
express provisions in the Constitution on the
president’s power of removal of executive
branch appointees, any congressionally im-
posed restrictions on removal were consti-
tutionally invalid. The power of removal—
like the power of appointment itself—was
incident to the power (and constitutionally
imposed responsibility) to execute the laws.
In finding the act of 1876 invalid, the Court
also doubled back to pass similar judgment
on the Tenure of Office Act of 1867 that
had lain at the center of the impeachment of
President Andrew Johnson,*’

By April 14, 1925, Myers had been
argued, re-argued, and submitted. However,
not until October 25, 1926—more than a
year and a half later—did the case with its
opinions come down. According to Lurie,
at least two colleagues were far less in-
terested than Taft in a speedy disposition.
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After the case was first discussed at Con-
ference, Taft realized that Brandeis, Holmes,
and McReynolds would dissent, producing a
split that he found “both disconcerting and
disagreeable—all the more so as it presaged
a major characteristic of his remaining years
on the bench—more frequent dissents, some
contentious.” Particularly worrisome was
what he knew about Holmes and Brandeis, in
particular the former’s “gift for epigrammatic
phrases” and the latter’s “impressive—and—
exhaustive scholarship.” Thus, the chief jus-
tice realized that “his opinion would have to
be as thorough as he could make it.”**!

“I have heard nothing yet from the dis-
senters in my big case,” Taft wrote to his son
Robert in December. In mid-January 1926,
he wrote to son Horace that “the reason I have
not announced the opinion in that big case of
mine. .. is because Brandeis has been holding
off, and this morning [ get [sic] his dissenting
opinion. I thought mine was pretty long, but
his is 41 pages, with an enormous number
of fine print notes and with citations from
statutes without number.... [I]t may turn out
to be a stronger opinion than I indicated...and
I shall have to take time.” Then in a letter to
Robert he pointed to McReynolds as another
difficulty. He “expects to dissent and he
wishes to have full time to prepare what he
has to say.” Indeed, “McReynolds is always
inconsiderate. There is no reason why he
should not have written his opinion before
[especially] as he knew that Brandeis took the
last recess to prepare his.”#

On October 24, he informed Robert that
he would announce his opinion the following
day, but added it “is made long because the
discussion is a historical one, and in view
of the character of the objections made in
the dissents, I found it necessary to extend
the opinion in answering the arguments that
were advanced by the dissenting Judges. ...
Holmes’ dissent is about five lines long and
hardly seems to indicate that he rises to the
question.”® Taft’s reference to the length of
the Holmes opinion was only slightly under
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the mark in that it totaled 223 words. In
the United States Reports, Brandeis’s dissent
consumed 55 pages, with 87 footnotes, while
Taft’s opinion for the Court surpassed Bran-
deis’s with 71 pages, while the McReynolds
dissent totaled 62 pages. Even at this dis-
tance, it is difficult not to be impressed with
the depth of research and historical analysis
on display in these opinions. Yet even with
so fulsome a display of the record from the
nation’s founding years, a paradox still shines
through. Three justices drew one conclusion
and six another, showing that examination of
the same historical record does not neces-
sarily lead members of a group to the same
conclusion.

According to Lurie, the dissents in this
case in particular truly troubled the chief
Jjustice perhaps even more than usual. About
Brandeis, he wrote to Robert that he “loves
the veto of the group upon effective legisla-
tion or effective administration. He loves the
kicker, and is therefore in sympathy with the
power of the Senate to prevent the Executive
from removing obnoxious persons because
he always sympathizes with the obnoxious
person.” Brandeis and McReynolds, Taft in-
sisted, belonged “to a class of people that
have no loyalty to the court and sacrifice
almost everything to the gratification of their
own publicity and wish to stir up dissatisfac-
tion with the decision of the court, if they
don’t happen to agree with it.” Moreover,
with respect to McReynolds, Taft explained
to his youngest son Charles, the greater the
agitation against the Court “growing out of
any opinion of his, the better he likes it,
because it exalts in a way that tickles [in]
him the spirit of opposition.”* Such rumi-
nations lead the author to conclude that by
1926 Taft had become “unable to distinguish
between loyalty to his court as an institution
and legitimate disagreement concerning legal
interpretation of a statute.”*

One imagines that Taft expected his
position in Mvers to have some staying
power, but such was not to be. Five years
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after his death, a unanimous Court narrowed
Myers significantly in Humphrey’s Execu-
tor v. United States*®; litigation begun after
President Franklin D. Roosevelt dismissed
a member of the Federal Trade Commis-
sion because of policy differences. Congress,
however, had specified that commissioners
could be dismissed only for misfeasance or
malfeasance. Ironically it was Justice George
Sutherland who had silently joined Taft’s
opinion in Myers who now spoke for the
bench in constricting it: “[T]he necessary
reach of the decision goes far enough to
include all purely executive officers. It goes
no farther; much less does it include an
officer who occupies no place in the executive
department, and who exercises no part of the
executive power vested by the Constitution
in the President.”’ Only rarely has so sub-
stantial a ruling on presidential power been
so substantially trimmed so soon.

Very early in the book, Lurie quotes
from a letter Holmes wrote to Harold J.
Laski when the prospects seemed good that
Harding would name Taft chief justice: “I
would rather have Hughes.... Taft is said to
be indolent” and “I never saw anything that
struck me as more than first rate second rate
[sic],” even though he “did well as a Circuit
Judge.”®® The epilogue then, interestingly,
includes a strikingly similar assessment from
Brandeis who said his chief justice possessed
“a first rate-second rate mind.”*’ For Lurie
the Brandeis comment points the way to an
assessment of Taft’s chief justiceship that
overall left the author “with a lingering
sense of admiration, although [one] tempered
by ambivalence.”® Lurie explains that his
ambivalence stems from the fact that Taft, in
contrast to colleagues Holmes and Brandeis,
was not an outstanding jurist, an assess-
ment, Lurie insists, Taft would have accepted.
Moreover, with a handful of exceptions, most
cases in which Taft spoke for the Court have
not “survived the test of ongoing scholarly
interest,”! and of those cases from his Court
which do remain of high interest it is often the
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The President and the Supreme Court, by Paul M. Collins Jr. and Matthew Eshbaugh-Soha, examines the frequency
at which presidents have spoken publicly about the Supreme Court and referenced case law in their speeches.
Above, Stephen Breyer and President Bill Clinton walked to the Rose Garden on May 16, 1994, where the president

officially introduced his appointee to the nation.

dissents which continue to attract the most
attention.

Yet, while accurate, explains Lurie, this
view “does not present a balanced assessment
of Taft. If not a great jurist, he was a truly
outstanding chief justice, and in his case this
distinction is critical.” As chief justice, “Taft
offered a perspective and experience unique
in the Court’s history. Never before (or
since) has a member of the Supreme Court
possessed the administrative background that
Taft brought to the center seat.”> Indeed,
Lurie ranks Taft with John Marshall as a
great chief justice “not because of his ju-
risprudence or many of his specific decisions,
but rather because of his administrative ex-
cellence and intuitive understanding of his
court’s current needs and future aspirations.
All seven chief justices who succeeded him
since 1930 have utilized his administrative
innovations” just as the “numerous visitors

to his court still gaze with awe on what his
determination accomplished.”*

The President and the Supreme Court

While Woodrow Wilson’s second term
ended in 1921, the stricken former president
died two years before Myers came down. Had
timing of that case and/or his illness been
different, one suspects the decision might
have elicited a comment from the twenty-
eighth chief executive, thereby perhaps mer-
iting discussion in The President and the
Supreme Court by Paul M. Collins Jr. and
Matthew Eshbaugh-Soha, who teach political
science at the University of Massachusetts,
Ambherst, and the University of North Texas,
respectively.** In contrast to the breadth sug-
gested by the title, however, their focus is
narrower, and so readers should not confuse
this book with the similarly titled but far
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more comprehensive The Supreme Court
and the Presidency by Robert Scigliano,
published in 1971. Helpfully, their subtitle
points the way: “Going Public on Judicial
Decisions from Washington to Trump.”

Most publicly aware individuals today
would surely agree that modern American
presidents are not only loquacious, but ea-
gerly so. Indeed, the authors note that “going
public” (or speaking out) is one of a presi-
dent’s “most commonly employed strategies
of leadership.” Citing one source, Collins
and Eshbaugh-Soha report that since 1953,
presidents have spoken publicly nearly 310
times per year, with a peak of 449 speeches
during Bill Clinton’s administration.*

As for presidential remarks on Supreme
Court decisions in particular, they explain
that their interest springs from two particular
incidents. The first was President Barack
Obama’s State of the Union Address in 2010
during which, with six justices sitting a few
feet in front of him, he criticized by inference
the Court’s decision in Citizens United v.
Federal Election Commission®® which, on
First Amendment grounds, overruled one
prior decision and part of another that had
allowed regulation of corporate speech in
elections. “With all due deference to separa-
tion of powers, last week the Supreme Court
reversed a century of law that I believe will
open the floodgates for special interests—
including foreign corporations—to spend
without limit in our elections.”’ Obama’s
reprimand reminded some of Ronald Rea-
gan’s even more pointed rebuke concerning
prayer in public schools in his 1983 State
of the Union address where the forty-fourth
president insisted “God never should have
been expelled from America’s classrooms.”®
As with Obama’s comment, Reagan’s im-
mediate audience included members of the
Court. The occasion for the second was a
press conference in April 2012 following oral
arguments in March on the constitutionality
of the Patient Protection and Affordable
Care Act (dubbed Obamacare), the signature
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legislative achievement of the president’s first
term.

I’'m confident that the Supreme
Court will not take what would
be an unprecedented, extraordinary
step of overturning a law that was
passed by a strong majority of
a democratically elected Congress.
And I'd just remind conservative
commentators that for years what
we’ve heard is, the biggest problem
on the bench was judicial activism
or a lack of judicial restraint, that
an unelected group of people would
somehow overturn a duly consti-
tuted and passed law. Well, this is a
good example. And I’'m pretty con-
fident that this Court will recognize
that and not take that step.>’

The Court’s decision in this litigation
came down on June 28,°° upholding the
central part of the legislation.

Among the questions arising from such
instances of “going public” is their frequency,
a matter the authors addressed by compiling a
“first-of-its-kind database on all presidential
mentions of Supreme Court cases”®! begin-
ning with George Washington and extending
through Barack Obama (1789-2017). (The
first two years of the Trump presidency
(2017-2018) are specially addressed in a
concluding chapter.) The authors” use of the
word “mentions” (as a noun) is an impor-
tant limiting device in that they consider
and include only a president’s references to
the Court’s decisions that occur in public
speeches as opposed to private correspon-
dence or other writings. Also apparently
excluded would be a third party’s recollection
that might be found, for example, in a vol-
ume of memoirs, a newspaper article, or an
associate’s kiss-and-tell account. Narrowing
mentions in this way was motivated, the
authors explain, by their “desire to investigate
how presidents use the going public strategy
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in relation to the Supreme Court.” Mentions
in other venues would be ““a different form of
engagement with the Court than using public
rhetoric to discuss judicial decisions.”%?

To facilitate analysis, the authors divide
their database into two parts: historical and
modern. The former includes mentions from
the Washington through the Truman admin-
istrations, with the latter running from the
Eisenhower through the Obama administra-
tions. Together, data from the two sets are
revealing. Among the historical presidents,
“only about half mentioned a Supreme Court
case... with Andrew Jackson being the first
president to do s0.”%* The 124 mentions from
this period ranged from a low of one from a
single president to a high of 53 for Franklin
D. Roosevelt.

Data from the modern era portray a very
different picture. “The 937 Supreme Court
cases mentioned...represents [sic] almost a
650 percent increase over presidents who
governed prior to 1953.... Thus, no matter
how one views the data, attention devoted to
Supreme Court decisions in public speeches
by modern presidents positively dwarfs that
of their predecessors.”®* The authors account
for the sharp contrast by suggesting that in
the historical period “presidents were not as
publicly active...and that the Court had not
yet begun weighing as much into substantive
matters of public policy in the field of civil
rights and liberties, compared with the mod-
ern era.”® One might add another reason:
Modern means of communication such as
radio and television and later the Internet and
social media have made “going public” not
only easier but perhaps more efficacious.

Another question the authors address
concerns timing. That is, a president might
comment on a pending case, as did Obama
in 2012, or refer to a decided case as he
had done in 2010. However, the authors
report that “the vast majority of speeches de-
voted to cases involve discussions of already
decided cases.”® Indeed, the percentages
are nearly identical for both the historical
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and modern periods. However, while “it has
become somewhat more common since the
Carter Administration for presidents to ad-
dress cases prior to a ruling, no president has
made more than 13 appeals.”®’

The authors also address presidential
motivation in going public. A president might
speak out about a yet-to-be-decided case to
shape public attitudes, to send a signal to the
bench as to the kind of decision the president
1s prepared strenuously to implement, or to
nudge one or more justices to a desired
doctrinal or institutional conclusion and thus
the preferred outcome. Presumably, however,
any such cues would have already been sent
through the work of the solicitor general,
in the modern era, at least. As to decided
cases, a president might want to connect a
decision to a reelection campaign, to promote
one’s policy goals or legacy, “to ensure that
the executive branch implements the policies
underlying those decision in a manner con-
sistent with his preferences, or address recent
cases to influence the Court’s decisions in
future cases touching on a similar subject
matter.”

The focus of the book raises normative
concerns as well, that Collins
and Eshbaugh-Soha address in detail as
they highlight the tradition of coordinate
construction alongside the expectation of
judicial independence. Prominent in the
thinking of chief executives such as Thomas
Jefferson, Andrew Jackson, and Abraham
Lincoln, among others, the former maintains
that constitutional interpretation is a shared
responsibility in that all constitutional
officers—not only Supreme Court justices
and other federal judges—have a role to play.
From this perspective, accordingly, going
public on a Supreme Court case falls within
the bounds of presidential propriety. Favor-
able or unfavorable comments on a Supreme
Court decision become part of the mass of
viewpoints bolstering or questioning a par-

issues

ticular ruling. In like fashion, a comment on
a case not yet decided may be an instrument
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by which presidents promote their reading of
a statute or constitutional provision.

In contrast to coordinate construction,
which derives its legitimacy from practice,
the norm of judicial independence in the
American context traces part of its origin to
the ninth grievance (of twenty-seven) which
the Declaration of Independence “submitted
to a candid world. ... He has made Judges
dependent on his Will alone, for the tenure of
their offices, and the amount and payment of
their salaries.” Eleven years later in Philadel-
phia, the Framers had those words in mind
as they drafted section one of the Constitu-
tion’s Article 1. For Collins and Eshbaugh-
Soha, the tendency of modern presidents to
comment on pending cases “clearly” reveals
“a break in tradition from their historical
counterparts” in that when the latter did so,

they usually did so only in general terms.®’

Lighting the Way

Just as President Obama’s remark about
the litigation prospects of the Patient Protec-
tion and Affordable Care Act had a promi-
nent place on page one of The President and
the Supreme Court, the same statute and the
Defense of Marriage Act (DOMA) and legal
action surrounding them mark the beginning
of Lighting the Way by Douglas Rice, who
teaches political science and legal studies at
the Amherst campus of the University of
Massachusetts.”® His study is a compact and
challenging foray into an examination of the
role of the Supreme Court and the rest of the
federal judiciary in influencing public policy,
especially with respect to civil rights. In this
reviewer’s characterization, the book’s central
question seems to be whether the Court in
the modern era /leads or is led? The question
is important because as the author writes
near the end of his book, “The dialogue over
public policy in America occurs not just in
the legislative and executive branches but
also in courtrooms across the country, with
that judicial attention mattering for the future
course of public policy.””'
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However, anyone reading Rice’s book or
even this review essay should be forewarned:
For Rice, the word “attention” is not only
important but central throughout. While this
author has no way of knowing with certainty,
it seems highly probable that with the excep-
tion of the word “court,” conjunctions, and
definite and indefinite articles, “attention”
may well appear more often in the book
than on any other noun—so often in fact
that the reader might have expected to find
“attention” as an entry in the index. (There
is no such entry.) So as one reads through the
book, it may be helpful to remember that Rice
scems to be using this most favored word
possibly and variously to suggest awareness,
consideration, engagement, and/or involve-
ment.

To address his central question about
agenda setting, the author lays out two views
of the policy-making (or shaping) process.
The passive view maintains that the ju-
diciary’s involvement in an issue typically
increases “only after congressional and pres-
idential attention and legislation, perhaps
only if there are controversies during imple-
mentation” as occurred after enactment of
Obamacare.”” In contrast to this perception
stands the proactive view in which judicial
involvement with an issue leads to increased
attention to it by the executive branch and/or
Congress as occurred after a federal district
court invalidated DOMA and the Justice
Department announced it would no longer
defend the statute. That policy in turn en-
gaged in different ways both Democrats
and Republicans in Congress and helped to
highlight an ongoing national debate over
marriage equality.

With the latter situation—perhaps even
better exemplified, as Rice notes, by events
following the Court’s historic decision in
Brown v. Board of Education,” action by
courts both “precedes and encourages issue
attention in other branches” even if that
attention occurs well in the future.” In short,
with the former the judiciary is led, while



JUDICIAL BOOKSHELF

ﬁtaul_‘R. Baier

363

- .v;:‘l:;ﬁ

Paul R. Baier of LSU Law School has published a biography of Frederick Bernays Weiner, one of the leading
members of the Supreme Court Bar in the twentieth century.

with the latter the judiciary can be in a
policy-guiding leadership role. As the author
inquires, do “the courts generally lag other
institutions in addressing policy areas, as the
passive view suggests, or do they instead
spur the attention of other institutions, as the
proactive view suggests?”’

However, for the latter situation, Rice
explains that two conditions that must be
present for the judiciary to energize the
attention of other branches: a viable political
constituency and what he calls the consti-
tutional power condition. For the first, “the

policy at issue must be one with activists
...interested and mobilized in pursuit of po-
litical change.”’® These would be individuals
or groups who will be helped or harmed
by what courts decide. For “interest groups
involved in creating or fighting legislation
before Congress, the courts may offer a
natural follow-up venue for their conflict.”
For interest groups on the losing end of the
legislative battle, the courts offer an opportu-
nity to seek to limit or explicitly override leg-
islation. Correspondingly, groups that have
successfully fought for legislation may try to
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convince judges to broaden it through their
rulings.””’ The second condition refers to a
situation where courts “have constitutionally
based policymaking power within that policy
area.” That is, “ownership of constitutionally
based policymaking power in an area ...
provides courts with an important tool to
force the attention of other institutions onto
an issue.”’®

To test his thinking, Rice constructed
a database of all published federal court
decisions from the period 1950-2000.7° Ini-
tially sorting them into nineteen issue areas,
he then compressed them for convenience
into nine: civil rights, defense, economic
activity, environment, health and science,
labor, law and crime, social welfare, and
transportation.* His research also cataloged
interest group involvement through amici
briefs which were filed. Analysis, in turn, led
him to believe that he has “demonstrated that
the courts produce changes in issue atten-
tion.” This conclusion he finds particularly
significant as a way to “increase attention
to particular issues that are increasingly un-
likely to be heard or decided upon in a
modern Congress widely described as dys-
functional. It is perhaps during these periods
that the courts can bet be used to encourage
other institutions to action....”®" Thus, “for
those with policies left unattended to by
the elected branches of government and the
public at large, the courts are, at least some-
times, a viable outlet for disrupting the status
quo and garnering subsequent attention. The
outcome, of course, of that attention is un-
knowable, but if the status quo is unbearable,
the federal court system as an agenda-setting
institution offers a particularly promising
avenue.”® Interesting as Rice’s claim may
be, it nonetheless leaves the reader wondering
about the long-term effects on a judiciary that
can be prompted to lead as well as to follow.

Written in Water: Frederick Bernays
Wiener

Each of the books thus far examined in
this essay has at least one thing in common
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aside from the Court itself: the work of
attorneys. One states only a basic truth to
observe that the federal judicial system could
not function without them. However, books
about the Court tend, for obvious reasons,
largely to emphasize the justices and their de-
cisions, with members of the Supreme Court
bar and their work typically remaining in the
background. For this reason, publication of
Written in Water by Paul R. Baier, who
teaches law at Louisiana State University, is
a welcome event.33 Beneath the title on the
book’s cover, one learns the subject: “Biog-
raphy of Frederick Bernays Wiener.” On the
title page, the author credits the assistance
of the late Washington attorney Jacob A.
Stein and alerts the reader in the subtitle to
expect something beyond the conventional:
“An Experiment in Legal Biography.” The
title itself comes from a caption, written
in red ink on a legal size envelope that
contained some materials Wiener planned for
an autobiography. The so-labeled envelope
was among Wiener’s legal papers that were
turned over to Baier upon Wiener’s death.

A New Yorker by birth, Wiener (1906—
1996) was educated at Brown University and
Harvard Law School. He became an expert
on military law and, while in the solicitor
general’s office and later as private counsel,
argued numerous cases at the Supreme Court,
including some in constitutional law that have
landmark or near-landmark status. The list
includes Moose Lodge v. Irvis®* that dealt
with racial discrimination by a private club
and Elkins v. United States® that interred the
“silver platter” doctrine.

Even among writing experiments Baier’s
must surely be unusual. It is hardly a typical
biography filled with narrative, context, and
analysis. Rather, it seems best described as
a documentative portrayal in that it consists
of a series of writings by and about Wiener
along with other documents, interspersed
with observations by Baier, that convey vari-
ous events, and stages of Wiener’s life. These
are organized almost as if the resulting whole
were a play. Indeed, on page three one finds
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the “Dramatis Personae” consisting of no
fewer than 52 names—a roster that seems to
include most of the American legal notables
of the twentieth century and a few British
names as well, with Aristotle and Sigmund
Freud added for good measure. Beneath the
names appears this addendum: “—And a host
of other characters to be encountered on
the stage of this off-Broadway Fritz Wiener
Show.”

The documents and the author’s com-
mentary in turn are presented in 41 chapters
that highlight various cases and individuals.
These chapters are followed by an appendix
consisting of “Salient Law Review Articles,
Peppery Book Reviews, and a Learned Letter
to the Editor.”® Combined, these materials
consume a hefty 448 pages. However, a
reader might have appreciated a few extra
pages that could have accommodated what
nearly every book requires: an index. Given
the richness of the materials Baier has packed
into this volume, an index would have been a
valuable tool in mining what it contains.

Some readers of this Journal may al-
ready know that Wiener occupies a spe-
cial place in Supreme Court history. Baier
tells the story in chapter XXV, “Murdering
Wives.” Mrs. Covert and Mrs. Smith were
convicted in courts martial pursuant to a
“status-of-forces” executive agreement with
England for having killed their husbands.
When the case reached the Supreme Court,
Weiner lost.®” He then filed a petition for re-
hearing. “Against all odds, it was granted. For
the first and only time in the Court’s history,
the Supreme Court reversed itself, without
a controlling change in membership, with-
drawing its original opinion and substituting
an opinion®® written by Justice Huge L. Black
that set Fritz’s murdering wives free.”%’ The
vote was 6-2. In Baier’s estimate, “Colonel
Wiener achieved his greatest triumph. He was
Daniel Webster come back to the Bar of the
Supreme Court. Webster saved Dartmouth
College; Fredrick Wiener saved the boundary
of civilians under Military Justice.””"
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This review essay began with a survey
of the credentials of those who have been
chief justice. Wiener knew three of them
(Charles Evans Hughes, Harlan Fiske Stone,
and Earl Warren) professionally. Moreover,
Baier’s Epilogue concludes with an appro-
priate reminder of the continuing impact of
the Second Branch of government upon the
Third: “Presidents come and go, but the
Court endures—reshaped from time to time
by those same Presidents.”"
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